Table of Contents

UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
☒

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
FOR THE FISCAL YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
OR

☐

TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Commission file number: 000-55376

Industrial Property Trust
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its declaration of trust)

Maryland

61-1577639

(State or other jurisdiction of
incorporation or organization)

(I.R.S. Employer
Identification No.)

518 Seventeenth Street, 17th Floor, Denver, CO

80202

(Address of principal executive offices)

(Zip Code)

(303) 228-2200
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: None
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
Common Shares of Beneficial Interest, $0.01 Par Value
(Title of Each Class)

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes ☐ No x
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes ☐ No x
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding
12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90
days. Yes x No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T
(§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit post such files). Yes x No ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company,” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange
Act.
Large accelerated filer

☐

Accelerated filer

☐

Smaller reporting company

☐

Non-accelerated filer
x
Emerging growth company
☐
If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. ☐
Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). ☐

No x

The aggregate market value of common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2019 cannot be calculated because no established market exists for the
registrant’s common stock.
As of February 28, 2020, there were 177,997,481 of the registrant’s common shares of beneficial interest outstanding.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K incorporates certain information by reference to the definitive proxy statement for the registrant’s 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) no later than April 29, 2020; provided, that, if the definitive proxy statement has not been filed by April 29, 2020, then the registrant
will include such information in an amendment to this Annual Report on Form 10-K by that date.

Table of Contents
INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
TABLE OF CONTENTS
PART I
Item 1.

Business

Item 1A.

Risk Factors

1

Item 1B.

Unresolved Staff Comments

26

Item 2.

Properties

27

Item 3.

Legal Proceedings

31

Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures

31

4

PART II
Item 5.

Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

32

Item 6.

Selected Financial Data

38

Item 7.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

40

Item 7A.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

49

Item 8.

Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

50

Item 9.

Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

78

Item 9A.

Controls and Procedures

78

Item 9B.

Other Information

78

PART III
Item 10.

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

79

Item 11.

Executive Compensation

79

Item 12.

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

79

Item 13.

Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

79

Item 14.

Principal Accountant Fees and Services

79

PART IV
Item 15.

Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

80

Item 16.

Summary of Form 10-K

83

i

Table of Contents
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report on Form 10-K includes certain statements that may be deemed forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”).
Such forward-looking statements relate to, without limitation, the Plan of Liquidation (as defined below), rent and occupancy growth, general conditions in
the geographic area where we operate, our financial position, our future capital expenditures, future liquidating distributions (including the amount and
nature thereof), other developments and trends of the real estate industry, business strategies and our operations. Forward-looking statements are generally
identifiable by the use of the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “expect,” “could,” “intend,” “plan,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “believe,” “continue,” “project,”
or the negative of these words or other comparable terminology. These statements are not guarantees of future performance, and involve certain risks,
uncertainties and assumptions that are difficult to predict.
The forward-looking statements included herein are based upon our current expectations, plans, estimates, assumptions, and beliefs that involve numerous
risks and uncertainties. Assumptions relating to the foregoing involve judgments with respect to, among other things, future economic, competitive and
market conditions, and future business decisions, all of which are difficult or impossible to predict accurately and many of which are beyond our control.
Although we believe that the expectations reflected in such forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, our actual results and
performance could differ materially from those set forth in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could have a material adverse effect on our
operations and future prospects include, but are not limited to:
•

A decrease in value of our properties owned by the two joint ventures in which we own minority interests (the “BTC Partnerships”);

•

Our ability to effectuate a transaction involving the disposition of our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships on satisfactory terms or
at all;

•

Greater than expected liquidation costs or liabilities;

•

The failure to achieve the desired tax impact of the transactions contemplated with respect to the Plan of Liquidation and resultant tax treatment
relating to, arising from or incurred in connection with such transactions;

•

The outcome of any legal proceedings that could be instituted against us and others related to the sale of our wholly-owned real properties in January
2020;

•

Our ability, as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, to locate and make investments in accordance with the business strategy of the BTC
Partnerships;

•

The failure of properties owned by the BTC Partnerships to perform as we expect;

•

Risks associated with acquisitions, dispositions and development of properties of the BTC Partnerships;

•

Our failure as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships to successfully integrate acquired properties and operations;

•

Unexpected delays or increased costs associated with any development projects by the BTC Partnerships;

•

The availability of cash flows from operating activities for capital expenditures at the BTC Partnerships;

•

With respect to the BTC Partnerships, defaults on or non-renewal of leases by customers, lease renewals at lower than expected rent, or failure to
lease properties at all or on favorable rents and terms;

•

Difficulties in economic conditions generally and the real estate, debt, and securities markets specifically;

•

Legislative or regulatory changes, including changes to the laws governing the taxation of real estate investment trusts (“REITs”);

•

The failure of the BTC Partnerships to obtain, renew, or extend necessary financing or access the debt or equity markets;

•

Conflicts of interest arising out of our relationships with Industrial Property Advisors Group LLC (the “Sponsor”), IPT Advisor LLC, and their
affiliates;

•

Risks associated with the BTC Partnerships using debt to fund their business activities, including re-financing and interest rate risks;

•

Increases in interest rates, operating costs, or greater than expected capital expenditures;

•

Changes to U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”); and

•

Our ability to continue to qualify as a REIT.

Any of the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements could prove to be inaccurate. Our shareholders are cautioned not to place undue reliance on
any forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. All forwardii
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looking statements are made as of the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and the risk that actual results will differ materially from the expectations
expressed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K will increase with the passage of time. Except as otherwise required by the federal securities laws, we
undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statements after the date of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, whether as a result
of new information, future events, changed circumstances, or any other reason. In light of the significant uncertainties inherent in the forward-looking
statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including, without limitation, the risks described under “Risk Factors,” the inclusion of such
forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by us or any other person that the objectives and plans set forth in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K will be achieved.

iii
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PART I

ITEM 1.

BUSINESS

The Company
Industrial Property Trust was initially formed as a Maryland corporation on August 28, 2012 to make investments in income-producing real estate assets
consisting primarily of high-quality distribution warehouses and other industrial properties that would be leased to creditworthy corporate customers. In
February 2020, following the consummation of the Asset Sale (defined below), Industrial Property Trust converted, as a legal entity, from a Maryland
corporation to a Maryland real estate investment trust within the meaning of Title 8 of the Corporations and Associations Article of the Annotated Code of
Maryland (the “Maryland REIT Law”). As used herein, the terms “Industrial Property Trust,” “IPT,” the “Company,” “we,” “our,” or “us” refer to
Industrial Property Trust and its consolidated subsidiaries, except where otherwise indicated.
We have operated and elected to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013,
and we intend to continue to operate in accordance with the requirements for qualification as a REIT. We utilize an Umbrella Partnership Real Estate
Investment Trust (“UPREIT”) organizational structure to hold all or substantially all of our assets through the operating partnership, Industrial Property
Operating Partnership LP (the “Operating Partnership”), a Delaware limited partnership of which we are the sole general partner and a limited partner.
We have relied on and will continue to rely on our external advisor (the “Advisor”) to manage our day-to-day operating and acquisition activities and to
implement our investment strategy pursuant to the terms of an advisory agreement by and among the Company, Operating Partnership, and the Advisor (the
“Advisory Agreement”). The current term of the Advisory Agreement ends on June 12, 2020, subject to renewal by our board of trustees for an unlimited
number of successive one-year periods. The Advisor is a related party of the Company and performs its duties and responsibilities under the Advisory
Agreement as a fiduciary of us and our shareholders. The Advisor may, but is not required to, establish working capital reserves from proceeds from cash
flow generated by operating assets or from proceeds from the sale of assets. Working capital reserves are typically utilized to fund tenant improvements,
leasing commissions, and major capital expenditures. From the inception of the Company until December 18, 2019, Industrial Property Advisors LLC
served as the Advisor. Thereafter, in connection with and prior to the consummation of the Asset Sale (defined below), IPT Advisor LLC, assumed the role
of the Advisor. Accordingly, throughout this Annual Report on Form 10-K, references to the Advisor mean Industrial Property Advisors LLC for periods
through December 17, 2019, and mean IPT Advisor LLC for the period thereafter, unless specified otherwise.
On July 24, 2013, we commenced an initial public offering of up to $2.0 billion in shares of our common stock, including up to $1.5 billion in shares of
common stock in our primary offering and $500.0 million in shares offered under our distribution reinvestment plan. On June 30, 2017, we terminated the
primary portion of our initial public offering. In connection with our initial announcement of the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement
(defined below), we suspended our share redemption program and the offering of shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, effective beginning
with the third quarter of 2019. As of December 31, 2019, we had raised gross proceeds of approximately $1.9 billion from the sale of 184.0 million shares
of our common stock in our public offering, including shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan.
On July 15, 2019, we announced that we had entered into an agreement and plan of merger (as amended and restated on August 20, 2019, the “Merger
Agreement”) pursuant to which we or our wholly-owned subsidiaries would be acquired by an affiliate or affiliates of Prologis, L.P. (“Prologis”) in an all
cash transaction valued at approximately $4.0 billion, subject to certain transaction costs. On August 22, 2019, we announced that we had elected to
structure the transaction as a sale of substantially all of our assets (the “Asset Sale”). The Asset Sale excluded our minority interests in our unconsolidated
joint venture partnerships, which include Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP (the “BTC I Partnership”) and Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership
II LP (the “BTC II Partnership” and, together with the BTC I Partnership, the “BTC Partnerships”). As described below, the Asset Sale was consummated
on January 8, 2020.
As of December 31, 2019, prior to the completion of the Asset Sale, we owned and managed, either directly or through our 20.0% minority ownership
interest in the BTC I Partnership and our 8.0% minority ownership interest in the BTC II Partnership, a total real estate portfolio that included 296
industrial buildings totaling approximately 53.3 million square feet located in 26 markets throughout the U.S., with 506 customers, and was 90.2% leased
with a weighted-average remaining lease term (based on square feet) of approximately 4.0 years. As of December 31, 2019:
•

we directly owned a consolidated real estate portfolio that consisted of 236 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 37.5 million
square feet that were approximately 96.1% leased.

•

the BTC I Partnership owned real estate portfolio that consisted of 39 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 11.1 million square
feet that were approximately 81.3% leased; three buildings under construction
1
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totaling 0.7 million square feet; four buildings in the pre-construction phase for an additional 0.7 million square feet; and one land parcel.
•

the BTC II Partnership owned a real estate portfolio that consisted of 21 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 4.7 million square
feet that were approximately 64.0% leased; four buildings under construction totaling 1.0 million square feet; and nine buildings in the preconstruction phase for an additional 3.4 million square feet.

On January 8, 2020, we completed the Asset Sale to Prologis. Immediately following the completion of the Asset Sale, each common shareholder received
a special distribution from us in cash equal to such shareholder’s pro rata share of the net total consideration for the Asset Sale, which was equal to $12.54
per share, without interest and less applicable withholdings and taxes (the “Special Distribution”). Consistent with distributions historically made by the
Company, the cash distribution actually paid to holders of shares of our Class T common stock were net of up to the aggregate amount of the distribution
fees that would have been reallowed by Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC, the dealer manager for our public offering, to the broker dealers who sold the
shares, if the Class T shares had remained outstanding. These remaining distribution fees were paid by the Company at a discounted rate following the
closing of the Asset Sale. The amount of remaining distribution fees deducted from the Special Distribution paid with respect to each share of Class T
common stock was generally up to $0.17 per share, depending on how long a shareholder had held its shares of Class T common stock. Following our
payment of such remaining distribution fees, each share of Class T common stock was converted to a share of Class A common stock on a one-for-one
basis. In connection with our conversion to a Maryland REIT in February 2020, all shares of our Class A common stock were converted to Class A
common shares of beneficial interest on a one-for-one basis. Following the completion of the Asset Sale and our subsequent conversion to a Maryland
REIT, our shareholders continued to hold the same number of common shares as they held prior to the closing of the Asset Sale.
We have continued to operate our business following the Asset Sale, with our remaining assets consisting primarily of our minority ownership interests in
the BTC Partnerships. As described in Item 5, “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities—Estimated Net Asset Value Per Share”, the estimated net asset value (“NAV”) of our common shares following the closing of the Asset Sale on
January 8, 2020, was $1.25 per share. In the future, the estimated NAV of our common shares will likely differ, perhaps materially, from this estimate based
on, among other things, updated valuations of the BTC Partnerships, and differences among liquidation scenarios and related transaction expenses. When
the estimated NAV per share as of January 8, 2020 of $1.25 is added to the per share Special Distribution of $12.54 per share (before deduction of
distribution fees with respect to shares of Class T common stock) that has already been paid to our shareholders, this results in an aggregate potential
distribution upon the liquidation of our interests in the BTC Partnerships of approximately $13.79 per common share. However, there can be no assurance
regarding the amount of additional cash that ultimately will be distributed to our shareholders in connection with the ultimate liquidation of our interests in
the BTC Partnerships.
Additionally, following the closing of the Asset Sale, we terminated the distribution reinvestment plan and reinstated the share redemption program on a
limited basis. Specifically, the share redemption program, which took effect on January 8, 2020, provides that it is available solely in connection with the
death of a shareholder and the aggregate dollar amount of redemptions under the program is capped at $1.0 million. Shares redeemed under the share
redemption program will be redeemed at a price equal to the estimated NAV per share most recently announced by us in a public filing with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as of the date of redemption.
Investment Objectives
The BTC I Partnership invests in an industrial real estate portfolio initially targeted to be comprised of approximately (i) 80.0% development investments,
and (ii) 20.0% core and value-add investments. The BTC I Partnership is effectively fully committed, including approved investments. The BTC II
Partnership invests in an industrial real estate portfolio initially targeted to be comprised of approximately (i) 70.0% development investments, and
(ii) 30.0% core and value-add investments. The BTC II Partnership is approximately 66.5% committed, including identified and approved investments.
Following the closing of the Asset Sale, our primary investment objective is to deploy the remaining commitment in the BTC II Partnership and stabilize
certain properties in the BTC Partnerships with the intention to sell our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships with the goal of maximizing
value for our common shareholders. Our board of trustees continues to analyze its options with respect to the monetization of our interests in the BTC
Partnerships.
Financing Objectives
In January 2020, all of our wholly-owned debt was repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale. Both the BTC I Partnership and the BTC II
Partnership use secured debt as a means of providing additional funds for the acquisition and development of assets. While a large percentage of the BTC
Partnerships’ debt financings may typically be comprised of long2
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term, fixed rate loans, the BTC Partnerships’ use of leverage generally increases the risk of default on loan payments and the resulting foreclosure on a
particular asset or group of assets. Upon a default, the BTC Partnerships’ lenders may also have recourse to partnership assets other than those specifically
securing the repayment of the indebtedness. The BTC Partnerships’ ability to enhance investment returns and to acquire assets using additional funds
provided through borrowings could be adversely impacted if the credit markets are closed or limited and banks and other lending institutions impose severe
restrictions on the level of funds available for the types of loans sought for the BTC Partnerships. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to Debt
Financing” for further detail.
Tax Status and Treatment
As noted above, following the closing of the Asset Sale, we converted to a Maryland REIT. We also adopted a plan of liquidation for tax purposes (the
“Plan of Liquidation”). Under such Plan of Liquidation, we are required to complete our liquidation by January 6, 2022, which is within 24 months
following the adoption of the Plan of Liquidation. If, at the end of the 24-month period, we have not sold all of our assets and distributed all of the proceeds
to our shareholders, we intend to complete our tax liquidation by electing to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes.
Competition
As we complete the liquidation of our minority interests in the BTC Partnerships, we will be in competition with other sellers of interests in similar
properties to identify suitable purchasers, which may result in us receiving lower net proceeds than our estimated liquidation proceeds. Additionally, until
we sell our minority interests in the BTC Partnerships, we, through our minority interests in the BTC Partnerships, will be in competition for real property
investments with other REITs and institutional investors, such as pension funds and their advisors, private real estate investment funds, insurance company
investment accounts, private investment companies, individuals and other entities engaged in real estate investment activities, including certain other
entities sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor, including Black Creek Industrial REIT IV Inc. (“BCI IV”), Black Creek Diversified Property
Fund Inc. (“DPF”), Black Creek Industrial Fund LP (“BCIF”) and Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership III LLC (“BTC III”), some of which have greater
financial resources than the BTC Partnerships and generally may be able to accept more risk, including risks relating to the creditworthiness of potential
customers, the breadth of the markets in which to invest, or the level of leverage they are willing to take on. They also may possess significant competitive
advantages that result from, among other things, a lower cost of capital or greater operating efficiencies associated with a larger platform.
The market for the leasing of industrial real estate is also very competitive. We, through our interests in the BTC Partnerships, experience competition for
customers from other existing assets in proximity to the buildings owned by the BTC Partnerships, as well as from proposed new developments. As a
result, we may have to provide free rental periods, incur charges for tenant improvements, or offer other inducements, all of which may have an adverse
impact on our results of operations.
Significant Customers
We are dependent upon the ability of the BTC Partnerships’ current customers to pay their contractual rents as they become due. As of December 31, 2019,
there were three customers that individually represented more than 5.0% of total annualized base rent, and the BTC Partnerships’ 10 largest customers
represented approximately 41.1% of total annualized base rent of the properties owned through the BTC Partnerships. We are not aware of any current
customers whose inability to pay their contractual rental amounts would have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.
Conflicts of Interest
We are subject to various potential conflicts of interest that could arise out of our relationship with the Advisor and other affiliates and related parties,
including: conflicts related to the compensation arrangements among the Advisor, certain affiliates and related parties, and us; conflicts with respect to the
allocation of the Advisor’s and its key personnel’s time; conflicts related to our potential acquisition of assets from affiliates of the Advisor; and conflicts
with respect to the allocation of investment opportunities. Further, entities currently sponsored by or that in the future may be advised by affiliates of the
Sponsor, and those in which Sponsor-affiliated or related entities own interests, may compete with us or may be given priority over us with respect to the
acquisition of certain types of investments. As a result of our potential competition with these entities, certain investment opportunities that would
otherwise be available to us may not in fact be available. See Item 1A, “Risk Factors—Risks Related to the Advisor and Its Affiliates,” for additional
detail. Our independent trustees have an obligation to function on our behalf in all situations in which a conflict of interest may arise and have a fiduciary
obligation to act on behalf of our shareholders.
Compliance with Federal, State and Local Environmental Laws
The properties that we may acquire through our minority interests in our unconsolidated joint venture partnerships, or the properties underlying our
investments in our unconsolidated joint venture partnerships, are subject to various federal, state, and
3
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local environmental laws, ordinances, and regulations. Under these laws, ordinances, and regulations, a current or previous owner of real estate (including,
in certain circumstances, a secured lender that succeeds to ownership or control of a property) may become liable for the costs of removal or remediation of
certain hazardous or toxic substances or petroleum product releases at, on, under, or in its property. These laws typically impose cleanup responsibility and
liability without regard to whether the owner or control party knew of or was responsible for the release or presence of the hazardous or toxic substances.
The costs of investigation, remediation, or removal of these substances may be substantial and could exceed the value of the property. An owner or control
party of a site may be subject to common law claims by third parties based on damages and costs resulting from environmental contamination emanating
from a site. Certain environmental laws also impose liability in connection with the handling of or exposure to materials containing asbestos. These laws
allow third parties to seek recovery from owners of properties for personal injuries associated with materials containing asbestos. Our operating costs and
the values of these assets may be adversely affected by the obligation to pay for the cost of complying with existing environmental laws, ordinances, and
regulations, as well as the cost of complying with future legislation, and our income and ability to make additional distributions to our shareholders could
be affected adversely by the existence of an environmental liability with respect to our properties. We will endeavor to ensure the properties in the BTC
Partnerships are in compliance in all material respects with all federal, state and local laws, ordinances, and regulations regarding hazardous or toxic
substances or petroleum products.
Employees
We have no employees. Pursuant to the terms of the Advisory Agreement, the Advisor assumes principal responsibility for managing our affairs and we
compensate the Advisor for certain services.
Additional Information
Our internet address is www.industrialpropertytrust.com. Through a link on our website, we make available, free of charge, our annual reports on Form 10K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, and prospectus, along with any amendments to those filings, as soon as reasonably
practicable after we file or furnish them to the SEC.
ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

RISKS RELATED TO OWNERSHIP OF OUR COMMON SHARES
The estimated NAV per share may not be an accurate reflection of the fair market value of our assets and liabilities and may not represent the amount
of net proceeds that shareholders will receive upon our final liquidation or the amount our shareholders would receive upon the sale of their shares.
There is no current public market for our common shares of beneficial interest and the estimated NAV per share may not be an accurate reflection of the
fair value of our assets and liabilities in accordance with GAAP, may not represent the amount our shareholders would receive upon the sale of their shares
and may not represent the net proceeds that our shareholders will receive upon our final liquidation. In addition, such value may not be the equivalent of the
disclosure of a market price by an open-ended real estate fund. Any methodologies used to determine an estimated NAV per share may be based upon
assumptions, estimates and judgments that may not be accurate or complete, such that, if different property-specific and general real estate and capital
market assumptions, estimates and judgments were used, it could result in an estimated NAV per share that is significantly different.
There is no public trading market for our common shares, our share redemption program is only available in connection with the death of a
shareholder, and the amount of redemptions permitted under the program is capped at $1.0 million; therefore, it will be difficult for our shareholders to
sell their common shares; and, if our shareholders do sell their shares, they may receive less than the most recently determined estimated NAV per
share.
There is no current public market for our common shares and we have no obligation or plans to apply for listing on any public securities market. We have
adopted the Plan of Liquidation with the intention of liquidating our remaining assets, which consist primarily of our minority interests in the BTC
Partnerships, but there is no assurance as to the timing of the completion of the liquidation or the amount of liquidation proceeds that will ultimately be
distributed to our shareholders. We have a share redemption program, but it is available only in connection with the death of a shareholder and the
aggregate dollar amount of redemptions permitted under the program is capped at $1.0 million. Any shares redeemed under our share redemption program
will be redeemed at the most recently determined NAV per share, which may not accurately represent the current value of our assets per share at the time of
redemption. Further, our board of trustees may amend, suspend or terminate the share redemption program at any time, without shareholder approval. It
will therefore be difficult for our shareholders to sell their common shares promptly or at all. Even if our shareholders are able to sell their common shares,
the absence of a public market may
4
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cause the price received for any of our common shares to be less than the most recently determined estimated NAV per share and less than the amount our
shareholders may receive upon our final liquidation.
We are required to pay substantial compensation to the Advisor and its affiliates or related parties, which may be increased or decreased by a majority
of our board of trustees, including a majority of the independent trustees.
Subject to limitations in our declaration of trust, the fees, compensation, income, expense reimbursements, interest and other payments that we are required
to pay to the Advisor and its affiliates or related parties may increase or decrease if such change is approved by a majority of our board of trustees,
including a majority of the independent trustees. These payments to the Advisor and its affiliates or related parties will decrease the amount of cash we
have available for operations and new investments and could negatively impact our ability to pay distributions and our shareholders’ overall return.
The timing for the completion of our liquidation and the timing and amount of additional liquidating distributions to our shareholders is uncertain.
We have adopted the Plan of Liquidation with the intention of liquidating our remaining assets no later than January 2022. There can be no assurances that
we will successfully complete the liquidation in that timeframe. We bear all expenses incurred in our operations as a public company, which will reduce the
amount of cash available for additional liquidating distributions. These expenses will have a greater impact on the cash available for distribution the longer
it takes to complete the liquidation of our assets. Distributions could also be negatively impacted by the inability to find suitable investments for the BTC II
Partnership, potential poor performance of the assets in the BTC Partnerships, an increase in expenses or capital expenditures for any reason, and numerous
other factors. Any request by the holders of our Operating Partnership units (“OP Units”) to redeem some or all of their OP Units for cash may also impact
the amount of cash available for distribution to our shareholders. Accordingly, the net proceeds available for distribution to our shareholders pursuant to our
liquidation, after the disposal of our assets and the settlement of our liabilities, may be less than the estimated NAV per share determined in January 2020
and the timing and amount of any additional liquidating distributions to be paid to our shareholders is uncertain.
We currently do not have research analysts reviewing our performance.
We do not have research analysts reviewing our performance or our securities on an ongoing basis. Therefore, we do not have an independent review of our
performance and value of our common shares relative to publicly traded companies.
Payments to the Sponsor, as the holder of the Special Units (as defined below) and the Advisor, as the holder of a preferred equity capital interest in the
Operating Partnership, or cash redemptions by holders of OP Units will reduce cash available for distribution to our shareholders and our ability to
honor their redemption requests under our share redemption program.
The Sponsor, in its capacity as the holder of the special partnership units in the Operating Partnership (“Special Units”), may be entitled to receive a cash
payment upon dispositions of the Operating Partnership’s assets and/or redemption of the Special Units upon the earliest to occur of (i) the termination or
non-renewal of the Advisory Agreement, upon a merger or sale of assets or other transaction in which the trustees then in office are replaced or removed,
by the Advisor for good reason, or by us or the Operating Partnership other than for cause, or (ii) or the completion of our liquidation. In addition,
following the closing of the Asset Sale, the Advisor was granted a preferred equity capital interest in the Operating Partnership having a preference on
distributions from the Operating Partnership equal to $10.0 million (the “Preference”). Any additional distributions by the Operating Partnership will be
made, after any distributions necessary to maintain the Company’s status as a REIT, (i) first, 100% to pay the Preference described above, and (ii) then,
65% to the holders of limited partnership interests in the Operating Partnership in proportion to their ownership interest in the Operating Partnership and
35% to the holder of the Special Units. These payments will reduce cash available for distribution to our shareholders and may negatively affect the value
of our common shares upon the completion of our liquidation. Furthermore, if Special Units are redeemed pursuant to the termination of the Advisory
Agreement, there may not be cash from the disposition of assets to make a redemption payment; therefore, we may need to use cash from operations,
borrowings, or other sources to make the payment, which will reduce the cash ultimately available for distribution to our shareholders.
The holders of OP Units (other than us and the holder of the Special Units) generally have the right to cause the Operating Partnership to redeem all or a
portion of their OP Units for, at our sole discretion, our common shares, cash, or a combination of both. Our election to redeem OP Units for cash will
reduce funds available for other purposes, including for liquidation distributions and for redemption requests under our share redemption program.
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If another investment program, whether sponsored by the Sponsor or otherwise, hires the current executives or key personnel of the Advisor in
connection with an internalization transaction or otherwise, or if we were to internalize our management but cannot retain some or all of our current
executives or key personnel of the Advisor, our ability to conduct our business may be adversely affected.
We rely on key personnel of the Advisor to manage our day-to-day operating and acquisition activities. In addition, all of our current executives and other
key personnel of the Advisor provide services to one or more other investment programs, including other public investment programs sponsored or advised
by affiliates of the Sponsor. These programs or third parties may decide to retain or hire some or all of our current executives and the Advisor’s other key
personnel in the future through an internalization transaction or otherwise. If this occurs, we may not be able to retain some or all of our current executives
and other key personnel of the Advisor who are most familiar with our business and operations, thereby potentially adversely impacting our business. If we
were to effectuate an internalization of the Advisor, we may not be able to retain all of the current executives and the Advisor’s other key personnel or to
maintain a relationship with the Sponsor, which also may adversely affect our ability to conduct our business.
We have broad authority to incur debt, and high debt levels could hinder our ability to make distributions and could decrease the value of an
investment in our common shares.
Subsequent to the closing of the Asset Sale, we no longer have any wholly-owned debt outstanding, but the BTC Partnerships have debt outstanding. Under
our declaration of trust, we have a limitation on borrowing which precludes us from borrowing in excess of 300% of the value of our net assets, provided
that we may exceed this limit if a higher level of borrowing is approved by a majority of our independent trustees. High debt levels could cause us to incur
higher interest charges, could result in higher debt service obligations, could be accompanied by restrictive covenants, and generally could make us subject
to the risks associated with higher leverage. These factors could reduce the amount of cash we have available to distribute and could result in a decline in
our NAV.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR GENERAL BUSINESS OPERATIONS AND OUR CORPORATE STRUCTURE
We have incurred net losses on a GAAP basis for the year ended December 31, 2018 and accumulated deficits on a GAAP basis for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, we incurred a net loss, on a GAAP basis, of approximately $6.8 million. In addition, we had accumulated deficit
balances, on a GAAP basis, of approximately $501.6 million and $420.7 million, respectively, as December 31, 2019 and 2018. Our net losses and the
related accumulated deficit balances can be attributed, in part, to real estate-related depreciation and amortization and interest expense, as well as
acquisition-related expenses that were incurred during 2018. We may incur net losses and accumulated deficits in the future. We are subject to all of the
business risks and uncertainties associated with any business, including the risk that the value of a shareholder’s investment could decline substantially. We
cannot assure our shareholders that, in the future, we will be profitable or that we will realize growth in the value of our assets.
A change in U.S. accounting standards regarding operating leases may make the leasing of the properties owned through the BTC Partnerships less
attractive to potential tenants, which could reduce overall demand for our leasing services.
In order to address concerns raised by the SEC regarding the transparency of contractual lease obligations under the existing accounting standards for
operating leases, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued ASU 2016-02 on February 25, 2016, which substantially changed the current
lease accounting standards, primarily by significantly changing the concept of operating lease accounting. As a result, a leased asset and obligation will be
recorded on the customer’s balance sheet for all lease arrangements. In addition, ASU 2016-02 will impact how companies account for and report leasing
arrangements. In order to mitigate the effect of the new lease accounting standards, customers may seek to negotiate certain terms within new lease
arrangements or modify terms in existing lease arrangements, such as shorter lease terms, which would generally have less impact on their balance sheets.
Customers also may reassess their lease-versus-buy strategies. This could result in greater renewal risks or shorter lease terms, which may negatively
impact our operations. We adopted the standard when it became effective for us, as of the reporting period beginning January 1, 2019, and we elected the
practical expedients available for implementation under the new standard. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
Our investments are concentrated in the industrial real estate sector and primarily in the largest distribution and logistics markets in the U.S., and our
business could be adversely affected by an economic downturn in that sector or in those geographic areas.
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Our investments are concentrated in the industrial real estate sector and primarily in the largest distribution and logistics markets in the U.S. Such industry
concentration may expose us to the risk of economic downturns in this sector, such as downturns that may result from economic uncertainty with respect to
imports, exports and international trade, or changes to certain trade agreements, to a greater extent than if our business activities included investing more
significantly in other sectors of the real estate industry; and such market concentrations may expose us to the risk of economic downturns in these areas. In
addition, if our customers are concentrated in any particular industry, any adverse economic developments in such industry could expose us to additional
risks. These concentration risks could negatively impact our operating results and the value of our common shares.
The geographic concentration of the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships in certain markets makes our business vulnerable
to adverse conditions in those markets.
Because of the geographic concentration of certain of the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships, we may be vulnerable to adverse
conditions, including general economic conditions, increased competition, real estate conditions, terrorist attacks, potential impacts from labor disputes in
California or other ports, earthquakes and wildfires, and other natural disasters occurring in such markets. As of December 31, 2019, 23.2%, 10.7%, 10.3%,
and 10.2% of the Partnerships’ total annualized base rent was concentrated in the Southern California, Pennsylvania, Atlanta, and New Jersey markets,
respectively. In addition, we cannot assure our shareholders that the markets in which the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships
are located will continue to grow or remain favorable to the industrial real estate industry.
We are dependent on customers for revenue and the inability to lease the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships or to collect
rent from the customers of the BTC Partnerships will adversely affect our results of operations and returns to our shareholders.
Our revenues from property investments depend on the creditworthiness of customers and will be adversely affected by the loss of or default by significant
lessees. Much of the BTC Partnerships’ customer base is presently comprised of and is expected to continue to be comprised of non-rated and noninvestment grade customers. In addition, certain of the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships are occupied by a single customer,
and as a result, the success of those properties depends on the financial stability of that customer. Lease payment defaults by customers could cause us to
reduce the amount of distributions to shareholders and could force the BTC Partnerships to find an alternative source of funding to pay any mortgage loan
interest or principal, taxes, or other obligations relating to the property. In the event of a customer default, the BTC Partnerships may also experience delays
in enforcing their rights as landlord and may incur substantial costs in protecting our investment and re-leasing their property. If a lease is terminated, the
value of the property may be immediately and negatively affected and the BTC Partnerships may be unable to lease the property for the rent previously
received or at all or sell the property without incurring a loss.
A prolonged national or world-wide economic downturn or volatile capital market conditions could harm our operations, cash flows and financial
condition and lower returns to shareholders.
If disruptions in the capital and credit markets should occur as a result of, among other factors, uncertainty, changing regulations, changes in certain trade
agreements, reduced alternatives or failures of significant financial institutions, our access to liquidity could be significantly impacted. For example,
customers and potential customers of the properties owned through our interests in the BTC Partnerships operate in industries including e-commerce,
traditional retail, third-party logistics, warehousing and manufacturing, all of which may be adversely impacted by recently enacted and proposed changes
to U.S. foreign trade policies, including tariffs and other impositions on imported goods, trade sanctions imposed on certain countries, the limitation on the
importation of certain types of goods or of goods containing certain materials from other countries and other policies. Prolonged disruptions could result in
us delaying our disposition of our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
We believe the risks associated with our business are more severe during periods of economic downturn if these periods are accompanied by declining
values in real estate. For example, a prolonged economic downturn could negatively impact our interests in the BTC Partnerships as a result of increased
customer delinquencies and/or defaults under leases, generally lower demand for rentable space, potential oversupply of rentable space leading to increased
concessions and/or tenant improvement expenditures, or reduced rental rates to maintain occupancies. Our operations could be negatively affected to a
greater extent if an economic downturn occurs, is prolonged or becomes more severe, which could significantly harm our ability to dispose of our interests
in the BTC Partnerships for consideration that we believe is appropriate and could reduce the amount of liquidating distributions that we pay to our
shareholders.
The recent global outbreak of COVID-19 (more commonly known as the Coronavirus) has disrupted economic markets and the prolonged economic
impact is uncertain. Some economists and major investment banks have expressed concern that the continued spread of the virus globally could lead to a
world-wide economic downturn. Customers and potential customers of
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the properties we own operate in industries which could be adversely affected by the disruption to business caused by the global outbreak of the
Coronavirus. This could lead to impacts on our business similar to those described above. Many manufacturers of goods in China and other countries in
Asia have seen a downturn in production due to the suspension of business and temporary closure of factories in an attempt to curb the spread of the illness.
This may lead to a decline in imported goods from these countries, which may negatively impact the business of customers and potential customers of our
properties. As the impact of the Coronavirus spreads to other parts of the world, similar impacts may occur with respect to affected countries.
Yields on and safety of deposits may be lower due to the extensive decline in the financial markets.
We generally plan to hold cash in permitted liquid investments. Subject to applicable REIT rules, such investments include money market funds, bank
money market accounts and CDs or other accounts at third-party depository institutions. Continuous or unusual declines in the financial markets may result
in a loss of some or all of these funds. In particular, during times of economic distress, money market funds have experienced intense redemption pressure
and have had difficulty satisfying redemption requests. As such, we may not be able to access the cash in our money market investments. In addition,
income from these investments is minimal.
The failure of any bank in which we deposit our funds could reduce the amount of cash we have available to pay distributions and make additional
investments.
We will seek to diversify our excess cash and cash equivalents among several banking institutions in an attempt to minimize exposure to any one of these
entities. However, the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation generally only insures amounts up to $250,000 per depositor per insured bank. It is likely that
we will have cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash deposited in certain financial institutions substantially in excess of federally insured levels. If
any of the banking institutions in which we deposit funds ultimately fails, we may lose our deposits over $250,000. The loss of our deposits could reduce
the amount of cash we have available to distribute in connection with our liquidation.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest or war may affect the markets in which we operate, our operations and our profitability.
Terrorist attacks and other acts of violence, civilian unrest, or war may negatively affect our operations and our shareholders’ investment. In addition, any
kind of terrorist activity or violent criminal acts, including terrorist acts against public institutions or buildings or modes of public transportation (including
airlines, trains or buses) could have a negative effect on our business. These events may directly impact the value of our assets through damage,
destruction, loss or increased security costs.
More generally, any terrorist attack, other act of violence or war, including armed conflicts, could result in increased volatility in, or damage to, the
worldwide financial markets and economy. Increased economic volatility could adversely affect customers’ ability to pay rent on their leases and have a
material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and the amount of liquidating distributions that we pay to our shareholders.
Our business could suffer in the event the Advisor, our transfer agent or any other party that provides us with services essential to our operations
experiences system failures or cyber incidents or a deficiency in cybersecurity.
The Advisor, our transfer agent and other parties that provide us with services essential to our operations are vulnerable to service interruptions or damages
from any number of sources, including computer viruses, malware, unauthorized access, energy blackouts, natural disasters, terrorism, war and
telecommunication failures. Any system failure or accident that causes interruptions in our operations could result in a material disruption to our
business. A cyber incident is considered to be any adverse event that threatens the confidentiality, integrity or availability of information resources. More
specifically, a cyber incident is an intentional attack or an unintentional event that may include, but is not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to systems
to disrupt operations, corrupt data, steal assets or misappropriate company funds and/or confidential information including, for example, confidential
information regarding our shareholders. As reliance on technology in our industry has increased, so have the risks posed to our systems, both internal and
those we have outsourced. In addition, the risk of cyber incidents has generally increased as the number, intensity and sophistication of attempted attacks
and intrusions from around the world have increased. Cyber incidents may be carried out by third parties or insiders, including by computer hackers,
foreign governments and cyber terrorists, using techniques that range from highly sophisticated efforts to more traditional intelligence gathering and social
engineering aimed at obtaining information. The remediation costs and lost revenues experienced by a victim of a cyber incident may be significant and
significant resources may be required to repair system damage, protect against the threat of future security breaches or to alleviate problems, including
reputational harm, loss of revenues and litigation, caused by any breaches. There also may be liability for any stolen assets or misappropriated company
funds or confidential information. Any material adverse effect experienced by the Advisor, our transfer agent and other parties that provide us with services
essential to our operations could, in turn, have an adverse impact on us.
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Our board of trustees determines our major policies and operations which increases the uncertainties faced by our shareholders.
Our board of trustees determines our major policies, including our policies regarding acquisitions, dispositions, financing, growth, debt capitalization,
REIT qualification, listing, redemptions and distributions. Our board of trustees may amend or revise these and other policies without providing notice to or
obtaining the consent of our shareholders, which could result in outcomes that are significantly different from those anticipated by our shareholders. Under
the Maryland REIT Law and our declaration of trust, our shareholders have a right to vote only on limited matters. Our board of trustees’ broad discretion
in setting policies and our shareholders’ inability to exert control over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks our shareholders face, especially if
our board of trustees and shareholders disagree as to what course of action is in our shareholders’ best interests.
Under our declaration of trust, our shareholders are not entitled to vote on our liquidation or dissolution unless our board of trustees determines to
submit these matters for shareholder approval.
On February 3, 2020, the Company was converted from a Maryland corporation to a Maryland REIT and adopted our declaration of trust. The provisions
of our declaration of trust are substantially similar to the provisions of our charter prior to the conversion, other than revisions necessary to reflect our new
entity form as a Maryland REIT and to delete references to our Class T common stock and other immaterial drafting changes. The principal substantive
differences between our declaration of trust and the charter are that our declaration of trust (i) permits the sale of all or substantially all of our assets
following our adoption of the Plan of Liquidation, which was adopted on January 7, 2020; and (ii) does not require separate shareholder approval for
dissolution because the Plan of Liquidation includes a provision for voluntary dissolution following disposition of our assets. Under our declaration of trust,
our shareholders are only entitled to vote on the election and removal of trustees, amendments to our declaration of trust, mergers, consolidations and such
other matters as our board of trustees determines to submit for shareholder approval. Thus, our shareholders are not entitled to vote on our liquidation or
dissolution unless our board of trustees determines to submit these matters for shareholder approval.
Certain provisions in the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership may delay, defer or prevent an unsolicited acquisition of us or a change
of our control.
Provisions in the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership may delay, defer or prevent an unsolicited acquisition of us or a change of our
control. These provisions include, among others:
•

redemption rights of qualifying parties;

•

a requirement that we may not be removed as the general partner of the operating partnership without our consent;

•

transfer restrictions on our OP Units;

•

our ability, as general partner, in some cases, to amend the partnership agreement without the consent of the limited partners; and

•

the right of the limited partners to consent to transfers of the general partnership interest and mergers under specified circumstances.

These provisions could discourage third parties from making proposals involving an unsolicited acquisition of us or a change of our control, although some
shareholders might consider such proposals, if made, desirable. Our declaration of trust and bylaws, the partnership agreement of our Operating Partnership
and Maryland law also contain other provisions that may delay, defer or prevent a transaction or a change of control of us that might involve a premium
price for our common shares or that our shareholders otherwise might believe to be in their best interests.
Our UPREIT structure may result in potential conflicts of interest with limited partners in the Operating Partnership whose interests may not be
aligned with those of our shareholders.
Limited partners in the Operating Partnership have the right to vote on certain amendments to the Operating Partnership agreement, as well as on certain
other matters. Persons holding such voting rights may exercise them in a manner that conflicts with our shareholders’ interests. As general partner of the
Operating Partnership, we are obligated to act in a manner that is in the best interests of all partners of the Operating Partnership. Circumstances may arise
in the future when the interests of limited partners in the Operating Partnership may conflict with the interests of our shareholders. These conflicts may be
resolved in a manner shareholders believe is not in their best interests.
Due to our status as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, we could be responsible for all liabilities of such partnerships and certain provisions
in our joint venture agreements may delay, defer or prevent an unsolicited acquisition or change of our control.
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Through our wholly-owned subsidiaries, we own general partner and limited partner interests in each of the BTC Partnerships. Our general partner status
could expose us to all the liabilities of such partnership and our liability may be greater than the amount or value of our investment in the BTC
Partnerships. There are provisions in our joint venture agreements that could prevent an unsolicited acquisition or change of our control, which some
shareholders might consider, if made, to be desirable.
Maryland law and our organizational documents limit our shareholders’ rights to bring claims against our officers and trustees.
Maryland law provides that a trustee will not have any liability as a trustee so long as he or she performs his or her duties in good faith, in a manner he or
she reasonably believes to be in our best interests, and with the care that an ordinarily prudent person in a like position would use under similar
circumstances. In addition, our declaration of trust provides that, subject to the applicable limitations set forth therein or under Maryland law, no trustee or
officer will be liable to us or our shareholders for monetary damages. Our declaration of trust also provides that we will generally indemnify and advance
expenses to our trustees, our officers, the Advisor and its affiliates for losses they may incur by reason of their service in those capacities unless their act or
omission was material to the matter giving rise to the proceeding and was committed in bad faith or was the result of active and deliberate dishonesty, they
actually received an improper personal benefit in money, property or services or, in the case of any criminal proceeding, they had reasonable cause to
believe the act or omission was unlawful. Moreover, we have entered into separate indemnification agreements with each of our officers and trustees. As a
result, we and our shareholders have more limited rights against these persons than might otherwise exist under common law.
In addition, we are obligated to fund the defense costs incurred by these persons in some cases. However, our declaration of trust provides that we may not
indemnify our trustees, the Advisor and its affiliates for any liability or loss suffered by them or hold our trustees, the Advisor and its affiliates harmless for
any liability or loss suffered by us unless they have determined that the course of conduct that caused the loss or liability was in our best interests, they
were acting on our behalf or performing services for us, the liability or loss was not the result of negligence or misconduct by our non-independent trustees,
the Advisor and its affiliates or gross negligence or willful misconduct by our independent trustees, and the indemnification or agreement to hold harmless
is recoverable only out of our net assets or the proceeds of insurance and not from our shareholders.
Our bylaws designate the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland as the sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that
may be initiated by our shareholders, which could limit our shareholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us or our
trustees, officers or employees.
Our bylaws provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland shall be the
sole and exclusive forum for certain types of actions and proceedings that may be initiated by our shareholders with respect to our company, our trustees,
our officers or our employees (we currently have no employees). This choice of forum provision will not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act or
the Exchange Act. This choice of forum provision may limit a shareholder’s ability to bring a claim in a judicial forum that the shareholder believes is
favorable for disputes with us or our trustees, officers or employees, which may discourage meritorious claims from being asserted against us and our
trustees, officers and employees. Alternatively, if a court were to find this provision of our declaration of trust inapplicable to, or unenforceable in respect
of, one or more of the specified types of actions or proceedings, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such matters in other jurisdictions,
which could adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations. We adopted this provision because we believe it makes it less likely
that we will be forced to incur the expense of defending duplicative actions in multiple forums and less likely that plaintiffs’ attorneys will be able to
employ such litigation to coerce us into otherwise unjustified settlements, and we believe the risk of a court declining to enforce this provision is remote, as
the General Assembly of Maryland has specifically amended the Maryland REIT Law to authorize the adoption of such provisions.

RISKS RELATED TO INVESTMENTS IN PROPERTY
Changes in global, national, regional or local economic, demographic, political, real estate, or capital market conditions may adversely affect our
results of operations and returns to our shareholders.
We are subject to risks generally incident to the ownership of property including changes in global, national, regional or local economic, demographic,
political, real estate, or capital market conditions and other factors particular to the locations of the respective property investments. We are unable to
predict future changes in these market conditions. For example, an economic downturn or a rise in interest rates could make it more difficult for the BTC
Partnerships to lease properties or may make it more difficult for us to dispose of our interests in the BTC Partnerships. In addition, rising interest rates
could make alternative interest bearing and other investments more attractive and, therefore, potentially lower the value of our interests in the BTC
Partnerships.
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Adverse economic conditions in the regions where our assets are located may adversely affect occupancy levels, lease terms, and our ability to lease
available areas, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
Our results of operations depend substantially on our ability as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships to lease the areas available in the properties held
through the BTC Partnerships as well as the price at which such space is leased. Adverse conditions in the regions and specific markets where we operate
may reduce our ability to lease the properties, reduce occupancy levels, restrict our ability to increase rental rates and force us to lower rental rates and/or
offer customer incentives. Should these assets fail to generate sufficient revenues for us to meet our obligations, our financial condition and results of
operations, as well as the amount of liquidating distributions that we will make, could be adversely affected. The following factors, among others, may
adversely affect the operating performance of the properties we own through our interests in the BTC Partnerships:
•

Economic downturn and turmoil in the financial markets may preclude leasing or increase vacancy levels;

•

Periods of increased interest rates could result in, among other things, an increase in defaults by customers, a decline in property values, and
make it more difficult for them to dispose of their properties at an attractive price;

•

Rising vacancy rates for commercial property, particularly in large metropolitan areas;

•

Inability to attract and maintain quality customers;

•

Default or breaches by customers of their contractual obligations;

•

Increases in operating costs, including the need for capital improvements;

•

Increases in the taxes levied; and

•

Regulatory changes affecting the real estate industry, including zoning rules.

Further, the demand for industrial space in the U.S. is related to the level of economic activity. Accordingly, reduced economic activity may lead to lower
occupancy and/or rental rates for the properties we own through our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Properties that have vacancies for a significant period of time could be difficult to sell, which could diminish the return to our shareholders.
A property may incur a vacancy either by the normal expiration of the lease or the continued default of a customer under its lease. In addition, value-add
properties or other types of development properties may have significant vacancies at the time of acquisition. If property vacancies continue for a long
period of time, we may suffer reduced revenues resulting in less cash to be distributed to shareholders in connection with our liquidation. In addition,
because properties’ market values depend principally upon the cash flow generated by the properties’ leases, the resale value of properties with prolonged
vacancies could suffer, which could further reduce the return to our shareholders.
Risks related to the development of properties may have an adverse effect on our results of operations and returns to our shareholders.
The risks associated with development and construction activities carried out by real estate companies like ours include, among others, the following:
•

Long periods of time may elapse between the commencement and the completion of projects;

•

Construction and development costs may exceed original estimates;

•

The developer/builder may be unable to index costs or receivables to inflation indices prevailing in the industry;

•

The level of interest of potential customers for a recently launched development may be low;

•

There could be delays in obtaining necessary permits;

•

The supply and availability of construction materials and equipment may decrease and the price of construction materials and equipment may
increase;

•

Construction and sales may not be completed on time, resulting in a cost increase;

•

It may be difficult to acquire land for new developments or properties;

•

Labor may be in limited availability;

•

Changes in tax, real estate and zoning laws may be unfavorable; and

•

Unforeseen environmental or other site conditions.
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In addition, our reputation and the construction quality of our real estate developments operated through the BTC Partnerships may be determining factors
for the ability to lease space and grow. The timely delivery of real estate projects and the quality of the developments, however, depend on certain factors
beyond our full control, including the quality and timeliness of construction materials delivered and the technical capabilities of the contractor. If one or
more problems affect these real estate developments, our reputation and future performance may be negatively affected and we may be exposed to civil
liability. Companies in the real estate industry, including us, depend on a variety of factors outside of their control to build, develop and operate real estate
projects. These factors include, among others, the availability of market resources for financing, land acquisition and project development. We, as the
general partner of the BTC Partnerships, may be unable to obtain financing for construction and development activities under favorable terms, including
but not limited to interest rates, maturity dates and/or loan to value ratios, or at all, which could cause the delay or even abandonment of potential
development projects. Further, any scarcity of market resources, including human capital, may decrease development capacity due to difficulty in obtaining
credit for land acquisition or construction financing. The combination of these risks may adversely affect our revenues, results of operations, financial
condition and the amount of liquidating distributions we pay to our shareholders, which may adversely affect returns to our shareholders.
Delays in the acquisition, development and construction of properties may have adverse effects on portfolio diversification, results of operations, and
returns to our shareholders’ investment.
Delays we encounter in the acquisition, development and construction of properties we own through our interests in the BTC Partnerships could adversely
affect our shareholders’ returns. In addition, where properties are acquired prior to the start of construction or during the early stages of construction, it will
typically take several months or longer to complete construction, to rent available space, and for rent payments to commence. Therefore, the BTC
Partnerships may not receive any income from these properties and the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships could suffer. Delays in the
completion of construction could give customers the right to terminate preconstruction leases for space at a newly developed project. We may incur
additional risks when the BTC Partnerships make periodic progress payments or other advances to builders prior to completion of construction. Each of
those factors could result in increased costs of a project or losses. In addition, we will be subject to normal lease-up risks relating to newly constructed
projects. Furthermore, as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, the price we agree to pay for a property will be based on our projections of rental
income and expenses and estimates of the fair market value of the property upon completion of construction. If our projections are inaccurate, it may result
in the BTC Partnerships paying too much for a property.
Changes in supply of or demand for similar properties in a particular area may increase the price of real estate assets we seek to purchase or adversely
affect the value of the properties we own.
The real estate industry is subject to market forces and we are unable to predict certain market changes including changes in supply of or demand for
similar properties in a particular area. For example, if demand for the types of real estate assets in which we seek to invest through the BTC Partnerships
were to sharply increase or supply of those assets were to sharply decrease, the prices of those assets could rise significantly. Any potential purchase of an
overpriced asset could decrease our rate of return on these investments and result in lower operating results and overall returns to our shareholders.
Likewise, a sharp increase in supply could adversely affect lease rates and occupancy, which could result in lower operating results and overall returns to
our shareholders.
Actions of joint venture partners could negatively impact our performance.
We have entered into the BTC Partnerships with third parties, including entities that are affiliated with the Advisor. We have and may continue to purchase
and develop properties in these partnerships. Such investments may involve risks not otherwise present with a direct investment in real estate, including, for
example:
•

The possibility that our venture partner might become bankrupt or otherwise be unable to meet its capital contribution obligations;

•

That such venture partner may at any time have economic or business interests or goals which are or which become inconsistent with our
business interests or goals;

•

That such venture partner may be in a position to take action contrary to our instructions or requests or contrary to our policies or objectives; or

•

That actions by such venture partner could adversely affect our reputation, negatively impacting our ability to conduct business.

Actions by such a joint venture partner, which are generally out of our control, might have the result of subjecting the properties held in the BTC
Partnerships to liabilities in excess of those contemplated and may have the effect of reducing our shareholders’ returns.
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Under certain circumstances, neither venture partner may have the power to control the venture, and an impasse could be reached, which might have a
negative influence on the joint venture partnership and decrease potential returns to our shareholders. In the event that a venture partner has a right of first
refusal to buy out the other partner, it may be unable to finance such a buy-out at that time. For example, certain actions by the joint venture partnership
may require joint approval of our affiliated partners, on the one hand, and our joint venture partner, on the other hand. An impasse among the partners could
result in a “deadlock event,” which could trigger a buy-sell mechanism under the partnership agreement and, under certain circumstances, could lead to a
liquidation of all or a portion of the partnership’s portfolio. In such circumstances, we may also be subject to the 100% penalty tax on “prohibited
transactions.” It may also be difficult for us to sell our interests in the BTC Partnerships. In addition, certain conflicts of interest exist with respect to the
other partners in the BTC Partnerships that are affiliates of the Advisor.
Properties are illiquid investments and we may be unable to adjust the BTC Partnerships’ portfolios in response to changes in economic or other
conditions or sell a property in one or both of those portfolios if or when we decide to do so.
Properties are illiquid investments and we may be unable to adjust the BTC Partnerships’ portfolios in response to changes in economic or other conditions.
In addition, the real estate market is affected by many factors, such as general economic conditions, availability of financing, interest rates and other
factors, including supply and demand, that are beyond our control. We cannot predict whether we, as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, will be
able to sell any property for the price or on the terms set by us, or whether any price or other terms offered by a prospective purchaser would be acceptable
to us.
We cannot predict the length of time needed to find a willing purchaser and to close the sale of a property. The BTC Partnerships may also be required to
expend funds to correct defects or to make improvements before a property can be sold. There can be no assurance that funds will be available to correct
such defects or to make such improvements. In acquiring a property through the BTC Partnerships, we may agree to restrictions that prohibit the sale of
that property for a period of time or impose other restrictions, such as a limitation on the amount of debt that can be placed or repaid on that property. All of
these provisions would restrict the BTC Partnerships’ ability to sell a property, may hinder our ability to sell our interests in the BTC Partnerships and may
reduce the amount we receive upon the disposition of our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Our operating expenses may increase in the future and to the extent such increases cannot be passed on to our customers, our cash flow and our
operating results would decrease.
Operating expenses at the properties held indirectly through the BTC Partnerships, such as expenses for property and other taxes, fuel, utilities, labor,
building materials and insurance are not fixed and may increase in the future. Furthermore, we, as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, may not be
able to pass these increases on to the customers at such properties. To the extent such increases cannot be passed on to the customers, any such increases
would cause our cash flow and our operating results to decrease.
We compete with numerous other parties or entities for property investments and customers and may not compete successfully.
We, through the BTC Partnerships, compete with numerous other persons or entities seeking to buy or develop real estate assets or to attract customers to
properties we already own, including with entities sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor. These persons or entities may have greater experience
and financial strength. There is no assurance that we will be able to acquire or develop real estate assets or attract customers on favorable terms, if at all.
For example, our competitors may be willing to offer space at rental rates below our rates, causing us to lose existing or potential customers and pressuring
us to reduce our rental rates to retain existing customers or convince new customers to lease space at the properties we own through our interests in the
BTC Partnerships. Similarly, the opening of new competing assets near these assets may hinder our ability to renew our existing leases or to lease to new
customers, because the proximity of new competitors may divert existing or new customers to such competitors. Each of these factors may lead to a
reduction in our cash flow and operating income and could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition, value of our investments and the
amount of liquidating distributions that we pay to our shareholders.
The operating results of the assets that we own may be impacted by our customers’ financial condition.
The income that we earn from our interests in the BTC Partnerships is derived primarily from lease payments made by our customers at the properties
owned by the BTC Partnerships. As such, our performance is indirectly affected by the financial results of our customers, as difficulties experienced by our
customers could result in defaults in their obligations to the BTC Partnerships.
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The financial results of our customers can depend on several factors, including but not limited to the general business environment, interest rates, inflation,
the availability of credit, taxation and overall consumer confidence. An economic downturn can be expected to negatively impact all of these factors, some
to a greater degree than others.
In addition, our ability to increase our revenues and operating income partially depends on steady growth of demand for the products and services offered
by the customers located in the assets that we own and manage. A drop in demand, as a result of a slowdown in the U.S. and global economy or otherwise,
could result in a reduction in customer performance and consequently, adversely affect us.
Lease agreements may have specific provisions that create risks to our business and may adversely affect us.
The BTC Partnerships’ lease agreements are regulated by local, municipal, state and federal laws, which may grant certain rights to customers, such as the
compulsory renewal of their lease by filing lease renewal actions when certain legal conditions are met. A lease renewal action may represent two principal
risks for the BTC Partnerships: (i) if the BTC Partnerships plan to vacate a given unit in order to change or adapt an asset’s mix of customers, the customer
could remain in that unit by filing a lease renewal action and interfere with the BTC Partnerships’ strategy; and (ii) if the BTC Partnerships desire to
increase the lease price for a specific unit, this increase may need to be approved in the course of a lease renewal action, and the final value could be
decided at the discretion of a judge. The BTC Partnerships would then be subject to the court’s interpretation and decision, and could be forced to accept an
even lower price for the lease of the unit. The compulsory renewal of the BTC Partnerships’ lease agreements and/or the judicial review of lease prices may
adversely affect the BTC Partnerships, and accordingly, our cash flow and our operating results.
Certain of the BTC Partnerships’ lease agreements are not “triple net leases,” under which the lessee undertakes to pay all the expenses of maintaining the
leased property, including insurance, taxes, utilities and repairs. The BTC Partnerships may be exposed to higher maintenance, taxes, and property
management expenses with respect to all of our leases that are not “triple net.”
We depend on the availability of public utilities and services, especially for water and electric power. Any reduction, interruption or cancellation of
these services may adversely affect us.
Public utilities, especially those that provide water and electric power, are fundamental for the sound operation of the assets we own through our interests in
the BTC Partnerships. The delayed delivery or any material reduction or prolonged interruption of these services could allow certain customers to terminate
their leases or result in an increase in costs, as we may be forced to use backup generators, which also could be insufficient to fully operate the assets held
through the BTC Partnerships and could result in our inability to provide services. Accordingly, any interruption or limitation in the provision of these
essential services may adversely affect us.
The real estate industry is subject to extensive regulation, which may result in higher expenses or other negative consequences that could adversely
affect us.
Our activities are subject to federal, state and municipal laws, and to regulations, authorizations and license requirements with respect to, among other
things, zoning, environmental protection and historical heritage, all of which may affect our business. We may be required to obtain licenses and permits
with different governmental authorities in order to acquire and manage our assets.
In addition, public authorities may enact new and more stringent standards, or interpret existing laws and regulations in a more restrictive manner, which
may force companies in the real estate industry, including us, to spend funds to comply with these new rules. Any such action on the part of public
authorities may adversely affect the value of our shareholders’ investments.
In the event of noncompliance with such laws, regulations, licenses and authorizations, we may face the payment of fines, project shutdowns, cancellation
of licenses, and revocation of authorizations, in addition to other civil and criminal penalties.
The properties we own indirectly through our interests in the BTC Partnerships are subject to property and other taxes that may increase in the future,
which could adversely affect our cash flow.
The properties we own indirectly through our interests in the BTC Partnerships are subject to real and personal property and other taxes that may increase
as tax rates change and as the properties are assessed or reassessed by taxing authorities. Certain of the leases for these properties provide that the property
taxes, or increases therein, are charged to the lessees as an expense related to the properties that they occupy, while other leases generally provide that we
are responsible for such taxes. In any case, as the owner of the properties, the BTC Partnerships are ultimately responsible for payment of the taxes to the
applicable governmental authorities. If property taxes increase, the customers may be unable to make the required tax payments,
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ultimately requiring the BTC Partnerships to pay the taxes even if otherwise stated under the terms of the lease. If any such taxes are not paid, the
applicable taxing authorities may place a lien on the property and the property may be subject to a tax sale. In addition, the BTC Partnerships will generally
be responsible for property taxes related to any vacant space. Due to our ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships, any such liability for tax payments
could adversely affect our income and returns to our shareholders.
Uninsured losses or premiums for insurance coverage relating to property may adversely affect our operating results.
The BTC Partnerships attempt to adequately insure all of their properties against casualty losses. There are types of losses, generally catastrophic in nature,
such as losses due to wars, acts of terrorism, earthquakes, floods, hurricanes, pollution or environmental matters that are uninsurable or not economically
insurable, or may be insured subject to limitations, such as large deductibles or co-payments. Risks associated with potential terrorism acts could sharply
increase the premiums the BTC Partnerships pay for coverage against property and casualty claims. Additionally, mortgage lenders sometimes require
commercial property owners to purchase specific coverage against terrorism as a condition for providing mortgage loans. These policies may not be
available at a reasonable cost, if at all, which could inhibit our ability to finance or refinance the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships. In such
instances, the BTC Partnerships may be required to provide other financial support, either through financial assurances or self-insurance, to cover potential
losses. Changes in the cost or availability of insurance could expose us to uninsured casualty losses. In the event that any of the properties owned by the
BTC Partnerships incurs a casualty loss which is not fully covered by insurance, the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships will be reduced by any
such uninsured loss. In addition, the BTC Partnerships could be held liable for indemnifying possible victims of an accident. There can be no assurance that
funding will be available to the BTC Partnerships for repair or reconstruction of damaged property in the future or for liability payments to accident
victims.
Environmentally hazardous conditions may adversely affect our operating results.
Under various federal, state and local environmental laws, a current or previous owner or operator of property may be liable for the cost of removing or
remediating hazardous or toxic substances on such property. Such laws often impose liability whether or not the owner or operator knew of, or was
responsible for, the presence of such hazardous or toxic substances. Even if more than one person may have been responsible for the contamination, each
person covered by the environmental laws may be held responsible for all of the clean-up costs incurred. In addition, third parties may sue the owner or
operator of a site for damages based on personal injury, natural resources or property damage or other costs, including investigation and clean-up costs,
resulting from the environmental contamination. The presence of hazardous or toxic substances on one of the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships, or
the failure to properly remediate a contaminated property, could give rise to a lien in favor of the government for costs it may incur to address the
contamination, or otherwise adversely affect our ability to sell or lease the property or borrow using the property as collateral. Environmental laws also
may impose restrictions on the manner in which property may be used or businesses may be operated. A property owner who violates environmental laws
may be subject to sanctions which may be enforced by governmental agencies or, in certain circumstances, private parties. Due to our interests in the BTC
Partnerships, we may be exposed to such costs. The cost of defending against environmental claims, of compliance with environmental regulatory
requirements or of remediating any contaminated property could materially adversely affect our business, assets or results of operations and, consequently,
amounts available for liquidating distributions to our shareholders.
Environmental laws in the U.S. also require that owners or operators of buildings containing asbestos properly manage and maintain the asbestos,
adequately inform or train those who may come into contact with asbestos and undertake special precautions, including removal or other abatement, in the
event that asbestos is disturbed during building renovation or demolition. These laws may impose fines and penalties on building owners or operators who
fail to comply with these requirements and may allow third parties to seek recovery from owners or operators for personal injury associated with exposure
to asbestos. Some of the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships may contain asbestos-containing building materials.
We have, and as the general partner of the BTC Partnerships, intend to continue to, invest in properties historically used for industrial, manufacturing and
commercial purposes. Some of the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships may contain at the time of our investment, or may have contained prior to
our investment, underground storage tanks for the storage of petroleum products and other hazardous or toxic substances. All of these operations create a
potential for the release of petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances. Some of the properties presently owned by the BTC Partnerships and
properties that may be acquired by the BTC Partnerships in the future may be adjacent to or near other properties that have contained or then currently
contain underground storage tanks used to store petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances. In addition, certain of these properties may be
on or adjacent to or near other properties upon which others, including former owners or customers of the properties, have engaged, or may in the future
engage, in activities that may release petroleum products or other hazardous or toxic substances.
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From time to time, we may acquire interests in properties through the BTC Partnerships with known adverse environmental conditions. In such an instance,
we will underwrite the costs of environmental investigation, clean-up and monitoring into the cost, as applicable. Further, in connection with property
dispositions, we and/or the BTC Partnerships may agree to remain responsible for, and to bear the cost of, remediating or monitoring certain environmental
conditions on the properties.
The BTC Partnerships’ properties are generally subject to a Phase I or similar environmental assessment by independent environmental consultants prior to
or in connection with the acquisition of such properties. Phase I assessments are intended to discover and evaluate information regarding the environmental
condition of the surveyed property and surrounding properties. Phase I assessments generally include a historical review, a public records review, an
investigation of the surveyed site and surrounding properties, and preparation and issuance of a written report, but do not include soil sampling or
subsurface investigations and typically do not include an asbestos survey. Nonetheless, an environmental liability that could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition or results of operations taken as a whole, may exist at the time of acquisition or may arise in the future, with respect to
any properties that are acquired by the BTC Partnerships. Material environmental conditions, liabilities or compliance concerns may arise after an
environmental assessment has been completed. Moreover, it is possible that (i) future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose a material environmental
liability or (ii) the then current environmental condition of the properties acquired may be affected by customers, by the condition of land or operations in
the vicinity of such properties (such as releases from underground storage tanks), or by third parties unrelated to us and the BTC Partnerships.
Costs of complying with environmental laws and regulations may adversely affect our income and the cash available for any distributions.
All property and the operations conducted on property are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and
human health and safety. Customers’ ability to operate and to generate income to pay their lease obligations may be affected by permitting and compliance
obligations arising under such laws and regulations. Some of these laws and regulations may impose joint and several liability on customers, owners or
operators for the costs to investigate or remediate contaminated properties, regardless of fault or whether the acts causing the contamination were legal.
Leasing properties to customers that engage in industrial, manufacturing, and commercial activities will cause us to be subject to the risk of liabilities under
environmental laws and regulations. In addition, the presence of hazardous or toxic substances, or the failure to properly remediate these substances, at a
particular property may adversely affect our ability to sell or rent such property or sell our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Some of these laws and regulations have been amended so as to require compliance with new or more stringent standards as of future dates. Compliance
with new or more stringent laws or regulations or stricter interpretation of existing laws may require the BTC Partnerships to incur material expenditures.
Future laws, ordinances or regulations may impose material environmental liability. Additionally, customers’ operations, the existing condition of land
when acquired, operations in the vicinity of the properties, such as the presence of underground storage tanks, or activities of unrelated third parties may
affect the properties. In addition, there are various local, state and federal fire, health, life-safety and similar regulations with which the BTC Partnerships
may be required to comply and which may subject them to liability in the form of fines or damages for noncompliance. Any material expenditures, fines or
damages that the BTC Partnerships must pay may reduce the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships and the amount of liquidating distributions that
we pay to our shareholders. In addition, changes in these laws and governmental regulations, or their interpretation by agencies or the courts, could occur.
The costs associated with complying with the Americans with Disabilities Act may reduce the amount of cash available for liquidating distributions to
our shareholders.
Properties in which we hold an interest may also be subject to the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended. Under this act, all places of public
accommodation are required to comply with federal requirements related to access and use by disabled persons. The act has separate compliance
requirements for “public accommodations” and “commercial facilities” that generally require that buildings and services be made accessible and available
to people with disabilities. The act’s requirements could require the removal access barriers and could result in the imposition of injunctive relief, monetary
penalties or, in some cases, an award of damages. Any monies used to comply with the act may reduce the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships
and the amount of liquidating distributions to our shareholders.
The BTC Partnerships may not have funding for future tenant improvements which may adversely affect the value of their assets, our results of
operations and returns to our shareholders.
If a customer at one of the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships does not renew its lease or otherwise vacates its space in one of their buildings, it is
likely that, in order to attract one or more new customers, the BTC Partnerships will be required to expend substantial funds to construct new tenant
improvements in the vacated space. If the BTC Partnerships do not establish
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sufficient reserves for working capital or obtain adequate secured financing to supply necessary funds for capital improvements or similar expenses, the
BTC Partnerships may be required to defer necessary or desirable improvements to their properties. If they defer such improvements, the applicable
properties may decline in value, and it may be more difficult to attract or retain customers to such properties or the amount of rent that can be charged at
such properties may decrease. There can be no assurance that the BTC Partnerships will have any sources of funding available to the BTC Partnerships for
repair or reconstruction of damaged property in the future.
RISKS RELATED TO DEBT FINANCING
The BTC Partnerships may not be able to obtain debt financing necessary to run their business.
We anticipate that the BTC Partnerships will maintain limited permanent working capital reserves. Accordingly, the BTC Partnerships may need to borrow
capital for acquisitions, the improvement of acquired properties, and for other purposes. Under current or future market conditions, the BTC Partnerships
may not be able to borrow all of the funds they may need. If they cannot obtain debt or equity financing on acceptable terms, their ability to acquire new
investments will be adversely affected. This may negatively impact our results of operations and reduce the amount of liquidating distributions to our
shareholders.
Increases in interest rates and/or unfavorable changes in other financing terms may make it more difficult for the BTC Partnerships to finance the
acquisition, construction, or development of properties or to refinance properties, which could reduce the number of properties they can acquire and
develop, which may reduce the amount of liquidating distributions we can make to our shareholders.
If mortgage debt or construction financing is unavailable on reasonable terms as a result of increased interest rates, increased credit spreads, decreased
liquidity or other factors, the BTC Partnerships may not be able to finance the initial purchase, construction or development of properties. In addition, when
the BTC Partnerships incur debt, they run the risk of being unable to refinance such debt when the loans come due, or of being unable to refinance on
favorable terms. If interest rates are higher or other financing terms, such as principal amortization, are not as favorable when the BTC Partnerships
refinance debt, the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships could be reduced. The BTC Partnerships may be unable to refinance debt at appropriate
times, which may require the disposition of properties on terms that are not advantageous to the BTC Partnerships and us, or, with respect to mortgage debt,
could result in the foreclosure of such properties. With respect to construction financing, the inability to obtain or refinance debt could result in the
abandonment of a development project. If any of these events occur, cash flows at the BTC Partnerships would be reduced. This, in turn, may hinder our
ability to dispose of our interests in the BTC Partnerships and could result in a reduction of the cash available for liquidating distributions to our
shareholders.
Risks related to variable rate indebtedness could increase the amount of the BTC Partnerships’ debt payments and therefore negatively impact our
operating results.
The debt incurred by the BTC Partnerships may be subject to the fluctuation of market interest rates such as the London Interbank Offered Rate, or
“LIBOR”, Prime rate, and other benchmark rates. Should such interest rates continue to increase, the debt payments may also increase, reducing cash flows
at the BTC Partnerships. Furthermore, if the BTC Partnerships need to repay existing debt during periods of rising interest rates, they could be required to
liquidate one or more of investments at times which may not permit realization of the maximum return on such investments. Additionally, an increase in
interest rates may negatively impact activity in the consumer market and reduce consumer purchases, which could adversely affect the properties held
through the BTC Partnerships.
Furthermore, U.S. and international regulators and law enforcement agencies have conducted investigations into a number of rates or indices which are
deemed to be “reference rates.” Actions by such regulators and law enforcement agencies may result in changes to the manner in which certain reference
rates are determined, their discontinuance, or the establishment of alternative reference rates. In particular, on July 27, 2017, the Chief Executive of the
U.K. Financial Conduct Authority (the “FCA”), which regulates LIBOR, stated that it is the FCA’s intention that it will no longer be necessary to persuade
or compel banks to submit rates for the calculation of LIBOR after 2021. Such statement indicates that the continuation of LIBOR on the current basis
cannot and will not be guaranteed after 2021. As a result, it is possible that LIBOR will be discontinued or modified by 2021.
At this time, it is not possible to predict the effect that these developments, any discontinuance, modification or other reforms to LIBOR or any other
reference rate, or the establishment of alternative reference rates may have on LIBOR or other benchmarks. The use of alternative reference rates or other
reforms could cause the interest rates for the BTC Partnerships’ floating rate indebtedness to be materially higher than expected.
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The BTC Partnerships may enter into financing arrangements involving balloon payment obligations, which may adversely affect their ability to
refinance or sell properties on favorable terms, which could negatively impact the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Some of the BTC Partnerships’ financing arrangements may require them to make a lump-sum or “balloon” payment at maturity. Their ability to make a
balloon payment at maturity will be uncertain and may depend upon their ability to obtain additional financing or to sell the particular property. At the time
the balloon payment is due, they may or may not be able to refinance the balloon payment on terms as favorable as the original loan or sell the particular
property at a price sufficient to make the balloon payment. The effect of a refinancing or sale could affect the projected time of disposition of the affected
assets and could negatively affect the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships, resulting in a reduction of the amount of liquidating distributions that
we pay to our shareholders.
RISKS RELATED TO THE ADVISOR AND ITS AFFILIATES
The Advisor’s management personnel, other employees and affiliates face conflicts of interest relating to time management and, accordingly, the
Advisor’s management personnel, other employees and affiliates may not be able to devote adequate time to our business activities and the Advisor may
not be able to hire adequate additional employees.
All of the Advisor’s management personnel, other personnel, affiliates and related parties may also provide services to other Sponsor affiliated entities and
related parties. We are not able to estimate the amount of time that such management personnel, other personnel, affiliates and related parties will devote to
our business. As a result, the Advisor’s management personnel, other personnel, affiliates and related parties may have conflicts of interest in allocating
their time between our business and their other activities, which may include advising and managing various other real estate programs and ventures, which
may be numerous and may change as programs are closed or new programs are formed. During times of significant activity in other programs and ventures,
the time they devote to our business may decline. Accordingly, there is a risk that the Advisor’s affiliates and related parties may not devote adequate time
to our business activities and the Advisor may not be able to hire adequate additional personnel.
The Advisor and its affiliates and related parties, including our officers and some of our trustees, face conflicts of interest caused by compensation
arrangements with us, other Sponsor affiliated entities and related parties and joint venture partners, which could result in actions that are not in our
shareholders’ best interests.
The Advisor and its affiliates and related parties receive substantial fees from us in return for their services and these fees could influence the Advisor’s
advice to us. Further, the Advisor or its affiliates or related parties receive various fees for providing services to the BTC Partnerships, including but not
limited to an asset management fee, with respect to the proportionate interest in the properties held by our joint venture partners. In evaluating investments
and other management strategies, the opportunity to earn these fees may lead the Advisor to place undue emphasis on criteria relating to its compensation
at the expense of other criteria, such as preservation of capital, in order to achieve higher short-term compensation. Among other matters, the compensation
arrangements could affect the judgment of the Advisor or its affiliates or related parties with respect to:
•

Property dispositions by the BTC Partnerships and the ultimate sale of our interests in the BTC Partnerships, which may allow the Advisor, its
affiliates and related parties to earn additional asset management fees and distributions from sales;

•

Property acquisitions by the BTC Partnerships from third parties or Sponsor affiliated entities or related parties, which may allow the Advisor
or its affiliates or related parties to earn additional acquisition, asset management and other fees;

•

Investment opportunities, which may result in more compensation to Sponsor affiliated entities or related parties if allocated to other programs
or business ventures instead of the BTC Partnerships; and

•

Matters related to the completion of our liquidation.

Further, the Advisor may recommend that the BTC Partnerships invest in a particular asset or pay a higher purchase price for the asset than it would
otherwise recommend if it did not receive an acquisition fee. Similarly, the Advisor has incentives to recommend that the BTC Partnerships purchase
properties using debt financing since the acquisition fees and asset management fees that are paid to the Advisor could increase if there is higher level of
debt financing in connection with the acquisition of certain properties. Certain potential acquisition fees and asset management fees paid to the Advisor and
management and leasing fees paid to Black Creek Property Management Company LLC (the “Property Manager”) would be paid irrespective of the quality
of the underlying real estate or property management services during the term of the related agreement. The Advisor is also entitled to a fee equal to a
percentage of the total consideration paid in connection with a disposition. This fee may incentivize the Advisor to recommend the disposition of a property
or properties through a sale,
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merger, or other transaction that may not be in our best interests or the best interests of the BTC Partnerships at the time. In addition, the premature
disposition of an asset may add concentration risk to the portfolio or may be at a price lower than would otherwise be the case of the property were held
until a more opportune time for disposition. Moreover, the Advisor has considerable discretion with respect to the terms and timing of acquisition,
disposition and leasing transactions. Considerations relating to compensation from us or our joint venture partners to the Advisor and its affiliates or related
parties, other Sponsor affiliated entities and related parties and other business ventures could result in decisions that are not in our shareholders’ best
interests, which could negatively affect the value of our interests in the BTC Partnerships, resulting in a reduction of the amount of liquidating distributions
that we pay to our shareholders. Conflicts of interest such as those described above have contributed to shareholder litigation against certain other
externally managed REITs that are not affiliated with us.
We have entered and may continue to enter into transactions with the Advisor or affiliates or other related entities of the Advisor; as a result, in any
such transaction, we may not have the benefit of arm’s length negotiations of the type normally conducted between unrelated parties and we may incur
additional expenses.
We have entered and may continue to enter into transactions with the Advisor or with affiliates or other related entities of the Advisor. For example, we
may dispose of an interest in a property to an affiliate or related party of the Advisor. The BTC Partnerships may also purchase properties developed and
completed by affiliates of the Advisor. The Advisor and/or its management team could experience a conflict in representing our interests in these
transactions. In any such transaction, we will not have the benefit of arm’s length negotiations of the type normally conducted between unrelated parties
and may receive terms that are less beneficial to us than if such transactions were with a third party. In addition, our independent trustees may request that
independent legal counsel be provided to them on any matter in which they deem such counsel appropriate or necessary. If the independent trustees request
independent legal counsel, we will pay the cost of such counsel, which could reduce the cash available to us for other purposes, including paying
liquidating distributions to our shareholders.
We depend on the Advisor and its key personnel; if any of such key personnel were to cease employment with the Advisor or its affiliates, our business
could suffer.
Our ability to successfully complete the Plan of Liquidation is dependent upon the performance of the Advisor with respect to our investment in the BTC
Partnerships. Specifically, with respect to the BTC Partnerships, we depend on the Advisor with respect to the acquisition, disposition and management of
real properties, the selection of customers for the properties, the determination of any financing arrangements at the BTC Partnerships and other factors. In
addition, our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of certain of the Advisor’s key personnel, including, in alphabetical
order, Rajat Dhanda, David M. Fazekas, Andrea L. Karp, Thomas G. McGonagle, Dwight L. Merriman III, Lainie P. Minnick, James R. Mulvihill, Taylor
M. Paul, Scott W. Recknor, Scott Seager, Jeffrey W. Taylor, Peter M. Vanderburg, J.R. Wetzel, Joshua J. Widoff, and Evan H. Zucker, each of whom would
be difficult to replace. We currently do not have, nor do we expect to obtain, key man life insurance on any of the Advisor’s key personnel. If the Advisor
were to lose the benefit of the experience, efforts and abilities of one or more of these individuals through their resignation, retirement, or due to an
internalization transaction effected by another investment program sponsored by the Sponsor or its affiliates, or due to such individual or individuals
becoming otherwise unavailable because of other activities on behalf of the Sponsor or its affiliates, our operating results could suffer.
The fees we pay to the Advisor and its affiliates and related parties in connection with the operation of our business and the acquisition, management
and disposition of our investments were not determined on an arm’s length basis and therefore we do not have the benefit of arm’s length negotiations
of the type normally conducted between unrelated parties.
Substantial fees will continue to be paid to the Advisor and other affiliates and related parties of the Advisor for services they provide to us in connection
with the operation of our business and the acquisition, management and disposition of our investments. None of these arrangements were determined on an
arm’s length basis. As a result, the fees have been determined without the benefit of arm’s length negotiations of the type normally conducted between
unrelated parties.
We will compete with entities sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor, for whom affiliates of the Sponsor provide certain advisory or
management services, for opportunities to acquire or sell investments, and for customers, which may have an adverse impact on our operations.
We compete with existing entities, and may compete with entities created in the future, that are sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor as well as
entities for whom affiliates of the Sponsor provide certain advisory or management services, for opportunities to acquire, lease, finance or sell certain types
of properties. Through our interests in the BTC Partnerships, we may also buy, finance or sell properties at the same time as these entities are buying,
financing or selling properties. In this regard, there is a risk that the BTC Partnerships will purchase a property that provides lower returns than a property
purchased
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by entities sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor and entities for whom affiliates of the Sponsor provide certain advisory or management
services.
Certain entities sponsored or advised by affiliates of the Sponsor own and/or manage properties in geographical areas in which we expect to indirectly own
properties through our interests in the BTC Partnerships. Therefore, our properties may compete for customers with other properties owned and/or
managed by these entities. The Advisor may face conflicts of interest when evaluating customer leasing opportunities for our properties and other
properties owned and/or managed by these entities and these conflicts of interest may have a negative impact on our ability to attract and retain customers
at the properties owned by the BTC Partnerships. The Sponsor and the Advisor have implemented lease allocation guidelines to assist with the process of
the allocation of leases when we, through the BTC Partnerships, and certain other entities to which affiliates of the Advisor are providing certain advisory
services have potentially competing properties with respect to a particular customer. Pursuant to the lease allocation guidelines, if we have an opportunity
to bid on a lease with a prospective customer and one or more of these other entities has a potentially competing property, then, under certain
circumstances, we may not be permitted to bid on the opportunity and in other circumstances, we and the other entities will be permitted to participate in
the bidding process. The lease allocation guidelines are overseen by a joint management committee consisting of our management committee and certain
other management representatives associated with other entities to which affiliates of the Advisor are providing similar services.
Because affiliates of the Sponsor and the Advisor currently sponsor and in the future may advise other investment vehicles (each, an “Investment Vehicle”)
with overlapping investment objectives, strategies and criteria, potential conflicts of interest may arise with respect to industrial real estate investment
opportunities (“Industrial Investments”). In order to manage this potential conflict of interest, in allocating Industrial Investments among the Investment
Vehicles, the Sponsor follows an allocation policy (the “Allocation Policy”) which currently provides that if the Sponsor or one of its affiliates is awarded
and controls an Industrial Investment that is suitable for more than one Investment Vehicle, based upon various Allocation Factors (defined below),
including without limitation availability of capital, portfolio objectives, diversification goals, target investment markets, return requirements, investment
timing and the Investment Vehicle’s applicable approval discretion and timing, then the Industrial Investment will be allocated to Investment Vehicles on a
rotational basis and will be offered to the Investment Vehicle at the top of the rotation list (that is, the Investment Vehicle that has gone the longest without
being allocated an Industrial Investment). If an Investment Vehicle on the list declines the Industrial Investment, it will be rotated to the bottom of the
rotation list. Exceptions may be made to the Allocation Policy for (x) transactions necessary to accommodate an exchange pursuant to Section 1031 of the
U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), or (y) characteristics of a particular Industrial Investment or Investment Vehicle, such as
adjacency to an existing asset, legal, regulatory or tax concerns or benefits, portfolio balancing or other Allocation Factors listed below, which make the
Industrial Investment more advantageous to one of the Investment Vehicles. In addition, the Sponsor may from time to time specify that it will not seek
new allocations for more than one Investment Vehicle until certain minimum allocation levels are reached.
The Sponsor may from time to time grant to certain Investment Vehicles certain exclusivity, rotation or other priority (each, a “Special Priority”) with
respect to Industrial Investments or other investment opportunities. Current existing Special Priorities have been granted to: (i) Build-to-Core Industrial
Partnership III LLC (“BTC III”), pursuant to which BTC III will be presented one out of every three qualifying development Industrial Investments
(subject to the terms and conditions of the BTC III partnership agreement) until such time as capital commitments thereunder have been fully committed;
(ii) Black Creek Industrial Fund LP (“BCIF”) pursuant to which BCIF will be presented one out of every three potential development Industrial
Investments, one out of every five potential value-add Industrial Investments, and one out of every three potential core Industrial Investments (subject to
terms and conditions of the BCIF partnership agreement) until such time as capital commitments accepted by BCIF on or prior to March 31, 2020 have
been called or committed; and (iii) the BTC II Partnership pursuant to which the BTC II Partnership will be presented one out of every three qualifying
development Industrial Investments (subject to terms and conditions of the BTC II Partnership agreement) until such time as capital commitments
thereunder have been fully committed. The Sponsor or its affiliates may grant additional special priorities in the future and from time to time. In addition,
to the extent that a potential conflict of interest arises with respect to an investment opportunity other than an Industrial Investment, the Sponsor currently
expects to manage the potential conflict of interest by allocating the investment in accordance with the principles of the Allocation Policy the Sponsor
follows with respect to Industrial Investments.
“Allocation Factors” are those factors that the Sponsor maintains and updates from time to time based on review by the Sponsor’s Head of Real Estate.
Current examples of Allocation Factors include:
•

Overall investment objectives, strategy and criteria, including product type and style of investing (for example, core, core plus, value-add and
opportunistic);

•

The general real property sector or debt investment allocation targets of each program and any targeted geographic concentration;

•

The cash requirements of each program;
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•

The strategic proximity of the investment opportunity to other assets;

•

The effect of the acquisition on diversification of investments, including by type of property, geographic area, customers, size and risk;

•

The policy of each program relating to leverage of investments;

•

The effect of the acquisition on loan maturity profile;

•

The effect on lease expiration profile;

•

Customer concentration;

•

The effect of the acquisition on ability to comply with any restrictions on investments and indebtedness contained in applicable governing
documents, SEC filings, contracts or applicable law or regulation;

•

The effect of the acquisition on the applicable entity’s intention not to be subject to regulation under the Investment Company Act;

•

Legal considerations, such as Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”) and Foreign Investment in Real
Property Tax Act (“FIRPTA”), that may be applicable to specific investment platforms;

•

The financial attributes of the investment opportunity;

•

Availability of financing;

•

Cost of capital;

•

Ability to service any debt associated with the investment opportunity;

•

Risk return profiles;

•

Targeted distribution rates;

•

Anticipated future pipeline of suitable investments;

•

Expected holding period of the investment opportunity and the applicable entity’s remaining term;

•

Whether the applicable entity still is in its fundraising and acquisition stage, or has substantially invested the proceeds from its fundraising stage;

•

Whether the applicable entity was formed for the purpose of making a particular type of investment;

•

Affiliate and/or related party considerations;

•

The anticipated cash flow of the applicable entity and the asset;

•

Tax effects of the acquisition, including on REIT or partnership qualifications;

•

The size of the investment opportunity; and

•

The amount of funds available to each program and the length of time such funds have been available for investment.

The Sponsor may modify its overall allocation policies from time to time. Any changes to the Sponsor’s allocation policies will be timely reported to our
Conflicts Resolution Committee. The Advisor will be required to provide information to our board of trustees on a quarterly basis to enable our board of
trustees, including the independent trustees, to determine whether such policies are being fairly applied.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR TAXATION AS A REIT
Failure to qualify as a REIT could adversely affect our operations and reduce the amount of any liquidating distributions.
We have operated and have elected to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax purposes, commencing with the taxable year ended December 31,
2013, and we intend to continue to operate in accordance with the requirements for qualification as a REIT. We have not and do not intend to request a
ruling from the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”), as to our REIT status. Our qualification as a REIT will depend on our satisfaction of numerous
requirements (some on an annual and quarterly basis) established under highly technical and complex provisions of the Code, for which there are only
limited judicial or administrative interpretations, and involves the determination of various factual matters and circumstances not entirely within our
control. The complexity of these provisions and of the applicable income tax regulations that have been promulgated under the Code is greater in the case
of a REIT that holds its assets through a partnership, as we do. Moreover, no assurance can be given that legislation, new regulations, administrative
interpretations or court decisions will not change the tax laws with respect to qualification as a REIT or the U.S. federal income tax consequences of that
qualification.
If we were to fail to qualify as a REIT for any taxable year, we would be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our taxable income at corporate rates. In
addition, we would generally be disqualified from treatment as a REIT for the four taxable years following the year in which we lose our REIT status.
While our board of trustees does not presently intend to terminate our REIT status prior to the final liquidating distribution of our assets and our
dissolution, pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation, our
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board of trustees may take actions that would result in such a loss of REIT status. To qualify as a REIT, we must satisfy various ongoing requirements
relating to our organization, the nature of our gross assets and income, the timing and amount of distributions and the composition of our shareholders.
There can be no assurance that we will be able to maintain our REIT qualification. We may encounter difficulties satisfying these requirements as part of
the liquidation process. If we lose our REIT status, we would be taxable as a corporation for U.S. federal income tax purposes and would be liable for U.S.
federal income taxes at the corporate rate with respect to our entire income from operations and from liquidating sales of our assets for the taxable year in
which our qualification as a REIT terminates and in any subsequent years, and we would not be entitled to a tax deduction for distributions that we make.
We would also be subject to increased state and local taxes. As a result of these consequences, our failure to qualify as a REIT could substantially reduce
the funds available for liquidating distributions to our shareholders.
We believe that the Operating Partnership will be treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as a partnership and not as an association or as a publicly
traded partnership taxable as a corporation. If the IRS successfully determines that the Operating Partnership should be treated as a corporation, the
Operating Partnership would be required to pay U.S. federal income tax at corporate rates on its net income, its partners would be treated as shareholders of
the Operating Partnership and distributions to partners would constitute distributions that would not be deductible in computing the Operating Partnership’s
taxable income. In addition, we could fail to qualify as a REIT, with the resulting consequences described above.
To qualify as a REIT, we must meet annual distribution requirements, which may result in us distributing amounts that may otherwise be used for our
operations.
To obtain the favorable tax treatment accorded to REITs, in addition to other qualification requirements, we normally will be required each year to
distribute to our shareholders at least 90% of our REIT taxable income (which may not equal net income as calculated in accordance with GAAP),
determined without regard to the deduction for dividends paid and by excluding net capital gains. We will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on our
undistributed taxable income and net capital gain and to a 4% nondeductible excise tax on any amount by which distributions we pay or are deemed to have
paid with respect to any calendar year are less than the sum of 85% of our ordinary income, 95% of our capital gain net income and 100% of our
undistributed income from prior years. It is possible that we might be required to borrow funds or sell assets to fund these distributions. It is possible that
we might not always be able to continue to make distributions sufficient to meet the annual distribution requirements required to maintain our REIT status,
avoid corporate tax on undistributed income and/or avoid the 4% excise tax. From time to time, we may generate taxable income greater than our income
for financial reporting purposes, or differences in timing between the recognition of taxable income and the actual receipt of cash may occur. If we do not
have other funds available in these situations, we could be required to borrow funds on unfavorable terms or sell investments at disadvantageous prices to
make distributions sufficient to enable us to pay out enough of our taxable income to satisfy the REIT distribution requirement and to avoid corporate
income tax and the 4% excise tax in a particular year. These alternatives could increase our costs or reduce our equity. Thus, compliance with the REIT
requirements could adversely affect our value.
Distributing interests in a partnership upon liquidation may cause shareholders to recognize taxable gain prior to the receipt of cash
Liquidating distributions we make pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation generally will, to the extent of our current earnings and profits for the year of the
liquidating distribution, qualify for the dividends paid deduction, provided that they are made within twenty-four months of January 6, 2020, the date our
shareholders approved the Plan of Liquidation. Conditions may arise which cause us not to be able to liquidate within the twenty-four-month period. For
instance, it may not be possible to sell our assets at acceptable prices during this period. In this event, rather than retaining our assets and risk losing our
status as a REIT, we intend to elect to be treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes. This election would be treated for U.S. federal
income tax purposes as a distribution of our remaining assets to our shareholders, followed by a contribution of the assets to the partnership. As a result,
shareholders would recognize gain prior to the sale of the assets by the partnership and the distribution to shareholders of the net cash proceeds, if any, to
the extent their share of the cash and the fair market value of any assets received by the partnership was greater than their tax basis in their stock (reduced
by the amount of all prior liquidating distributions made to shareholders during the liquidation period). This transfer also may have adverse tax
consequences for tax-exempt and non-U.S. shareholders, including with respect to the on-going activity of the partnership.
In addition, the fair market value of the assets received by the partnership as estimated for purposes of determining the extent of a shareholder’s gain at the
time interests in the liquidating trust are distributed to our shareholders, may exceed the cash or fair market value of property received by the partnership on
a sale of such assets. In this case, a shareholder would recognize a loss in a taxable year subsequent to the taxable year in which the gain was recognized,
which loss may be limited under the Internal Revenue Code.
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If we were to abandon the Plan of Liquidation in a tax year subsequent to one in which we already made liquidating distributions, the timing and
character of shareholders’ taxation with respect to liquidating distributions made to them in the prior tax year could change, which may subject the
shareholder to tax liability.
The U.S. federal income tax consequences of abandoning the Plan of Liquidation once we have begun making liquidating distributions are not entirely
clear, in particular because liquidating distributions could be made in multiple tax years. In general, distributions to shareholders under the Plan of
Liquidation, including their pro rata share of the fair market value of any assets that are transferred to a partnership, should not be taxable to them for U.S.
federal income tax purposes until the aggregate amount of liquidating distributions to them exceeds their respective adjusted tax basis in their shares of
common stock, and then should be taxable to them as capital gain (assuming they hold their shares as a capital asset). However, if we abandon the Plan of
Liquidation, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of any liquidating distributions already made pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation would no longer be
treated as having been made as part of our complete liquidation. Instead, any such distributions could be treated as either a distribution made with respect to
the shares shareholders hold, subject to the normal rules of U.S. federal income tax the distributions they currently receive are subject to, or as payment to
them for the sale or exchange of their shares in partial redemption of them. Treatment as a sale or distribution would depend on their particular
circumstances and we cannot predict which would apply; however, regardless of which treatment would apply, each distribution likely would be at least
partially taxable to them, and potentially at rates applicable to ordinary income rather than to capital gains.
In addition, liquidating distributions we make pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation qualify for the dividends paid deduction to the extent of our current
earnings and profits for the year of the liquidating distribution (which helps us ensure we meet our annual distribution requirement during our liquidation
process), provided that they are made within twenty-four months of the adoption of the plan; however, if such distributions were no longer made pursuant
to our complete liquidation within twenty-four months of the adoption of the Plan of Liquidation, whether any part of the distributions qualify for the
dividends paid deduction will depend on different criteria. If we had made some liquidating distributions in one tax year and we abandoned the Plan of
Liquidation in the subsequent tax year, it is possible that we may not have made sufficient distributions in that first tax year to satisfy our annual
distribution requirement for that tax year which, if we are unable to cure such failure, could result in the loss of our REIT status effective as of the
beginning of that first tax year. Furthermore, we could be treated as having failed to withhold the correct amount with respect to distributions to non-U.S.
shareholders, which could subject us to penalties, thereby reducing the amount available for distribution to our shareholders.
Our shareholders may have current tax liability on distributions if they elected to reinvest in shares of our common stock.
Our distribution reinvestment plan has been terminated, but was available through the first half of 2019. Shareholders who elected to participate in our
distribution reinvestment plan, and who are subject to U.S. federal income taxation laws, incurred a tax liability on an amount equal to the fair market value
on the relevant distribution date of the shares of our common stock purchased with reinvested distributions, to the extent such distribution is properly
treated as being paid out of “earnings and profits,” even though such shareholders elected not to receive the distributions used to purchase those shares of
common stock in cash. As a result, each of our shareholders that is not a tax-exempt entity may have to use funds from other sources to pay such tax
liability on the value of the common stock received.
Distributions payable by REITs do not qualify for the reduced tax rates that apply to other corporate distributions.
The maximum tax rate applicable to income from “qualified dividends” payable to U.S. shareholders that are individuals, trusts and estates is currently
20.0% plus a 3.8% “Medicare tax” surcharge. Distributions payable by REITs, however, generally continue to be taxed at the normal rate applicable to the
individual recipient on ordinary income (rather than the 20.0% preferential rate), and are also subject to the 3.8% Medicare tax. For taxable years beginning
before January 1, 2026, however, REIT distributions (other than distributions designated as capital gain distributions and distributions traceable to
distributions from a taxable REIT subsidiary), which are received by a pass-through entity or an individual, are eligible for a 20% deduction from gross
income. Notwithstanding the 20% deduction for REIT dividends, the more favorable rates applicable to regular corporate distributions could cause
investors who are individuals to perceive investments in REITs to be relatively less attractive than investments in the stocks of non-REIT corporations that
pay distributions, which could adversely affect the value of our common shares.
In certain circumstances, we may be subject to U.S. federal and state income taxes as a REIT, which would reduce our cash available for distribution to
our shareholders.
Even if we qualify and maintain our status as a REIT, we may be subject to U.S. federal income taxes or state taxes. For example, net income from a
“prohibited transaction” will be subject to a 100% tax. We may not be able to make sufficient distributions to avoid excise taxes applicable to REITs. We
may also decide to retain income we earn from the sale or other disposition of our properties and pay income tax directly on such income. In that event, our
shareholders would be treated as if
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they had earned that income and paid the tax on it directly, would be eligible to receive a credit or refund of the taxes deemed paid on the income deemed
earned, and shall increase the adjusted basis of its shares by the excess of such deemed income over the amount of taxes deemed paid. However,
shareholders that are tax-exempt, such as charities or qualified pension plans, would have no benefit from their deemed payment of such tax liability. We
may also be subject to state and local taxes on our income or property, either directly or at the level of the companies through which we indirectly own our
assets. Any U.S. federal or state taxes we pay will reduce our cash available to pay liquidating distributions to our shareholders.
Distributions to tax-exempt investors may be classified as unrelated business taxable income.
Neither ordinary nor capital gain distributions with respect to our common shares, or gain from the sale of common shares should generally constitute
unrelated business taxable income to a tax-exempt investor. However, there are certain exceptions to this rule. In particular:
•

Part of the income and gain recognized by certain qualified employee pension trusts with respect to our common shares may be treated as
unrelated business taxable income if our common shares are predominately held by qualified employee pension trusts, and we are required to
rely on a special look-through rule for purposes of meeting one of the REIT share ownership tests, and we are not operated in a manner to avoid
treatment of such income or gain as unrelated business taxable income;

•

Part of the income and gain recognized by a tax-exempt investor with respect to our common shares would constitute unrelated business
taxable income if the investor incurs debt in order to acquire the common shares; and

•

Part or all of the income or gain recognized with respect to our common shares by social clubs, voluntary employee benefit associations,
supplemental unemployment benefit trusts and qualified group legal services plans which are exempt from U.S. federal income taxation under
Sections 501(c)(7), (9), (17), or (20) of the Code may be treated as unrelated business taxable income.

Our investments in the BTC Partnerships could subject us to the tax risks associated with the tax status of such entities.
Our investments in the BTC Partnerships are subject to the risk that one or both of the partnerships may fail to satisfy the requirements to qualify as a
partnership in any given taxable year. Such failure could subject the applicable partnership to an entity level tax and reduce the entity’s ability to make
distributions to us. In addition, such failures could, depending on the circumstances, jeopardize our ability to qualify as a REIT.
Legislative or regulatory action could adversely affect us or our shareholders.
In recent years, numerous legislative, judicial and administrative changes have been made to the U.S. federal income tax laws applicable to investments in
REITs and similar entities, including, without limitation, the tax reform that took effect on January 1, 2018. Additional changes to tax laws may continue to
occur in the future and may take effect retroactively, and there can be no assurance that any such changes will not adversely affect how we are taxed or the
taxation of our shareholders. We urge our shareholders to consult with their own tax advisor with respect to the status of legislative, regulatory or
administrative developments and proposals and their potential effect on an investment in our common shares.
Foreign investors may be subject to FIRPTA on the sale of common shares if we are unable to qualify as a domestically controlled REIT.
A foreign person (other than a “qualified foreign pension plan”) disposing of a U.S. real property interest, including shares of a U.S. corporation whose
assets consist principally of U.S. real property interests, is generally subject to a tax under FIRPTA, on the gain recognized on the disposition. FIRPTA
does not apply, however, to the disposition of stock in a REIT if the REIT is a “domestically controlled REIT.” A domestically controlled REIT is a REIT
in which, at all times during a specified testing period, less than 50% in value of its shares is held directly or indirectly by non-U.S. holders. There can be
no assurance that we will qualify as a domestically controlled REIT. If we were to fail to so qualify, gain realized by a foreign investor (other than a
“qualified foreign pension plan”) on a sale of our common shares would be subject to FIRPTA unless our common shares was traded on an established
securities market and the foreign investor did not at any time during a specified testing period directly or indirectly own more than 10% of the value of our
outstanding common shares. We are not traded on an established securities market.
Each of our Subsidiary REITs must individually qualify as a REIT, and failure of any one of our Subsidiary REITs to qualify as a REIT could also
cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT.
We indirectly own equity interests in wholly-owned subsidiaries of the BTC Partnerships (the “Subsidiary REITs”) and we currently intend to directly or
indirectly own additional Subsidiary REITs. Each Subsidiary REIT has elected or will elect to be treated as a REIT, and we intend that each Subsidiary
REIT will qualify as a REIT. Each Subsidiary REIT is subject to, and
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must comply with the same requirements that we must satisfy in order to qualify as a REIT, together with all other rules applicable to REITs. The risks
described under the caption “Risks Related to Our Taxation as REIT” also apply to each of the Subsidiary REITs. If a Subsidiary REIT fails to qualify as a
REIT, it would be subject to U.S. federal income tax at regular corporate rates, and such Subsidiary REIT would remain disqualified as a REIT for four
years following the year in which it lost its REIT status. Moreover, we may also fail to qualify as REIT in the event that one or more of our Subsidiary
REITs fails to qualify as a REIT.
INVESTMENT COMPANY RISKS
We are not registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, and therefore we will not be subject to the requirements imposed
on an investment company by the Investment Company Act which may limit or otherwise affect our investment choices.
We, the Operating Partnership, and our subsidiaries intend to conduct our businesses so that we are not required to register as “investment companies”
under the Investment Company Act. We expect that the focus of our activities will involve investments in real estate, buildings, and other assets that can be
referred to as “sticks and bricks” and therefore we will not be an investment company under Section 3(a)(1)(A) of the Investment Company Act. We also
may invest in other real estate investments, such as real estate-related securities, and will otherwise be considered to be in the real estate business.
Companies subject to the Investment Company Act are required to comply with a variety of substantive requirements such as requirements relating to:
•

Limitations on the capital structure of the entity;

•

Restrictions on certain investments;

•

Prohibitions on transactions with affiliated entities; and

•

Public reporting disclosures, record keeping, voting procedures, proxy disclosure and similar corporate governance rules and regulations.

These and other requirements are intended to provide benefits or protections to security holders of investment companies. Because we and our subsidiaries
do not expect to be subject to these requirements, our shareholders will not be entitled to these benefits or protections. It is our policy to operate in a
manner that will not require us to register as an investment company, and we do not expect to register as an “investment company” under the Investment
Company Act.
Whether a company is an investment company can involve analysis of complex laws, regulations and SEC staff interpretations. We and the Operating
Partnership intend to conduct operations so as not to become subject to regulation as an investment company under the Investment Company Act. The
securities issued by any subsidiary that is excepted from the definition of “investment company” under Section 3(c)(1) or Section 3(c)(7) of the Investment
Company Act, together with any other “investment securities” (as used in the Investment Company Act) its parent may own, may not have a combined
value in excess of 40% of the value of the parent entity’s total assets on an unconsolidated basis (which we refer to as the 40% test). In other words, even if
some interests in other entities were deemed to be investment securities, so long as such investment securities do not comprise more than 40% of an entity’s
assets, the entity will not be required to register as an investment company. If an entity held investment securities and the value of these securities exceeded
40% of the value of its total assets, and no other exemption from registration was available, then that entity might be required to register as an investment
company.
We do not expect that we, the Operating Partnership, or other subsidiaries will be an investment company because, if we have any securities that are
considered to be investment securities held by an entity, then we will seek to assure that holdings of investment securities in such entity will not exceed
40% of the total assets of that entity as calculated under the Investment Company Act. In order to operate in compliance with that standard, each entity may
be required to conduct its business in a manner that takes account of these provisions. We, the Operating Partnership, the BTC Partnerships or a subsidiary
could be unable to sell assets we would otherwise want to sell or may need to sell assets we would otherwise wish to retain, if we deem it necessary to
remain in compliance with the 40% test.
If we, the Operating Partnership, the BTC Partnerships, or any subsidiary owns assets that qualify as “investment securities” as such term is defined under
the Investment Company Act and the value of such assets exceeds 40% of the value of its total assets, the entity could be deemed to be an investment
company. In that case the entity would have to qualify for an exemption from registration as an investment company in order to operate without registering
as an investment company. Certain of the subsidiaries that we may form in the future could seek to rely upon the exemption from registration as an
investment company under the Investment Company Act pursuant to Section 3(c)(5)(C) of that Act, which is available for entities, among other things,
“primarily engaged in the business of purchasing or otherwise acquiring mortgages and other liens on and interests in real estate.” This exemption, as
interpreted by the staff of the SEC, generally requires that at least 55% of our subsidiaries’
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portfolios must be comprised of qualifying assets and at least 80% of each of their total portfolios of assets must be comprised of a combination of
qualifying assets and other real estate-related assets (as such terms have been interpreted by the staff of the SEC under the Investment Company Act), and
no more than 20% may be comprised of assets that are neither qualifying assets nor real estate-related assets. Qualifying assets for this purpose include
certain mortgage loans and other assets that the SEC staff, in various no-action letters, has determined are the functional equivalent of mortgage loans for
the purposes of the Investment Company Act. We intend to treat as real estate-related assets those assets that do not qualify for treatment as qualifying
assets, including any securities of companies primarily engaged in real estate businesses that are not within the scope of SEC staff positions and/or
interpretations regarding qualifying assets. In order to assure that the composition of assets of an entity meets the required standard, an entity may have to
buy, hold, or sell an asset that it might otherwise prefer not to buy, sell, or hold at that time.
In addition, we, the Operating Partnership, the BTC Partnerships, and/or our subsidiaries may rely upon other exceptions and exemptions, including the
exemptions provided by Section 3(c)(6) of the Investment Company Act (which exempts, among other things, parent entities whose primary business is
conducted through majority-owned subsidiaries relying upon the exemption provided by Section 3(c)(5)(C), discussed above), from the definition of an
investment company and the registration requirements under the Investment Company Act. There can be no assurance that the laws and regulations
governing the Investment Company Act status of REITs (and/or their subsidiaries), including actions by the Division of Investment Management of the
SEC providing more specific or different guidance regarding these exemptions, will not change in a manner that adversely affects our operations. For
example, on August 31, 2011, the SEC issued a concept release requesting comments regarding a number of matters relating to the exemption provided by
Section 3(c)(5)(C) of the Investment Company Act, including the nature of assets that qualify for purposes of the exemption and whether mortgage REITs
should be regulated in a manner similar to investment companies. To the extent that the SEC or the SEC staff provides more specific guidance regarding
any of the matters bearing upon the exemptions discussed above or other exemptions from the definition of investment company under the Investment
Company Act upon which we may rely, we may be required to change the way we conduct our business or adjust our strategy accordingly. Any additional
guidance from the SEC staff could provide additional flexibility to us, or it could further inhibit our ability to pursue the strategies we have chosen. If we
fail to qualify for an exemption from registration as an investment company or an exclusion from the definition of an investment company, our ability to
use leverage and other business strategies would be substantially reduced. Our business could be materially and adversely affected if we fail to qualify for
an exemption or exclusion from regulation under the Investment Company Act.
If we or the Operating Partnership is required to register as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, the additional expenses and
operational limitations associated with such registration may reduce our shareholders’ investment return or impair our ability to conduct our business
as planned.
If we become an investment company or are otherwise required to register as an investment company, we might be required to revise some of our current
policies, or substantially restructure our business, to comply with the Investment Company Act. This would likely require us to incur the expense and delay
of holding a shareholder meeting to vote on proposals for such changes. Further, if we were required to register as an investment company, but failed to do
so, we would be prohibited from engaging in our business, criminal and civil actions could be brought against us, some of our contracts might be
unenforceable, unless a court were to direct enforcement, and a court could appoint a receiver to take control of us and liquidate our business.
ERISA RISKS
If our assets are deemed to be ERISA plan assets, the Advisor and we may be exposed to liabilities under Title I of ERISA and the Code.
In some circumstances where an ERISA plan holds an interest in an entity, the assets of the entire entity are deemed to be ERISA plan assets unless an
exception applies. This is known as the “look-through rule.” Under those circumstances, the obligations and other responsibilities of plan sponsors, plan
fiduciaries and plan administrators, and of parties in interest and disqualified persons, under Title I of ERISA and Section 4975 of the Code, as applicable,
may be applicable, and there may be liability under these and other provisions of ERISA and the Code. We believe that our assets should not be treated as
plan assets because the shares should qualify as “publicly-offered securities” that are exempt from the look-through rules under applicable Treasury
Regulations. We note, however, that because certain limitations are imposed upon the transferability of shares so that we may qualify as a REIT, and
perhaps for other reasons, it is possible that this exemption may not apply. If that is the case, and if the Advisor or we are exposed to liability under ERISA
or the Code, our performance and results of operations could be adversely affected.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2019, we owned and managed, either directly or through our 20% minority ownership interest in the BTC I Partnership and our 8%
minority ownership interest in the BTC II Partnership, a real estate portfolio that included 296 industrial buildings totaling approximately 53.3 million
square feet located in 26 markets throughout the U.S., with 506 customers, and was 90.2% leased with a weighted-average remaining lease term (based on
square feet) of approximately 4.0 years. As of December 31, 2019:
•

we directly owned a consolidated real estate portfolio that consisted of 236 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 37.5 million
square feet that were approximately 96.1% leased.

•

the BTC I Partnership owned a real estate portfolio that consisted of 39 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 11.1
million square feet that were approximately 81.3% leased; three buildings under construction totaling 0.7 million square feet; four buildings in the
pre-construction phase for an additional 0.7 million square feet; and one land parcel.

•

the BTC II Partnership owned a real estate portfolio that consisted of 21 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 4.7 million square
feet that were approximately 64.0% leased; four buildings under construction totaling 1.0 million square feet; and nine buildings in the preconstruction phase for an additional 3.4 million square feet.

From January 2014 through December 2019, we had acquired, either directly or through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships, 326
buildings comprised of approximately 57.0 million square feet for an aggregate total purchase price, including costs to complete development projects, of
approximately $4.4 billion. We funded these acquisitions primarily with proceeds from our public offering, institutional equity, and debt financings. In
addition, since January 2014, we have disposed of, either directly or through our minority ownership interests in our joint venture partnerships, 30
buildings comprised of approximately 3.8 million square feet for an aggregate gross sales price of $359.4 million.
Unless otherwise indicated, the term “property” as used herein refers to one or more buildings in the same market that were acquired by us in the same
transaction.
On January 8, 2020, we completed the Asset Sale and sold all of the properties in our consolidated portfolio. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” for further information regarding the Asset Sale.
Building Types. Our industrial buildings consist primarily of warehouses and distribution facilities suitable for single or multiple customers. The following
table summarizes our portfolio by building type as of December 31, 2019:
% of Total Rentable
Square Feet
Building Type

Description

Total (1)

Consolidated (2)

Bulk distribution

Building size of 150,000 to over 1 million square feet, single or multi-customer

75.4%

70.3%

Light industrial

Building size below 150,000 square feet, single or multi-customer

23.5

28.2

Flex industrial

Includes assembly or research and development, primarily multi-customer

0.7

1.0

Freezer/Cooler

Food distribution, primarily single customer

(1)
(2)

0.4

0.5

100.0%

100.0%

Represents our total portfolio of owned and managed properties, including our consolidated and unconsolidated properties, as of December 31, 2019.
Unconsolidated properties are those owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. Properties owned through the BTC
Partnerships are shown as if we owned a 100% interest.
Represents only our consolidated properties. These properties met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2019 and were sold
as part of the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail regarding the Asset Sale.

Portfolio Overview and Market Diversification. As of December 31, 2019, the average effective annual rent of our total real estate portfolio (calculated by
dividing total annualized base rent, which includes the impact of any contractual tenant concessions (cash basis), by total occupied square footage) was
approximately $5.08 per square foot. The following table summarizes certain operating metrics of our portfolio by market as of December 31, 2019:
($ and square feet in thousands)

Number of
Buildings

Total Rentable
Square Feet

% of Total Rentable
Square Feet

Leased
Rate

Total Annualized
Base Rent (1)

% of Total Annualized
Base Rent

Consolidated Properties (2):
Atlanta

23

3,143

27

5.9%

98.6%

$

13,767

5.8%
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($ and square feet in thousands)

Number of
Buildings

Total Rentable
Square Feet

% of Total Rentable
Square Feet

Leased
Rate

Total Annualized
Base Rent (1)

% of Total Annualized
Base Rent

Austin

1

76

0.1

100.0

500

0.2

Baltimore/D.C.

14

1,637

3.1

97.9

8,803

3.7

Central Valley

6

1,273

2.4

100.0

5,746

2.4

Charlotte

1

560

1.1

100.0

2,266

0.9

Chicago

16

3,429

6.3

91.2

13,955

5.8

Cincinnati

6

1,350

2.5

100.0

5,038

2.1

Dallas

13

2,970

5.6

87.5

10,703

4.5

Denver

4

753

1.4

100.0

3,944

1.6

Houston

21

2,217

4.2

88.8

10,789

4.5

Indianapolis

3

1,068

2.0

100.0

4,198

1.7

Las Vegas

1

382

0.7

100.0

1,887

0.8

Louisville

6

2,190

4.1

100.0

8,558

3.6

Memphis

7

2,602

4.9

100.0

7,755

3.2

Nashville

1

557

1.0

100.0

2,000

0.8

New Jersey

9

1,470

2.8

98.9

9,894

4.1

Pennsylvania

14

2,425

4.6

100.0

10,556

4.4

Phoenix

11

884

1.7

91.7

5,905

2.5

Portland

17

2,218

4.2

97.7

11,352

4.7

Salt Lake City

2

406

0.8

100.0

2,025

0.8

San Francisco Bay Area

15

1,709

3.2

85.0

12,659

5.3

Seattle

20

1,294

2.4

98.0

9,941

4.1

South Florida

4

205

0.4

100.0

1,451

0.6

Southern California

21

2,652

5.0

98.7

15,946

6.7

236

37,470

70.4

96.1

179,638

74.8

Atlanta

9

2,383

4.5

78.2

6,233

2.6

Austin

5

442

0.8

95.7

3,057

1.3

Baltimore/D.C.

1

106

0.2

100.0

986

0.4

Central Valley

2

1,073

2.0

43.1

1,718

0.7

Chicago

3

502

0.9

47.5

1,147

0.5

Dallas

4

1,417

2.7

100.0

5,516

2.3

Houston

2

487

0.9

82.4

1,956

0.8

New Jersey

4

904

1.7

100.0

6,145

2.6

Pennsylvania

6

1,931

3.6

64.5

6,485

2.7

Portland

1

160

0.3

100.0

1,301

0.5

San Antonio

5

588

1.1

100.0

2,923

1.2

San Diego

2

268

0.5

100.0

2,000

0.8

San Francisco Bay Area

3

845

1.6

18.5

710

0.3

Seattle

3

1,341

2.5

61.1

5,925

2.5

South Florida

1

7

—

100.0

255

0.1

Southern California

9

3,336

6.3

88.7

13,976

5.9

60

15,790

29.6

76.1

60,333

25.2

296

53,260

100.0%

239,971

100.0%

Total consolidated portfolio
Unconsolidated Properties (3):

Total unconsolidated portfolio
Total portfolio

(1)

90.2%

$

Annualized base rent is calculated as monthly base rent including the impact of any contractual tenant concessions (cash basis) per the terms of the
lease as of December 31, 2019, multiplied by 12.
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(2)
(3)

Represents our wholly-owned real estate portfolio that was part of the Asset Sale. These properties met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as
of December 31, 2019. We completed the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail
regarding the Asset Sale.
Represents acquired or completed buildings owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. These properties are shown as
if we owned a 100% interest.

Lease Terms. Our industrial properties are typically subject to leases on a “triple net basis,” in which customers pay their proportionate share of real estate
taxes, insurance, common area maintenance, and certain other operating costs. In addition, most of our leases include fixed rental increases or Consumer
Price Index-based rental increases. Lease terms typically range from one to 10 years, and often include renewal options.
Lease Expirations. As of December 31, 2019, the weighted-average remaining lease term (based on square feet) of our total occupied portfolio was
approximately 4.0 years, excluding renewal options. The following table summarizes the lease expirations of our occupied portfolio for leases in place as of
December 31, 2019, without giving effect to the exercise of renewal options or termination rights, if any:
Occupied Square Feet
($ and square feet in
thousands)

Number of
Leases (1)

Total (1)

Annualized Base Rent (3)
Consolidated (2)

Total (1)

Consolidated (2)

2020

73

3,513

7.4

3,155

8.8

18,634

7.8

16,921

9.4

2021

98

7,618

16.1

6,922

19.4

38,612

16.1

35,018

19.5

2022

105

7,809

16.5

6,678

18.7

38,107

15.8

32,654

18.1

2023

89

7,637

16.2

6,036

16.9

39,236

16.3

30,692

17.0

2024

77

5,368

11.4

3,112

8.7

30,378

12.7

18,295

10.2

2025

50

5,058

10.7

4,233

11.8

25,249

10.5

19,989

11.1

2026

28

5,001

10.6

2,998

8.4

23,197

9.7

12,506

7.0

2027

12

1,888

4.0

1,274

3.6

8,063

3.3

7,097

4.0

2028

10

1,562

3.3

389

1.1

9,042

3.8

2,795

1.6

2029

8

1,308

2.8

441

1.2

7,412

3.1

1,927

1.1

Thereafter
Total occupied

(1)
(2)
(3)

6
556

492
47,254

1.0
100.0%

485

1.4

35,723

100.0%

2,041
$

239,971

0.9
100.0%

1,744
$

179,638

1.0
100.0%

Represents our total portfolio of owned and managed properties, including our consolidated and unconsolidated properties, as of December 31, 2019.
Unconsolidated properties are those owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. Properties owned through the BTC
Partnerships are shown as if we owned a 100% interest.
Represents only our consolidated properties. These properties met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2019 and were sold
as part of the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail regarding the Asset Sale.
Annualized base rent is calculated as monthly base rent including the impact of any contractual tenant concessions (cash basis) per the terms of the
lease as of December 31, 2019, multiplied by 12.
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Customer Diversification. As of December 31, 2019, there were no customers that individually represented more than 5.0% of total annualized base rent or
total occupied square feet. The following table reflects our 10 largest customers, based on annualized base rent, which occupied a combined 7.1 million
square feet as of December 31, 2019:
% of Total Annualized
Base Rent (1)

Customer

FedEx Corporation

1.9%

1.0%

Geodis Logistics LLC

1.9

2.6

National Distribution Centers, LLC

1.7

1.8

Steelcase Inc.

1.5

1.3

Radial, Inc.

1.5

2.0

Amazon.com, Inc.

1.4

1.4

Superior Brokerage Services Inc.

1.3

0.9

XPO Logistics Supply Chain, Inc.

1.3

1.5

Ledvance LLC

1.2

1.1

Victory Packaging

1.2

1.4

14.9%

15.0%

Total

(1)

% of Total Occupied
Square Feet (1)

Represents our total portfolio of owned and managed properties, including our consolidated and unconsolidated properties, as of December 31, 2019.
Unconsolidated properties are those owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. Properties owned through the BTC
Partnerships are shown as if we owned a 100% interest.

The majority of our customers do not have a public corporate credit rating. We evaluate creditworthiness and financial strength of prospective customers
based on financial, operating and business plan information that is provided to us by such prospective customers, as well as other market, industry, and
economic information that is generally publicly available.
Industry Diversification. The table below illustrates the diversification of our portfolio by industry classifications of our customers as of December 31,
2019:
Annualized Base Rent (3)
($ and square feet in thousands)

Number of
Leases (1)

Transportation / Logistics

66

Food & Beverage
Manufacturing

Total (1)

$

Occupied Square Feet

Consolidated (2)

35,764

14.9%

43

20,148

50

18,101

eCommerce / Fulfillment

13

Home Furnishings
Auto
Home Improvement
Packaging
Electrical / Wire

$

Total (1)

Consolidated (2)

23,377

13.0%

7,816

16.5%

5,319

14.9%

8.4

14,842

8.3

3,496

7.4

2,541

7.1

7.5

14,553

8.1

3,398

7.2

2,684

7.5

15,862

6.6

10,115

5.6

4,154

8.8

3,062

8.6

25

15,661

6.5

9,664

5.4

3,028

6.4

1,915

5.4

32

11,530

4.8

8,241

4.6

2,463

5.2

1,799

5.0

39

11,251

4.7

8,684

4.8

2,225

4.7

1,816

5.1

18

10,749

4.5

10,018

5.6

2,498

5.3

2,336

6.5

18

10,079

4.2

9,260

5.2

1,952

4.1

1,807

5.1

Storage / Warehousing

25

9,532

4.0

5,611

3.1

1,788

3.8

1,053

2.9

Other

227

81,294

33.9

65,273

36.3

14,436

30.6

11,391

31.9

Total

556

239,971

100.0%

179,638

100.0%

47,254

100.0%

35,723

100.0%

(1)
(2)
(3)

$

$

Represents our total portfolio of owned and managed properties, including our consolidated and unconsolidated properties, as of December 31, 2019.
Unconsolidated properties are those owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. Properties owned through the BTC
Partnerships are shown as if we owned a 100% interest.
Represents only our consolidated properties. These properties met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2019 and were sold
as part of the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail regarding the Asset Sale.
Annualized base rent is calculated as monthly base rent including the impact of any contractual tenant concessions (cash basis) per the terms of the
lease as of December 31, 2019, multiplied by 12.
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Debt Obligations. As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately $1.6 billion of consolidated indebtedness with a weighted-average interest rate of
3.04%, which includes the effects of the interest rate swap agreements. The weighted-average remaining term of our consolidated debt as of December 31,
2019 was 2.5 years, excluding extension options. The total gross book value of properties encumbered by our consolidated debt as of December 31, 2019
was approximately $1.2 billion. Subsequent to December 31, 2019, we repaid all of our wholly-owned outstanding debt in connection with the closing of
the Asset Sale. See “Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information regarding our debt. As of December 31, 2019, the BTC
Partnerships, in which we own minority interests, had an aggregate $749.2 million of debt outstanding.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
As of the date hereof, there are no material pending legal proceedings to which we are a party or of which any of our properties are the subject.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SHAREHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES
OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Information
There is no public trading market for our common shares, and our share redemption program is only available on a limited basis in connection with the
death of a shareholder. As disclosed elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, we completed the sale of all of our wholly-owned real properties
pursuant to the Asset Sale in January 2020 and have adopted the Plan of Liquidation. We intend to sell our minority interests in the BTC Partnerships and
complete the liquidation of our assets pursuant to the Plan of Liquidation by or before January 2022. Although this is our present intention, there can be no
assurance that we will complete the liquidation during that timeframe.
In order to assist the Financial Industrial Regulatory Authority (“FINRA”) members and their associated persons that participated in the offer and sale of
our common shares pursuant to our public offering in their efforts to comply with FINRA Rule 2231, we disclose in each annual report distributed to
shareholders a per share estimated NAV of our common shares, the method by which it was developed, and the date of the data used to develop the
estimated NAV.
Estimated NAV Per Share
Overview
Based on the recommendation from the Valuation Committee, as described below, on January 7, 2020, our board of trustees (which, at the time, was our
board of directors, prior to our conversion to a Maryland REIT) unanimously approved an estimated NAV of our common stock as of January 8, 2020 of
$1.25 per share (after taking into account the Special Distribution of $12.54 per share) based on the number of shares issued and outstanding as of that date.
The estimated NAV per share was determined in accordance with our valuation policy, utilizing guidelines established by the Institute for Portfolio
Alternatives in its Practice Guideline 2013-01— “Valuation of Publicly Registered, Non-Listed REITs” issued on April 29, 2013. It is currently anticipated
that the estimated NAV per share will next be determined and disclosed no later than January 2021.
Process
Our valuation committee comprised of our independent trustees (the “Valuation Committee”), acted as follows: (i) approved the engagement of a thirdparty valuation firm to appraise the value of the real properties owned by the BTC Partnerships and assess the reasonableness of the Company’s estimated
NAV per share; (ii) oversaw the valuation process and methodologies used to determine the estimated NAV per share; (iii) reviewed the third-party
valuation firm’s assessment of the reasonableness of the estimated NAV per share calculated by the Advisor; and (iv) recommended the final proposed
estimated NAV per share to our board of trustees. The Valuation Committee approved the engagement of CBRE Capital Advisors, Inc. (“CBRE Cap”), an
affiliate of CBRE Group, Inc. CBRE Cap is an independent FINRA registered broker dealer firm that specializes in providing real estate financial services.
For this purpose, CBRE Cap commissioned CBRE Valuation & Advisory Services, an affiliate of CBRE Cap, to provide third-party appraisals for the real
properties owned by the BTC Partnerships. Additionally, CBRE Cap provided a conclusion as to the reasonableness of the estimated NAV per share of our
common stock as of January 8, 2020 as recommended by the Valuation Committee. The final estimated NAV per share was ultimately and solely the
decision of our board of trustees.
CBRE’s scope of work described herein was performed in accordance with the Code of Ethics and Uniform Standards of Professional Appraisal Practice.
CBRE Valuation & Advisory Services provided appraisals of the real properties owned by the BTC Partnerships as of December 31, 2019. Real properties
acquired between December 1, 2019 and January 8, 2020 were included at cost. The real property held for sale during that same time period was included
at the contract sales price. Each of the appraisals was prepared by individuals who are members of the Appraisal Institute and have the Member of
Appraisal Institute (“MAI”) designation.
For CBRE Cap’s scope of service described herein, we paid CBRE Cap a customary fee for service of this nature, no part of which was contingent relating
to the provision of services or specific findings. In addition, we have agreed to indemnify CBRE Cap against certain liabilities arising out of this
engagement. The compensation we paid to CBRE Cap for services described herein is based on the scope of work and not on the appraised values of the
properties or the estimated NAV per share.
With the approval of the Valuation Committee, we had also separately and previously engaged and compensated CBRE Cap to serve as a real estate advisor
to the Company in connection with the Asset Sale in January 2020. In addition, affiliates of the Company’s sponsor have engaged and compensated CBRE
Cap or its affiliates over the past two years to provide third-party
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appraisals of certain other properties, as well as for other real estate-related services relating to capital markets, leasing, financing and other property-level
transactions. The Company anticipates that CBRE Cap or its affiliates will continue to provide similar or other real estate-related services in the future for
the Company and the Company’s affiliates. In addition, the Company may in its discretion engage CBRE Cap or its affiliates to assist the Board in future
determinations of the Company’s estimated NAV per share. In the ordinary course of their business, directors and officers of CBRE Cap and its affiliates
may structure and effect transactions for their own accounts or for the accounts of their customers in commercial real estate assets of the same kind and in
the same markets as the Company’s assets. Other than the engagements described herein, CBRE Cap or its affiliates do not have, and during the past two
years CBRE Cap or its affiliates have not had, any direct interests in any other transaction with us, the sponsor or our respective affiliates.
From the start of its engagement through the issuance of its conclusion as to the reasonableness of our estimated NAV per share as of January 8, 2020,
CBRE Cap held discussions with the Advisor, and conducted such appraisals, investigations, research, review and analyses as it deemed necessary to issue
its conclusion. In assessing the reasonableness of the estimated NAV per share, CBRE Cap reviewed the real property appraisals CBRE Valuation &
Advisory Services had prepared and information provided by the Advisor regarding certain balance sheet items of the BTC Partnerships including cash,
tenant receivables, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and other assets and liabilities. CBRE Cap relied on the information provided by the Advisor,
and CBRE Cap and its affiliates are not responsible for the accuracy of the information provided to it by the Advisor or the Company. Although CBRE Cap
reviewed information supplied or otherwise made available by us or the Advisor, it assumed and relied upon the accuracy and completeness of all such
information and of all information supplied or otherwise made available to it by any other party and did not independently verify any such information.
CBRE Cap has assumed that any operating or financial forecasts and other information and data provided to or otherwise reviewed by or discussed with
CBRE Cap were reasonably prepared in good faith on bases reflecting the best currently available estimates and judgments (including subjective
judgments) of our management, our board of trustees, and/or the Advisor. CBRE Cap relied on us to advise it promptly if any information previously
provided became inaccurate or was required to be updated during the period of their review. CBRE Cap assumes no obligation to update or otherwise
revise these materials. In rendering its services, CBRE Cap did not, and was not requested to, solicit third-party indications of interest for our stock in
connection with possible purchases thereof or the acquisition of all or any part of the Company. Although CBRE Cap considered comments received from
us or the Advisor during the valuation process, the final appraised values of the BTC Partnerships’ real properties were determined by CBRE Valuation &
Advisory Services. The appraisals were based upon market, economic, financial and other information, circumstances and conditions existing prior to
January 8, 2020, and any material change in such information, circumstances or conditions may have a material effect on the estimated NAV per share as of
January 8, 2020. The appraisals were addressed solely to the Valuation Committee to assist it in calculating and recommending to the board of trustees an
estimated NAV per share of our common stock as of January 8, 2020. The appraisals are restricted and are not addressed to the public, may not be and
should not be relied upon by any other person to establish an estimated NAV per share of our common stock, and does not constitute a recommendation by
CBRE Cap to any person to purchase or sell any shares of our common stock and should not be represented as such. Neither CBRE Cap nor any of its
affiliates is responsible for or participated in our board of trustees’ determination of the estimated NAV per share of our common stock. In performing its
analyses, CBRE Cap made numerous assumptions as of various points in time with respect to industry performance, general business, economic and
regulatory conditions, current and future market conditions for the BTC Partnerships’ properties and other matters, many of which are necessarily subject
to change and beyond the control of CBRE Cap and the Company. The analyses performed by CBRE Cap are not necessarily indicative of actual values,
trading values or actual future results of our common stock that might be achieved, all of which may be significantly more or less favorable than suggested
by such analyses. The actual value of our common stock may vary significantly depending on numerous factors that generally impact the price of
securities, our financial condition and the state of the real estate industry more generally. CBRE Cap concluded that the estimated NAV per share
determined by our board of trustees was reasonable.
Methodology
In determining the estimated NAV of our common stock, the Advisor, among other things:
•

reviewed property level financial and operating information;

•

reviewed the historical and projected financial performance of the BTC Partnerships’ properties;

•

reviewed the MAI appraisals prepared by CBRE Valuation & Advisory Services, which contained analyses on each of the real property assets
owned by the BTC Partnerships;

•

researched each market by means of publications and other resources, including local market experts and appraisers, to measure current market
conditions, comparable property and lease data, supply and demand factors, growth patterns, and their effect on the subject properties;

•

reviewed primary terms for each of the BTC Partnerships’ mortgage and credit facility liabilities;

•

reviewed estimated transaction fees and expenses including disposition and incentive fee adjustments;
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•

reviewed fully diluted common stock calculations; and

•

performed such other analyses and studies and considered such other factors as it deemed appropriate.

As of January 8, 2020, the Company owned a 20.0% interest in the BTC I Partnership and an 8.0% interest in the BTC II Partnership. As of that date, the
BTC Partnerships owned and managed a portfolio of 83 industrial properties comprised of approximately 21.6 million square feet located in 16 markets
throughout the U.S., of which the BTC I Partnership owned 48 industrial properties totaling approximately 12.5 million square feet and the BTC II
Partnership owned 35 industrial properties totaling approximately 9.1 million square feet. This portfolio includes:
(square feet in thousands)

Number of Properties

Rentable
Square Feet

% Leased

Acquired or completed properties

60

15,790

76.1%

Under construction or pre-construction properties

20

5,780

—

3

N/A

N/A

83

21,570

N/A

Undeveloped land parcels
Total portfolio
Valuation of Real Estate Properties
In preparing its valuation, CBRE Cap, among other things:
•

reviewed financial and operating information provided by the Advisor;

•

reviewed and discussed with the Advisor historical and anticipated future financial performance of the BTC Partnerships’ properties, including
forecasts prepared by the Advisor;

•

commissioned the MAI appraisals and performed analyses and studies for the BTC Partnerships’ properties;

•

conducted or reviewed CBRE Cap proprietary research, including market and sector capitalization rate surveys;

•

reviewed third-party research, including Wall Street equity reports and online data providers;

•

compared financial information of the Company to similar information of companies that CBRE Cap deemed to be comparable; and

•

reviewed the Company’s financial, operation and other reports filed with the SEC.

The appraised values of all of the BTC Partnerships’ real estate properties that were owned and managed as of January 8, 2020 were provided using the
income capitalization approach, and more specifically utilizing discounted cash flow analyses as the primary methodology, with the exception that (i) the
cost of the real estate properties was deemed the appraised value with respect to assets acquired after November 30, 2019, and (ii) the contract sales price of
the real estate property held for sale as of November 30, 2019 was deemed the appraised value. The sales comparison approach was applied as a secondary
methodology.
The discounted cash flow approach is a valuation methodology that provides an estimation of the value of an asset based on market expectations about the
cash flows that such asset would generate over its discrete projection period. The discounted cash flow approach begins with an estimation of the annual
cash flows a market participant would expect the subject asset to generate over a discrete projection period. The estimated cash flows for each of the years
in the discrete projection period are then converted to their present value equivalent using a market-oriented discount rate appropriate for the risk of
achieving the projected cash flows. The present value of the estimated cash flows is then added to the present value equivalent of the residual value of the
asset, which is calculated based upon applying a terminal capitalization rate to the projected net operating income of the property at the end of the discrete
projection period, to arrive at an estimate of value.
The sales comparison approach is a valuation methodology that provides an estimation of value based on recent market prices in actual transactions and
asking prices for assets. The valuation process is a comparison and correlation between the subject asset and other similar assets. Considerations such as
time and condition of sale and terms of agreements are analyzed for comparable assets and are adjusted to arrive at an estimation of the fair value of the
subject asset.
The following summarizes the range of terminal capitalization rates and discount rates used to arrive at the estimated market values of the BTC
Partnerships’ real properties:
Range of
Rates

Weighted-Average
Rates

Exit capitalization rate

4.39% to 7.94%

4.95%

Discount rate

4.88% to 8.97%

5.62%
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Valuation of Cash, Other Assets and Other Liabilities
The fair value of cash and certain other tangible assets and liabilities, estimated as January 8, 2020, each approximated carrying or book value due to the
liquid nature of such assets and the short-term nature of such liabilities.
Valuation of Debt Obligations
As of January 8, 2020, the BTC Partnerships’ debt consisted of floating rate credit facility debt, and fixed and floating rate mortgage debt. For purposes of
valuing the BTC Partnerships’ debt obligations, all calculations were made as of December 31, 2019. Floating rate credit facility and mortgage debt is
reflected in the determination of estimated NAV based on GAAP book or carrying values, given that such borrowings can be prepaid by the BTC
Partnerships and are not subject to significant prepayment penalties. Fixed rate mortgage debt is reflected in the determination of estimated NAV based on
the fair value (“mark-to-market” value) of such debt.
•

The estimate of the fair value of the BTC Partnerships’ fixed rate mortgage debt was determined by comparing the market interest rate as of
December 31, 2019 to the contractual rate on each such debt instrument and discounting to present value the difference in future payments. The
weighted-average effective interest rate, or discount rate, assumed for such fixed rate debt was 3.07% per annum compared to a weighted-average
contractual rate of 3.72% per annum.

•

While the BTC Partnerships currently intend to retain their fixed rate debt at least through the dates on which the BTC Partnerships are able to
repay such debt without penalty, the estimate of the fair market value of the BTC Partnerships’ fixed rate debt assumes such debt was theoretically
replaced on December 31, 2019, thus resulting in a mark-to-market positive adjustment of $7.3 million, or $0.04 per share.

•

We believe that the underlying long-term fixed rate debt assumptions used reflect terms currently available to borrowers seeking terms similar to
those of the BTC Partnerships’ existing long-term fixed rate debt instruments based on similar credit profiles.

Other Valuation Adjustments
The Advisor further adjusted the estimated NAV for the payments to be made in connection with the disposition of our interests in the BTC Partnerships
including: (i) the payment of estimated transaction costs; (ii) the payment of estimated disposition fees to the Advisor; (iii) the payment of a preferred
distribution to the Advisor, in exchange for an in-kind capital contribution of certain intellectual property rights to the Operating Partnership; and (iv) the
estimated incentive fee to be paid to the Advisor, as the holder of special partnership units in the Operating Partnership. There is no contract in place for the
disposition of the Company’s interests in the BTC Partnerships and there is no assurance that a sale of the interests will take place in the near term or at all
or at the estimated NAV per share.
Estimated NAV Methodology and Considerations
The Advisor determined the value of the Company by: estimating the current market value of our assets after taking into account the closing of the Asset
Sale, including the value of our pro rata share of certain assets that we own through our ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships, based on third-party
appraisals; subtracting the book value of our pro rata share of debt incurred through our ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships; and adding or
subtracting debt mark-to-market adjustments, and certain other assets and liabilities, each as described above. The resulting amount, which is the estimated
NAV of our ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships and other wholly-owned net assets as of January 8, 2020 (after the closing of the Asset Sale), was
divided by the number of shares of our common stock outstanding on that date to determine the estimated NAV per share.
Exclusions from Estimated NAV
The estimated NAV per share approved by the Valuation Committee and our board of trustees does not take into consideration certain factors including
those described below, which could result in a premium or discount to NAV when determining a hypothetical enterprise value:
•

the characteristics of our working capital, capital structure and other financial considerations for which some buyers may ascribe different values
based on term, synergies, cost savings or other attributes; or

•

services being provided by personnel of the Advisor under the Advisory Agreement and our potential ability to secure the services of a
management team on a long-term basis.
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Estimated Net Asset Value
The table below sets forth the material items included in the calculation of our estimated NAV per share as of January 8, 2020.
Estimated NAV as of
January 8, 2020
(in thousands)

Real estate values (1)

$

Cash, other assets and other liabilities, net (1)

$

2.25

12,018

0.07

(131,374)

(0.74)

Estimated transaction costs and disposition fees

(17,993)

(0.10)

Preferred distributions

(10,000)

(0.06)

Incentive fee adjustments, net

(29,257)

(0.16)

Debt and mark to market adjustments (1)(2)

$

Estimated net asset value
Common shares outstanding
(1)
(2)

(per share)

399,854

223,248

$

1.25

177,997

Represents our proportionate share of the real estate values based on our ownership of minority interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Debt and mark-to-market adjustments were calculated as of December 31, 2019.

Our pro rata portion of the original gross purchase price of the real properties owned by the BTC Partnerships as of December 31, 2019, in the aggregate,
including post-acquisition capital investments, was approximately $271.7 million. The estimated aggregate value to shareholders of $13.79 per share
includes the Special Distribution of proceeds from the Asset Sale to shareholders of $12.54 per share (less deductions for distribution fees with respect to
Class T shares, as described in Part I, Item 1. Business). In the years prior to the completion of the sale of substantially all of our assets pursuant to the
Asset Sale, we had determined an estimated NAV per share as of November 30, 2018, November 30, 2017, November 30, 2016 and June 30, 2015 of
$12.33, $11.11, $9.74 and $9.24, respectively.
Sensitivity Analysis
While our board of trustees believes that the assumptions used in determining the appraised values of the BTC Partnerships’ real properties are reasonable,
certain changes in these assumptions could impact the calculation of such values.
The table below illustrates the impact on the estimated NAV and the estimated NAV per share if, for example, both the exit capitalization rates and discount
rates were adjusted by 2.5%, assuming all other factors remain unchanged, with respect to the BTC Partnerships’ real properties.
Increase (Decrease) to the Estimated NAV due to:

Change in NAV

Decrease of 2.5%
(In Thousands)

Decrease of 2.5%
(Per Share)

Increase of 2.5%
(In Thousands)

Increase of 2.5%
(Per Share)

$(14,381)

$(0.08)

$15,706

$0.09

Limitations of Estimated NAV Per Share
The estimated NAV per share determined by our board of trustees does not represent the fair value of our assets less liabilities in accordance with GAAP,
and such estimated NAV per share is not a representation, warranty or guarantee that: (i) a shareholder would be able to realize the estimated NAV per
share if such shareholder attempts to sell his or her shares; (ii) a shareholder would ultimately realize distributions per share equal to the estimated NAV per
share upon our final liquidation or sale; (iii) shares of our common stock would trade at the estimated NAV per share on a national securities exchange;
(iv) a third-party would offer the estimated NAV per share in an arm’s-length transaction to purchase all or substantially all of our outstanding shares of
common stock; or (v) the methodologies used to determine the estimated NAV per share would be acceptable to FINRA. In addition, we can make no
claims as to whether the estimated NAV per share will or will not satisfy the applicable annual valuation requirements under ERISA and the Code with
respect to employee benefit plans subject to ERISA and other retirement plans or accounts subject to Section 4975 of the Code that are investing in our
shares. Given that our board of trustees had not determined a new NAV per share as of December 31, 2019, for purposes of reporting an annual valuation as
of December 31, 2019 pursuant to the requirements of ERISA and the Code, we report the estimated NAV per share most recently determined by our board
of trustees as of that date, which was the estimated NAV per share of $12.33 determined as of November 30, 2018. If our board of trustees had determined
a new NAV per share as of December 31, 2019, it likely would have more closely approximated $13.79 per share, which is the combined value of the
estimated NAV per share as of January 8, 2020 of $1.25 and the Special Distribution of proceeds from the Asset Sale to shareholders of $12.54 per share.
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Further, the estimated NAV per share was calculated as of a moment in time, and the value of our common shares will fluctuate over time as a result of,
among other things, developments related to individual assets, acquisitions and dispositions of additional assets, changes in the real estate and capital
markets, and the payment of disposition fees and expenses in connection therewith, the distribution of sales proceeds to our shareholders and changes in
corporate policies such as our distribution level relative to earnings. As a result, shareholders should not rely on the estimated NAV per share as being an
accurate measure of the then-current value of shares of our common stock.
Share Redemption Program
In connection with our then-pending Asset Sale, our share redemption program had been suspended, commencing with the third quarter of 2019. In January
2020, our board of trustees approved and adopted the reinstatement of our share redemption program on a limited basis. Specifically, our reinstated share
redemption program, which took effect on January 8, 2020, provides that the share redemption program is available solely in connection with the death of a
shareholder and the aggregate dollar amount of redemptions under the program is capped at $1.0 million. Shares redeemed under the share redemption
program will be redeemed at a price equal to the estimated NAV per share most recently announced by us in a public filing with the SEC as of the
Applicable Quarter End (defined below).
There are limitations on shareholders’ ability to have their common shares redeemed pursuant to our share redemption program, which are described below.
For a shareholder’s shares to be eligible for redemption in a given quarter, we must receive a written notice from an authorized representative of the
shareholder in good order and on a form approved by us at least 15 days before the end of the applicable quarter (the “Applicable Quarter End”).
The redemption price per share that a shareholder will be eligible to receive under the our share redemption program will not represent the fair value of the
Company’s assets less liabilities in accordance with GAAP, and such prices per share will not serve as a representation, warranty or guarantee that: (i) a
shareholder would be able to realize the respective price per share if such shareholder attempted to sell his or her shares; (ii) a shareholder would ultimately
realize distributions per share equal to the respective price per share upon our final liquidation or sale; (iii) our common shares would trade at the respective
price per share on a national securities exchange; or (iv) a third party would offer the respective price per share in an arm’s-length transaction to purchase
all or substantially all of our outstanding common shares.
We are not obligated to redeem our common shares under the share redemption program. Our board of trustees may, in its sole discretion, amend, suspend,
or terminate the share redemption program at any time if it determines that the funds available to fund the share redemption program are needed for other
business or operational purposes or that amendment, suspension or termination of the share redemption program is in the best interest of our shareholders.
Any amendment, suspension or termination of the share redemption program will not affect the rights of holders of OP Units to cause us to redeem their
OP Units for, at our sole discretion, our common shares, cash, or a combination of both pursuant to the Operating Partnership Agreement. If our board of
trustees decides to materially amend, suspend or terminate the share redemption program, we will provide shareholders with prompt written notice, which
we will provide by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC. Therefore, our shareholders may not have the opportunity to make a redemption
request prior to any potential suspension, amendment or termination of the share redemption program.
We will redeem shares upon the death of a shareholder who is a natural person, subject to the conditions and limitations described above, including shares
held by such shareholder through a revocable grantor trust, or an IRA or other retirement or profit-sharing plan, after receiving written notice from the
estate of the shareholder, the recipient of the shares through bequest or inheritance, or, in the case of a revocable grantor trust, the trustee of such trust, who
shall have the sole ability to request redemption on behalf of the trust. We must receive the written redemption request within 18 months after the death of
the shareholder. Such a written request must be accompanied by a certified copy of the official death certificate of the shareholder. If spouses are joint
registered holders of shares, the request to redeem the shares may be made if either of the registered holders dies. If the shareholder is not a natural person,
such as certain trusts or a partnership, corporation or other similar entity, the right of redemption upon death does not apply.
The above description of our share redemption program (as reinstated in January 2020) is a summary of certain of the terms of the share redemption
program. Please see the full text of the share redemption program, incorporated by reference as Exhibit 4.1 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K, for all the
terms and conditions of the share redemption program, effective as of January 8, 2020.
Refer to Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for details regarding our redemption and
repurchase history. There were no redemptions for the three months ended December 31, 2019, as our share redemption program was suspended and was
not reinstated (with restrictions) until January 8, 2020.
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Distributions
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, we paid regular quarterly distributions to our shareholders at a rate of $0.1425 per common share
(less applicable distribution fees with respect to shares of Class T common stock, which were converted into Class A common shares of beneficial interest
subsequent to the Asset Sale). In connection with the Asset Sale, we paid the Special Distribution of $12.54 per share to our shareholders (less applicable
distribution fees with respect to shares of Class T common stock). In addition, we paid a pro-rated distribution to our shareholders at the regular quarterly
rate for the period from January 1, 2020 to January 7, 2020. We do not expect to pay additional quarterly distributions while we execute the Plan of
Liquidation, but expect to pay one or more liquidating distributions to our shareholders in connection with our ultimate liquidation. There can be no
assurances as to the timing or amount of any liquidating distributions. We intend to fund all future distributions with proceeds from the sale of our
remaining assets. Any distributable income earned from revenue generated by our interests in the BTC Partnerships is expected to be included in future
liquidating distributions. We funded 63.8% of our distributions in 2019, 52.4% of our distributions in 2018, and 50.5% of our distributions in 2017 with
cash flows from operating activities. Refer to Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” for
details regarding our distribution history, as well as the sources used to pay our distributions.
Holders
As of February 28, 2020, there were 178.0 million of our common shares of beneficial interest outstanding, held by a total of 42,675 shareholders,
including shares held by our affiliates.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and Item 8, “Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.”
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019 (1)

2018 (1)

2017 (1)

2016 (1)

2015 (1)

Operating data (2):
Total operating expenses

$

(10,560)

$

(11,162)

$

(9,698)

$

Total other income (expenses)

$

10,115

$

12,212

$

1,493

$

Total (repayment to) expense support from Advisor

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

(5,111)

$

3,370

(Loss) income from continuing operations

$

(445)

$

1,050

$

$

(51,247)

$

(35,364)

Rental revenues in discontinued operations (3)

$

250,715

$

241,299

$

223,358

$

176,289

$

51,134

Total expenses in discontinued operations (3)

$

(238,205)

$

(249,186)

$

(233,385)

$

(188,337)

$

(53,320)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

12,510

$

(7,887)

$

(10,027)

$

(12,048)

$

(2,186)

Net income (loss)

$

12,065

$

(6,837)

$

(18,232)

$

(63,295)

$

(37,550)

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

$

12,065

$

(6,837)

$

(18,317)

$

(63,326)

$

(37,550)

(8,205)

(46,965)
829

$

(36,723)

$

(2,011)

Net income (loss) per common share—basic and diluted:
Continuing operations

$

(0.00)

$

0.01

$

(0.05)

$

(0.38)

$

(0.68)

Discontinued operations

$

0.07

$

(0.05)

$

(0.06)

$

(0.09)

$

(0.04)

Total

$

0.07

$

(0.04)

$

(0.11)

$

(0.47)

$

(0.72)

Weighted-average shares outstanding

177,663

176,283

169,270

133,524

51,801

Distributions:
Total cash distributions declared

$

101,191

$

100,452

$

96,443

$

72,153

$

26,621

Cash distributions declared per common share

$

0.570

$

0.570

$

0.570

$

0.541

$

0.510

36,444

Cash flow data:
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

$

88,130

$

92,443

$

83,649

$

$

(3,552)

Net cash used in investing activities

$

(43,230)

$

(61,878)

$

(357,662)

$

(1,149,835)

$

(1,076,656)

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

$

(34,906)

$

(30,264)

$

271,037

$

1,110,820

$

1,083,098
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As of December 31,
(in thousands, except building count)

2019 (1)

2018 (1)

2017 (1)

2016 (1)

2015 (1)

Balance sheet data:
Net investment in real estate properties (4)

$

2,596,507

$

2,660,798

$

2,706,344

$

2,478,329

$

1,374,195

Investment in unconsolidated joint venture partnerships

$

132,160

$

113,869

$

106,631

$

69,695

$

94,331

Cash and cash equivalents

$

15,757

$

5,698

$

5,397

$

8,358

$

7,429

Total assets

$

2,793,136

$

2,831,624

$

2,865,547

$

2,610,933

$

1,503,255

Debt, net (5)

$

1,593,039

$

1,538,824

$

1,489,145

$

1,288,642

$

609,033

Total liabilities

$

1,682,544

$

1,651,266

$

1,606,077

$

1,404,963

$

655,849

Total shareholders’ equity

$

1,110,591

$

1,180,357

$

1,259,469

$

1,205,469

$

847,405

Total gross equity raised (during the period)

$

35,163

$

48,184

$

194,109

$

547,462

$

806,170

Shares outstanding

178,000

176,954

174,514

157,406

102,985

236

236

235

215

131

60

49

43

27

21

Portfolio data:
Consolidated buildings (6)
Unconsolidated buildings (7)

296

285

278

242

152

Rentable square feet of consolidated buildings (6)

37,470

37,455

37,460

34,339

16,956

Rentable square feet of unconsolidated buildings (7)

15,790

12,148

9,032

4,405

3,602

Total rentable square feet

53,260

49,603

46,492

38,744

20,558

Total buildings

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)
(6)
(7)

The SEC declared our registration statement for our public offering effective in July 2013. We broke escrow in September 2013 and commenced real
estate operations in January 2014 in connection with the acquisition of our first property. We terminated the primary portion of our public offering on
June 30, 2017, and suspended the offering pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan in July 2019. We subsequently terminated our distribution
reinvestment plan offering in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale. We have fully deployed the net proceeds from our public offerings. The
results of our operations have been primarily impacted by the timing of our acquisitions and the equity raised through our public offering.
Accordingly, our year-over-year financial data is not directly comparable.
All of our wholly-owned consolidated properties that were part of the Asset Sale met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as of December 31,
2019. In accordance with GAAP, we have reclassified and included the results of operations from the properties classified as held for sale as
discontinued operations for all periods presented.
Amounts are components of income (loss) from discontinued operations. See “Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more information
on discontinued operations.
Amounts presented as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 were classified as assets held for sale on the consolidated balance sheets. See “Note 3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail regarding assets held for sale.
Amounts presented include mortgage notes of $716.5 million and $717.9 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 that were classified
as liabilities related to assets held for sale on the consolidated balance sheets. See “Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail
regarding assets held for sale.
Represents our wholly-owned real estate portfolio that was part of the Asset Sale. All properties met the criteria to be classified as held for sale as of
December 31, 2019. We completed the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail
regarding the Asset Sale.
Represents acquired or completed buildings owned through our minority ownership interests in the BTC Partnerships. These properties are shown as
if we owned a 100% interest. See “Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more detail on our joint venture partnerships.
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ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion and analysis should be read together with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included in this Annual Report
on Form 10-K. The following information contains forward-looking statements, which are subject to risks and uncertainties. Should one or more of these
risks or uncertainties materialize, actual results may differ materially from those expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. See “Cautionary
Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” above for a description of these risks and uncertainties.
OVERVIEW
General
Industrial Property Trust was initially formed as a Maryland corporation on August 28, 2012 to make investments in income-producing real estate assets
consisting primarily of high-quality distribution warehouses and other industrial properties that would be leased to creditworthy corporate customers. In
February 2020, following the consummation of the Asset Sale, Industrial Property Trust converted, as a legal entity, from a Maryland corporation to a
Maryland REIT, within the meaning of the Maryland REIT Law. We have operated and elected to be treated as a REIT for U.S. federal income tax
purposes, commencing with the taxable year ended December 31, 2013, and we intend to continue to operate in accordance with the requirements for
qualification as a REIT. We utilize an UPREIT organizational structure to hold all or substantially all of our assets through the Operating Partnership.
On July 24, 2013, we commenced an initial public offering of up to $2.0 billion in shares of our common stock, including up to $1.5 billion in shares of
common stock in our primary offering and $500.0 million in shares offered under our distribution reinvestment plan. On June 30, 2017, we terminated the
primary portion of our initial public offering. In connection with our initial announcement of the transaction contemplated by the Merger Agreement, we
suspended our share redemption program and the offering of shares pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan, effective beginning with the third
quarter of 2019. As of December 31, 2019, we had raised gross proceeds of approximately $1.9 billion from the sale of 184.0 million shares of our
common stock in our public offering, including shares issued under our distribution reinvestment plan.
On July 15, 2019, we announced that we had entered into an agreement and plan of merger (as amended and restated on August 20, 2019, the “Merger
Agreement”) pursuant to which we or our wholly-owned subsidiaries would be acquired by an affiliate or affiliates of Prologis in an all cash transaction
valued at approximately $4.0 billion, subject to certain transaction costs. On August 22, 2019, we announced that we had elected to structure the
transaction as a sale of substantially all of our assets, which we refer to as the “Asset Sale.” The Asset Sale excluded our minority interests in the BTC
Partnerships, which include the BTC I Partnership and the BTC II Partnership. As described below, the Asset Sale was consummated on January 8, 2020.
As of December 31, 2019, prior to the completion of the Asset Sale, we owned and managed, either directly or through our 20.0% minority ownership
interest in the BTC I Partnership, and our 8.0% minority ownership interest in the BTC II Partnership, a total real estate portfolio that included 296
industrial buildings totaling approximately 53.3 million square feet located in 26 markets throughout the U.S., with 506 customers, and was 90.2% leased
with a weighted-average remaining lease term (based on square feet) of approximately 4.0 years. As of December 31, 2019:
•

we directly owned a consolidated real estate portfolio that consisted of 236 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 37.5 million
square feet that were approximately 96.1% leased.

•

the BTC I Partnership owned a real estate portfolio that consisted of 39 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 11.1
million square feet that were approximately 81.3% leased; three buildings under construction totaling 0.7 million square feet; four buildings in the
pre-construction phase for an additional 0.7 million square feet; and one land parcel.

•

the BTC II Partnership owned a real estate portfolio that consisted of 21 acquired or completed buildings totaling approximately 4.7 million square
feet that were approximately 64.0% leased; four buildings under construction totaling 1.0 million square feet; and nine buildings in the preconstruction phase for an additional 3.4 million square feet.

On January 8, 2020, we completed the Asset Sale to Prologis. Immediately following the completion of the Asset Sale, each common shareholder received
the Special Distribution from us in cash equal to such shareholder’s pro rata share of the net total consideration for the Asset Sale, which was equal to
$12.54 per share, without interest and less applicable withholdings and taxes. Consistent with distributions historically made by the Company, the cash
distribution actually paid to holders of shares of our Class T common stock were net of up to the aggregate amount of the distribution fees that would have
been reallowed by the Dealer Manager for our public offering, to the broker dealers who sold the shares, if the Class T shares had remained outstanding.
These remaining distribution fees were paid by the Company at a discounted rate following the closing of the
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Asset Sale. The amount of remaining distribution fees deducted from the Special Distribution paid with respect to each share of Class T common stock was
generally up to $0.17 per share, depending on how long a shareholder had held its shares of Class T common stock. Following our payment of such
remaining distribution fees, each share of Class T common stock was converted to a Class A common stock on a one-for-one basis. In connection with our
conversion to a Maryland REIT in February 2020, all shares of our Class A common stock were converted to Class A common shares of beneficial interest
on a one-for-one basis. Following the completion of the Asset Sale and our subsequent conversion to a Maryland REIT, our shareholders continued to hold
the same number of common shares as they held prior to the closing.
We have continued to operate our business following the Asset Sale, with our remaining assets consisting primarily of our minority ownership interests in
the BTC Partnerships. As described in Item 5, “Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities—Estimated Net Asset Value Per Share”, the estimated NAV of our common shares following the closing of the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020,
was $1.25 per share. In the future, the estimated NAV of our common shares will likely differ, perhaps materially, from this estimate based on, among other
things, updated valuations of the BTC Partnerships, and differences among liquidation scenarios and related transaction expenses. When the estimated
NAV per share as of January 8, 2020 of $1.25 is added to the per share Special Distribution of $12.54 per share (before deduction of distribution fees with
respect to shares of Class T common stock) that has already been paid to our shareholders, this results in an aggregate potential distribution upon the
liquidation of our interests in the BTC Partnerships of approximately $13.79 per common share. However, there can be no assurance regarding the amount
of additional cash that ultimately will be distributed to our shareholders in connection with the ultimate liquidation of our interests in the BTC Partnerships.
Additionally, following the closing of the Asset Sale, we terminated the distribution reinvestment plan and reinstated the share redemption program on a
limited basis. Specifically, the share redemption program, which took effect on January 8, 2020, provides that it is available solely in connection with the
death of a shareholder and the aggregate dollar amount of redemptions under the program is capped at $1.0 million. Shares redeemed under the share
redemption program will be redeemed at a price equal to the estimated NAV per share most recently announced by us in a public filing with the SEC as of
the date of redemption.
Real Estate Outlook
Overall, fundamentals for the U.S. industrial real estate sector continue to remain healthy, primarily driven by the continued growth in the U.S. economy.
Both U.S. gross domestic product (“GDP”) and consumer spending, including online retailing (or e-commerce), remain positive and we believe will
continue growing over the next several quarters. There is a high correlation between these statistics and industrial warehouse demand. Additionally,
forecasted growth in both employment and population levels is expected to drive consumer spending growth over the longer-term, leading to increased
utilization of distribution warehouses. We expect moderate economic growth in the U.S. to continue throughout 2020, which should continue to drive
positive demand for warehouse space as companies expand and upgrade their distribution networks and supply chains.
While growth in the U.S. economy has continued, global economic growth has slowed due to structural factors and increased restrictions on international
trade, such as tariffs and quotas on imports. Financial market conditions tightened significantly and volatility has persisted following the 2016 and 2018
U.S. elections especially regarding concerns over protectionism, global trade and stock market valuations. Heightened policy uncertainty in the U.S.,
China, and Europe will likely weigh on global economies and capital flows throughout the coming year.
Despite certain global uncertainties, the U.S. industrial real estate sector continues to benefit from positive net absorption (the net change in total occupied
industrial space), low vacancy rates and continued rent growth in our primary target markets. Consistent with recent experience and based on current
market conditions, we expect average net effective rental rates on new leases signed during 2020 to be higher than the rates on expiring leases.
Technological advancements, shifting consumer preferences, and the resultant supply-chain innovations have supported continued growth of e-commerce.
The dollar volume of retail goods purchased online continues to grow significantly, averaging a 14.9% annual increase over the past five years, reaching
$599.5 billion over the past year, and comprises an increasing proportion of total retail sales. Total retail sales excludes food, gas, and automobile sales. As
online sales grow and more retailers continue to adapt to changing consumer preferences and technologies, the need for highly-functional warehouse space
near major cities is expected to increase.
The capital markets outlook for industrial real estate remains strong as institutional investor demand continues to increase in part driven by both the current
industrial real estate fundamentals and the ongoing secular shift to online consumer spending.
41

Table of Contents

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Summary of 2019 Activities
During 2019, we completed the following activities:
•

We directly acquired one industrial building and completed the development of one industrial building comprising an aggregate 0.2 million square
feet and a total purchase price of approximately $16.8 million, including costs to complete the development project. Additionally, we sold two
industrial buildings and one land parcel for net proceeds of approximately $25.0 million. We recorded a net gain of $6.1 million related to the
disposal of these properties.

•

We, through our 20.0% ownership interest in the BTC I Partnership, acquired one industrial building and completed the development of six
industrial buildings comprising an aggregate 1.9 million square feet and a total purchase price of approximately $252.7 million, including costs to
complete the development projects. Additionally, the BTC I Partnership sold four industrial buildings totaling 0.4 million square feet for net
proceeds of $62.3 million, and recorded a net gain of $17.0 million related to these disposals.

•

We, through our 8.0% ownership interest in the BTC II Partnership, acquired two industrial buildings and completed the development of six
industrial buildings comprising an aggregate 2.2 million square feet and a total purchase price of approximately $159.2 million, including costs to
complete the development projects.

•

We leased approximately 9.5 million square feet, which included 5.0 million square feet of new and future leases and 4.5 million of renewals,
through 110 separate transactions with an average annual base rent of $5.86 per square foot. Future leases represent new leases for units that are
entered into while the units are occupied by the current customer.

Our operating results for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 are not directly comparable, as we were in the acquisition phase of our life
cycle during a part of 2017, and as such, the results of our operations were primarily impacted by the timing of our acquisitions and the equity raised
through our public offering. Additionally, all of our wholly-owned properties were classified as held for sale as of December 31, 2019 and we
subsequently sold all of our wholly-owned properties in connection with the Asset Sale in January 2020.
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Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2018
The following tables summarize our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the year ended December 31, 2018. There
are no same store results due to the fact that all of our wholly-owned properties, which were part of the Asset Sale, met the criteria to be classified as held
for sale, in accordance with GAAP, as of December 31, 2019, and as such, the results of operations related to the wholly-owned properties were classified
as discontinued operations. See the table below under “Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations” and “Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements” for details concerning our assets that were held for sale and classified as discontinued operations prior to the consummation of the Asset Sale.
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

2018

$ Change

% Change

Rental revenues:
Rental revenues

$

Total rental revenues

—

—

—%

—

$

—
—

$

—

—

—

—

—

—

Operating expenses:
Rental expenses
Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

—

—

—

—

General and administrative expenses

9,492

9,557

(65)

(0.7)

Asset management fees, related party

1,068

1,605

(537)

(33.5)

10,560

11,162

(602)

(5.4)

(4,140)

(8,736)

Total operating expenses
Other (income) expenses:
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture partnerships
Other expense

108

Net gain on disposition of real estate properties
Total other income
(Loss) income from continuing operations

74

4,596

52.6

34

45.9

(6,083)

(3,550)

(2,533)

(71.4)

(10,115)

(12,212)

2,097

17.2

1,050

(1,495)

NM

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

12,510

(445)

(7,887)

20,397

NM

Net income (loss)

12,065

(6,837)

18,902

NM

—

—

18,902

NM

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interests

—
$

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

12,065

—
$

177,663

Weighted-average shares outstanding
$

Net income (loss) per common share - basic and diluted

0.07

(6,837)

$

176,283
$

(0.04)

1,380
$

0.11

NM = Not meaningful
Operating Expenses. Operating expenses decreased by $0.6 million, or 5.4%, for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the same period in
2018, primarily due to a decrease in asset management fees as a result of the higher disposition activity by the BTC I Partnership in 2018 as compared to
2019.
Other Income. Other income decreased by $2.1 million, or 17.2%, for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to the same period in 2018,
primarily due to a decrease in our proportionate share of the income of our unconsolidated joint venture partnerships of $4.6 million, primarily related to
our proportionate share of net gains on disposition of certain real estate properties of the BTC I Partnership in 2018, partially offset by an increase in net
gain on disposition of wholly-owned real estate properties of $2.5 million.
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Income (Loss) from Discontinued Operations. Income from discontinued operations was comprised of the following:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Rental revenues

2019

$

250,715

2018

$

$ Change

241,299

$

% Change

9,416

3.9 %

Rental expenses

(66,476)

(63,670)

(2,806)

(4.4)

Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

(96,402)

(111,868)

15,466

13.8

Asset management fees, related party

(23,194)

(23,247)

53

Interest expense

(52,133)

(50,401)

(1,732)

(3.4)

12,510

(7,887)

20,397

NM

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

0.2

NM = Not meaningful
Income from discontinued operations increased by $20.4 million from loss from discontinued operations of $7.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2018 to income from discontinued operations of $12.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to:
•

a decrease in real estate-related depreciation and amortization expense of $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 that was driven by
held for sale classification in late 2019 and certain intangible lease assets that reached full amortization during the end of 2018 and through 2019;
and

•

an increase in rental revenues of $9.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 that was primarily driven by higher rental rates for new leases
and renewals.

Partially offset by:
•

an increase in rental expenses of $2.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 that was primarily due to higher real estate taxes, as well as
an increase in repairs and maintenance, including higher snow removal costs; and
•

an increase in interest expense of $1.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, primarily due to: (i) higher average net borrowings under
our line of credit for the year ended December 31, 2019 of $22.4 million; and (ii) a decrease in capitalized interest for the year ended
December 31, 2019 as compared to the year ended December 31, 2018 as a result of a property reaching shell completion in 2019.

Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2018 Compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2017
See “Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019, which is incorporated herein by reference, for a comparison of our results of
operations for the years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
Liquidity
Our primary sources of capital for meeting our cash requirements include, and will continue to include, capital maintained from the Asset Sale and, with
respect to our minority interests in the BTC Partnerships, cash flows generated and distributed from operating activities and funds provided by debt
financings and refinancings. Our principal uses of funds are, and will continue to be, capital expenditures at the BTC Partnerships, operating expenses,
contributions to the BTC Partnerships, and liquidating distributions to our shareholders. We expect to utilize the same sources of capital, to meet our shortterm and long-term liquidity and capital requirements.
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Cash Flows. The following table summarizes our cash flows, as determined on a GAAP basis, for the following periods:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

Change

Total cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities

$

Investing activities

88,130

$

(43,230)

Financing activities

(34,906)
$

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

9,994

92,443

$

(61,878)
(30,264)
$

301

(4,313)
18,648
(4,642)

$

9,693

2019 Cash Flows Compared to 2018 Cash Flows
Cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by approximately $4.3 million as compared to the same period
in 2018, primarily due to accelerated settlement of certain receivables and liabilities in anticipation of the pending Asset Sale, partially offset by an increase
in property operations. Cash used in investing activities during year ended December 31, 2019 decreased by approximately $18.6 million as compared to
the same period in 2018, primarily due to a net decrease in our acquisition, capital expenditure and development activity in the amount of $32.6 million,
and an increase in proceeds received from the disposition of real estate properties of $4.3 million, which was partially offset by (i) a decrease in
distributions from our joint venture partnerships of $6.4 million, (ii) a net increase in our activity related to our investments in unconsolidated joint venture
partnerships in the amount of $5.1 million, and (iii) net proceeds of $4.2 million relating to the sale of a portion of our joint venture partnership ownership
interest in 2018. Cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 increased by approximately $4.6 million as compared to the
same period in 2018, primarily due to an increase in distributions and distribution fees paid of $14.6 million, partially offset by an increase in our net
borrowing activity of $4.5 million and a decrease in our redemption activity of $5.5 million.
2018 Cash Flows Compared to 2017 Cash Flows
See “Part II, Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 6, 2019, which is incorporated herein by reference, for a comparison of our cash flows for the
year ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017.
Capital Resources and Uses of Liquidity
In addition to our cash and cash equivalents balances available, our capital resources and uses of liquidity are as follows:
Line of Credit and Term Loans. As of December 31, 2019, we had an aggregate of $1.0 billion of commitments under our credit agreements, including
$500.0 million under our line of credit and $500.0 million under our two term loans. As of that date, we had: (i) approximately $378.0 million outstanding
under our line of credit with a weighted-average effective interest rate of 2.91%, which includes the effect of the interest rate swap agreements related to
$150.0 million in the borrowings under our line of credit; and (ii) $500.0 million outstanding under our term loans with a weighted-average effective
interest rate of 2.70%, which includes the effect of the interest rate swap agreements related to $350.0 million in borrowings under our term loans. All of
our borrowings under our line of credit and term loans were repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale in January 2020. Refer to “Note 5 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information regarding our line of credit and term loans.
Mortgage Notes. As of December 31, 2019, we had property-level borrowings of approximately $719.3 million outstanding with a weighted-average
remaining term of 4.4 years. These borrowings are secured by mortgages or deeds of trust and related assignments and security interests in the
collateralized properties, and had a weighted-average interest rate of 3.36%, which includes the effects of the interest rate swap agreement relating to our
$93.7 million variable-rate mortgage note. All of our mortgage notes were repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale in January 2020. Refer to
“Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for additional information regarding the mortgage notes.
Debt Covenants. Our line of credit, term loan and mortgage note agreements contain various property-level covenants, including customary affirmative and
negative covenants. In addition, our line of credit and term loan agreements contain certain corporate level financial covenants, including leverage ratio,
fixed charge coverage ratio, and tangible net worth thresholds. These covenants may limit our ability to incur additional debt, to make borrowings under
our line of credit, or to pay distributions. We were in compliance with our debt covenants as of December 31, 2019.
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Distributions. For the year ended December 31, 2019, 63.8% of our total gross distributions were paid from cash flows from operating activities, as
determined on a GAAP basis, and 36.2% of our total gross distributions were funded from sources other than cash flows from operating activities,
specifically 13.2% were funded with proceeds from financing activities, which consisted of debt financings, and 23.0% were funded with proceeds from
shares issued pursuant to our distribution reinvestment plan. We made distributions for the first quarter of 2020 up until the day immediately preceding the
closing of the Asset Sale on January 8, 2020. Our board of trustees authorized daily distributions to all shareholders of record as of the close of business on
each day of the first quarter of 2020 up until the day immediately preceding the closing of the Asset Sale at a quarterly rate of $0.1425 per Class A share of
common stock and $0.1425 per Class T share of common stock (which were converted to Class A shares of common stock on a one-to-one basis following
the Asset Sale) less the annual distribution fees that are payable monthly with respect to such Class T shares (calculated on a daily basis). As noted
previously, in connection with our conversion to a Maryland REIT, all shares of our common stock were converted to Class A shares of beneficial interest
on a one-for-one basis. We do not expect to pay any additional quarterly distributions while we execute the Plan of Liquidation, but expect to pay one or
more liquidating distributions in connection with our ultimate liquidation. There can be no asssurances as to the timing or amounts of any liquidating
distributions. As noted above, in connection with the original announcement of the Merger Agreement described in “Note 1 to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements,” we suspended our distribution reinvestment plan beginning with distributions for the third quarter of 2019.
The following table outlines sources used, as determined on a GAAP basis, to pay total gross distributions (which are paid in cash or reinvested in shares of
our common stock through our distribution reinvestment plan (“DRIP”)) for the periods indicated below:
Source of Distributions
($ in thousands)

Provided by Operating Activities

Proceeds from
Financing Activities (1)

Gross
Distributions (3)

Proceeds from DRIP (2)

2019
December 31

—

—% $

25,339

September 30

$

25,336

100.0

—

—

—

—

25,336

June 30

13,693

54.1

—

—

11,601

45.9

25,294

March 31
Total

11,961

47.2% $

13,378

52.8% $

13,523

53.6

11,699

46.4

$

64,513

63.8% $

13,378

—

13.2% $

—

23,300

23.0% $

101,191

25,222

$

2018
December 31

13,333

52.9% $

—

—% $

11,863

47.1% $

25,196

September 30

13,230

52.7

—

—

11,897

47.3

25,127

June 30

13,126

52.3

—

—

11,980

47.7

25,106

12,937

51.7

—

—

12,086

48.3

52,626

52.4% $

—

—% $

47,826

47.6% $

March 31
Total
(1)
(2)

(3)

$

25,023
100,452

For the periods presented, all distributions provided by financing activities were funded from debt financings.
Historically, shareholders may have elected to have their distributions reinvested in shares of our common stock through our distribution reinvestment
plan. However, in connection with our original announcement of the Merger Agreement described in “Note 1 to the Condensed Consolidated
Financial Statements,” we suspended our distribution reinvestment plan beginning with the third quarter of 2019. Following the closing of the Asset
Sale on January 8, 2020, we terminated the distribution reinvestment plan.
Gross distributions are total distributions before the deduction of distribution fees relating to Class T shares issued in the primary portion of our
public offering.

For the year ended December 31, 2019, our cash flows provided by operating activities on a GAAP basis were $88.1 million, as compared to our aggregate
total gross distributions declared of $101.2 million. For the year ended December 31, 2018, our cash flows provided by operating activities on a GAAP
basis were $92.4 million, as compared to our aggregate total gross distributions declared of $100.5 million.
Refer to “Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail on distributions.
Redemptions. For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we received eligible redemption requests related to approximately 1.2 million and 2.9
million shares of our common stock, respectively, all of which we redeemed using cash flows from financing activities, for an aggregate amount of
approximately $11.4 million, or an average price of $9.90 per share, and approximately $28.1 million, or an average price of $9.82 per share, respectively.
In connection with our original
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announcement of the Merger Agreement described in “Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements,” we suspended our share redemption program,
effective as of the third quarter of 2019. Following the closing of the Asset Sale, we reinstated the share redemption program solely with respect to
redemptions requested in connection with the death of a shareholder. The aggregate dollar amount of redemptions that can be made under the program is
capped at $1.0 million.
CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS
The following table summarizes future obligations, due by period, as of December 31, 2019, under our various contractual obligations and commitments:
(in thousands)

Debt (1)

Less than 1 Year

$

957,271

$

964,870

Future estimated distribution fees payable (2)
Total
(1)
(2)

1-3 Years

$

7,599

3-5 Years

—

$

—
$

—

More than 5 Years

—

$

—
$

—

—

Total

$

957,271

$

964,870

—
$

—

7,599

On January 8, 2020, all of our outstanding debt was repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale. Amount represents the outstanding
principal and outstanding interest and fees that were repaid.
Amount represents future estimated amounts of distribution fees that were paid at a discounted rate in its entirety in connection with the closing of the
Asset Sale.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
As of December 31, 2019, we had no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material effect on our financial condition,
changes in our financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures, or capital resources.
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Asset Sale
See “Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for information regarding the completion of the Asset Sale, the Third Amended and Restated
Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership, our conversion to a Maryland REIT and the Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws.
INFLATION
With respect to our interests in the BTC Partnerships, increases in the costs of owning and operating the BTC Partnerships’ properties due to inflation could
reduce our cash flows from operations to the extent such increases are not reimbursed or paid by customers. The leases for these properties may require
customers to pay certain taxes and operating expenses, either in part or in whole, or may provide for separate real estate tax and operating expense
reimbursement escalations over a base amount. In addition, the leases may provide for fixed base rent increases or indexed increases. As a result, most
inflationary increases in costs may be at least partially offset by the contractual rent increases and operating expense reimbursement provisions or
escalations.
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
Critical accounting estimates are those estimates that require management to make challenging, subjective, or complex judgments, often because they must
estimate the effects of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Critical accounting estimates involve judgments and
uncertainties that are sufficiently sensitive and may result in materially different results under different assumptions and conditions.
Investment in Real Estate Properties
When we acquire a property, we first determine whether an acquisition constitutes a business or asset acquisition. Upon acquisition, we allocate the
purchase price of the acquisition based upon our assessment of the fair value of various components, including to land, building, land and building
improvements, and intangible lease assets and liabilities. Fair value determinations are based on estimated cash flow projections that utilize discount and/or
capitalization rates, as well as certain available market information. The fair value of land, building, and land and building improvements considers the
value of the property as if it were vacant. The fair value of intangible lease assets is based on our evaluation of the specific characteristics of
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each lease. Factors considered include estimates of carrying costs during hypothetical expected lease-up periods, current market conditions and market
rates, the customer’s credit quality and costs to execute similar leases. The fair value of above- and below-market leases is calculated as the present value
of the difference between the contractual amounts to be paid pursuant to each in-place lease and our estimate of fair market lease rates for each
corresponding in-place lease, using a discount rate that reflects the risks associates with the leases acquired and measured over a period equal to the
remaining term of the lease for above-market leases and the initial term plus the term of any below-market fixed rate renewal options for below market
leases. In estimating carrying costs, we include estimates of lost rentals at market rates during the expected lease-up periods, depending on local market
conditions. In estimating costs to execute similar leases, we consider customer improvements, leasing commissions and legal and other related expenses.
Impairment of Real Estate Properties
We review our investment in real estate properties individually whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset
may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recorded for the difference between estimated fair value of the real estate property and the carrying amount
when the estimated future cash flows and the estimated liquidation value of the real estate property are less than the real estate property carrying amount.
Our estimates of future cash flows and liquidation values require us to make assumptions that are subject to economic and market uncertainties including,
among others, demand for space, competition for customers, changes in market rental rates, costs to operate each property, and expected ownership periods
that can be difficult to predict.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Interest Rate Risk
As of December 31, 2019, we were exposed to the impact of interest rate changes. Our interest rate risk management objectives are to limit the impact of
interest rate changes on earnings and cash flows, and optimize overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objectives, we have borrowed on a fixed interest
rate basis for longer-term debt and utilized interest rate swap agreements on certain variable interest rate debt in order to limit the effects of changes in
interest rates on our results of operations. As of December 31, 2019, our debt instruments consisted of borrowings under our line of credit, term loans, and
mortgage notes. In January 2020, all of our outstanding debt was repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale.
Fixed Interest Rate Debt. As of December 31, 2019, our consolidated fixed interest rate debt consisted of $150.0 million of borrowings under our line of
credit, $350.0 million of borrowings under one of our term loans, and $719.3 million under our mortgage notes, which, in the aggregate, represented
approximately 76.3% of our total consolidated debt. The interest rates on certain of these borrowings are fixed through the use of interest rate swap
agreements. Interest rate fluctuations will generally not affect our future earnings or cash flows on our fixed interest rate debt unless such instruments
mature or are otherwise terminated, or payments are made on the principal balance. However, interest rate changes could affect the fair value of our fixed
interest rate debt. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value and the carrying value of our consolidated fixed interest rate debt were both approximately $1.2
billion. The fair value estimate of our fixed interest rate debt was estimated using a discounted cash flow analysis utilizing rates we would expect to pay for
debt of a similar type and remaining maturity if the loans were originated on December 31, 2019.
Variable Interest Rate Debt. As of December 31, 2019, our consolidated variable interest rate debt consisted of $228.0 million of borrowings under our
line of credit and our $150.0 million of borrowings under one of our term loans, which combined represented approximately 23.7% of our total
consolidated debt. Interest rate changes on our variable rate debt could impact our future earnings and cash flows, but would not significantly affect the fair
value of such debt. As of December 31, 2019, we were exposed to market risks related to fluctuations in interest rates on $378.0 million of consolidated
borrowings. A hypothetical 10% change in the average interest rate on the outstanding balance of our variable interest rate debt as of December 31, 2019,
would change our annual interest expense by approximately $0.7 million.
Derivative Instruments. As of December 31, 2019, we had 11 outstanding interest rate swaps that were designated as cash flow hedges of interest rate risk,
with a total notional amount of $593.7 million. See “Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for further detail on our interest rate swaps.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
To the Shareholders and Board of Trustees
Industrial Property Trust:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Industrial Property Trust (formerly known as “Industrial Property Trust Inc.”) and
subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, and cash
flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”).
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three‑year period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Asset Sale Transaction
As discussed in Notes 1 and 14 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company entered into an agreement and plan of merger pursuant to which it
sold its wholly-owned real estate assets. The asset sale was completed on January 8, 2020.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States) (“PCAOB”) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not
required to have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain
an understanding of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or
fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis
for our opinion.

/s/KPMG LLP
We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2012.

Denver, Colorado
March 6, 2020
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
As of December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

2018

ASSETS
Investment in unconsolidated joint venture partnerships

$

Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Due from affiliates
Other assets
Assets held for sale
$

Total assets

132,160

$

113,869

15,757

5,698

—

65

—

326

3,090

13,638

2,642,129

2,698,028

2,793,136

$

700

$

2,831,624

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

$

Debt, net

2,322

876,569

820,884

246

217

Distributions payable

23,268

23,953

Distribution fees payable to affiliates

10,188

18,492

—

7,927

Due to affiliates

Other liabilities
Liabilities related to assets held for sale
Total liabilities

771,573

777,471

1,682,544

1,651,266

—

—

1,060

1,057

Commitments and contingencies (Note 12)
Equity
Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $0.01 par value - 200,000 shares authorized, none issued and outstanding
Class A common stock, $0.01 par value per share - 900,000 shares authorized, 105,957 shares and
105,674 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Class T common stock, $0.01 par value per share - 600,000 shares authorized, 72,043 shares and
71,280 shares issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

720

713

1,607,894

1,582,846

(501,597)

Accumulated other comprehensive income
Total shareholders’ equity
Noncontrolling interests
Total equity

(420,697)

2,514

16,438

1,110,591

1,180,357

1

1

1,110,592
$

Total liabilities and equity

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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1,180,358
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

2018

2017

Revenues:
Rental revenues

$

—

Total revenues

$

—

$

—

—

—

—

Rental expenses

—

—

—

Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

—

—

—

General and administrative expenses

9,492

9,557

9,191

Asset management fees, related party

1,068

1,605

507

10,560

11,162

9,698

(4,140)

(8,736)

(1,479)

Operating expenses:

Total operating expenses
Other (income) expense:
Equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture partnerships
Other expense

108

Net gain on disposition of real estate properties
Total other income
(Loss) income from continuing operations

74

30

(6,083)

(3,550)

(44)

(10,115)

(12,212)

(1,493)

1,050

(8,205)

(445)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

12,510

(7,887)

(10,027)

Net income (loss)

12,065

(6,837)

(18,232)

Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests

—
$

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

12,065

—
$

177,663

Weighted-average shares outstanding

(6,837)

(85)
$

176,283

(18,317)
169,270

Net income (loss) per common share - basic and diluted
Continuing operations

$

Discontinued operations

(0.00)

$

0.07
$

Total

0.07

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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0.01

$

(0.05)
$

(0.04)

(0.05)
(0.06)

$

(0.11)
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

$

Change from cash flow hedging derivatives

2018

12,065

(6,837)

$

(7,271)

(13,924)
$

Comprehensive loss attributable to common shareholders

(1,859)

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2017

$

$

(18,317)

$

(15,536)

(434)

2,781
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
Shareholders’ Equity
Common Stock
(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2016

Shares

157,406

Amount

$

Additional PaidIn Capital

1,574

$ 1,402,611

Accumulated
Deficit

$

(212,807)

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

$

$

501

Total

$ 1,205,970

Net (loss) income

—

—

—

—

85

(18,232)

Change from cash flow hedging derivatives

—

—

—

—

2,781

—

2,781

Issuance of common stock

19,014

190

193,919

—

—

—

194,109

Share-based compensation

—

—

1,267

—

—

—

1,267

Upfront offering costs

—

—

(11,932)

—

—

—

(11,932)

—

(5,790)

6,670

—

—

(19)

(18,326)

—

—

(500)

Trailing distribution fees
Redemptions of common stock
Distributions on common stock
Balance as of December 31, 2017

—
(1,906)
—
174,514

$

—

—

1,745

$ 1,561,749

(18,317)

14,091

Noncontrolling
Interests

(96,443)
$

(320,897)

—
$

(85)
$

1

(96,528)
$ 1,259,470

Net loss

—

—

—

—

—

Change from cash flow hedging derivatives

—

—

—

—

(434)

—

Issuance of common stock

4,499

45

48,139

—

—

—

48,184

Share-based compensation

—

—

1,513

—

—

—

1,513

Upfront offering costs

—

—

—

—

—

7,489

—

—

7,579

—

—

—

(28,097)

—

—

(100,452)

Trailing distribution fees
Redemptions of common stock
Distributions on common stock
Balance as of December 31, 2018
Net income
Change from cash flow hedging derivatives

—

90

(20)

—
176,954

(568)

—

(2,059)
$

(6,837)

16,872

880
(18,845)

(28,077)

—

—

(100,452)

1,770

$ 1,582,846

—

—

—

$

(420,697)
12,065

$

16,438

$

—

(434)

(568)

1

$ 1,180,358

—

12,065

—

—

—

—

—

(13,924)

Issuance of common stock

3,004

30

35,133

—

—

—

35,163

Share-based compensation

—

—

1,813

—

—

—

1,813

Upfront offering costs

—

—

(557)

Trailing distribution fees

—

—

79

Redemptions of common stock
Distributions on common stock
Balance as of December 31, 2019

(1,958)

(20)

—
178,000

$

(11,420)

—

—

1,780

$ 1,607,894

(13,924)

(6,837)

—

—

—

8,226

—

—

—

—

—

(11,440)

—

—

(101,191)

(101,191)
$

(501,597)

$

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2,514

$

1

(557)
8,305

$ 1,110,592
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Operating activities:
Net income (loss)

$

12,065

$

(6,837)

$

(18,232)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:
Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

96,510

Equity in income of unconsolidated joint venture partnerships

(4,140)

(8,736)

(1,479)

Straight-line rent and amortization of above- and below-market leases

(6,279)

(9,922)

(12,118)

Net gain on disposition of real estate properties

(6,083)

(3,550)

4,202

3,291

3,804
301

Other

111,942

111,649

(44)

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Tenant receivables and other assets

(1,958)

445

Accounts payable, accrued expenses and other liabilities

(6,612)

5,050

Due from / to affiliates, net
Net cash provided by operating activities

3,262

425

760

(3,494)

88,130

92,443

83,649

(3,624)

(39,918)

(293,444)

Investing activities:
Real estate acquisitions
Acquisition deposits

—

Proceeds from the disposition of real estate properties

(100)

(834)

24,978

20,631

15,340

Capital expenditures and development activities

(47,745)

(43,916)

(43,236)

Investment in unconsolidated joint venture partnerships

(25,860)

(20,810)

(41,218)

11,600

18,000

5,730

—

4,235

—

Distributions from joint venture partnerships
Net proceeds from sale of joint venture partnership ownership interest
Other

(2,579)
Net cash used in investing activities

—

—

(43,230)

(61,878)

(357,662)

Proceeds from line of credit

128,000

138,000

360,000

Repayments of line of credit

(74,000)

(89,000)

(266,000)

Financing activities:

Proceeds from mortgage note

—

Repayments of mortgage notes

—

(2,191)

105,000

(1,354)

—

Financing costs paid

—

(334)

Proceeds from issuance of common stock

—

—

146,217

(626)

(614)

(10,740)

(57,830)

(44,627)

(39,911)

Offering costs paid related to issuance of common stock
Distributions paid to common shareholders
Dividends paid on noncontrolling interests

—

Distribution fees paid
Redemptions of common stock
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities

—

(8,883)

(7,445)

(6,525)

(24,890)

(16,111)

(34,906)

(30,264)

271,037

9,994

301

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of period

5,763

5,462

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of period

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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(116)

(19,376)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
$

(777)

15,757

$

5,763

(2,976)
8,438
$

5,462
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INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
Unless the context otherwise requires, the “Company” refers to Industrial Property Trust and its consolidated subsidiaries. The Company was initially
formed on August 28, 2012 as a Maryland corporation. In February 2020, following the consummation of the Asset Sale (defined below), Industrial
Property Trust converted, as a legal entity, from a Maryland corporation to a Maryland real estate investment trust (“REIT”).
The Company was formed to make equity and debt investments in income-producing real estate assets consisting primarily of high-quality distribution
warehouses and other industrial properties that would be leased to creditworthy corporate customers. Creditworthiness does not necessarily mean that the
Company’s customers are or will be investment grade and much of the Company’s customer base is currently comprised of and is expected to continue to
be comprised of non-rated and non-investment grade customers. As of December 31, 2019, the Company owned and managed, either directly or through its
minority ownership interests in its joint venture partnerships, a real estate portfolio that included 296 industrial buildings. The Company operates as one
reportable segment comprised of industrial real estate.
The Company currently operates and has elected to be treated as a real estate investment trust (“REIT”) for U.S. federal income tax purposes beginning
with its taxable year ended December 31, 2013, and the Company intends to continue to operate in accordance with the requirements for qualification as a
REIT. The Company utilizes an Umbrella Partnership Real Estate Investment Trust (“UPREIT”) organizational structure to hold all or substantially all of
its properties and securities through an operating partnership, Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP (the “Operating Partnership”), of which the
Company is the sole general partner and a limited partner.
Asset Sale Transaction
On July 15, 2019, the Company announced that it had entered into an agreement and plan of merger (as amended and restated on August 20, 2019, the
“Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which it or its wholly-owned real estate assets would be acquired by an affiliate or affiliates of Prologis, L.P. in an all
cash transaction valued at approximately $4.0 billion, subject to certain transaction costs. On August 22, 2019, the Company announced that it had elected
to structure the transaction as a sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets excluding its interests in its unconsolidated joint venture partnerships (the
“Asset Sale”), and following the Asset Sale, the Company will continue to exist with its remaining assets consisting primarily of its minority ownership
interests in its unconsolidated joint venture partnerships (as described in “Note 4”). The Asset Sale closed on January 8, 2020. See “Note 14” for further
detail regarding the closing of the Asset Sale.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) and
pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). In the opinion of management, the accompanying
consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments and eliminations, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation
in conformity with GAAP. Although the Company owns and may acquire additional properties indirectly through its minority interests in joint venture
partnerships, the Company does not intend to directly acquire any additional properties. The Company’s remaining assets consist primarily of its minority
interests in two joint venture partnerships. Accordingly, to the extent these notes to the consolidated financial statements describe the Company’s
accounting policies with respect to its wholly-owned properties, the disclosure is no longer applicable for periods after the Asset Sale.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Industrial Property Trust, the Operating Partnership, and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, as
well as amounts related to noncontrolling interests. See “Noncontrolling Interests” below for further detail concerning the accounting policies regarding
noncontrolling interests. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
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Use of Estimates
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are reviewed
periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period they are determined to be necessary.
Investment in Real Estate Properties
The Company first determines whether an acquisition constitutes a business or asset acquisition. Upon either a business or asset acquisition, the purchase
price of a property is allocated to land, building, and intangible lease assets and liabilities based on their relative fair value. The allocation of the purchase
price to building is based on management’s estimate of the property’s “as-if” vacant fair value. The “as-if” vacant fair value is determined by using all
available information such as the replacement cost of such asset, appraisals, property condition reports, market data and other related information. The
allocation of the purchase price to intangible lease assets represents the value associated with the in-place leases, which may include lost rent, leasing
commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs. The allocation of the purchase price to above-market lease assets and below market lease
liabilities results from in-place leases being above or below management’s estimate of fair market rental rates at the acquisition date and are measured over
a period equal to the remaining term of the lease for above-market leases and the remaining term of the lease, plus the term of any below-market fixed-rate
renewal option periods, if applicable, for below market leases. Intangible lease assets, above-market lease assets, and below-market lease liabilities are
collectively referred to as “intangible lease assets and liabilities.”
If any debt is assumed in an acquisition, the difference between the fair value and the face value of debt is recorded as a premium or discount and
amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt assumed. Transaction costs associated with the acquisition of a property (including the acquisition
fees paid to IPT Advisor LLC (the “Advisor”) and its affiliates) are capitalized as incurred in an asset acquisition and are allocated to land, building, and
intangible lease assets on a relative fair value basis. Properties that are probable to be sold are to be designated as “held for sale” on the balance sheet when
certain criteria are met.
The results of operations for acquired properties are included in the consolidated statements of operations from their respective acquisition dates. Intangible
lease assets are amortized to real estate-related depreciation and amortization over the remaining lease term. Above-market lease assets are amortized as a
reduction in rental revenues over the remaining lease term and below-market lease liabilities are amortized as an increase in rental revenues over the
remaining lease term, plus any applicable fixed-rate renewal option periods. The Company expenses any unamortized intangible lease asset or records an
adjustment to rental revenue for any unamortized above-market lease asset or below-market lease liability when a customer terminates a lease before the
stated lease expiration date.
Land, building, building and land improvements, tenant improvements, lease commissions, and intangible lease assets and liabilities, which are collectively
referred to as “real estate assets,” are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Costs associated with the development and
improvement of the Company’s real estate assets are capitalized as incurred. These costs include capitalized interest and development acquisition fees.
Other than the transaction costs associated with the acquisition of a property described above, the Company does not capitalize any other costs, such as
taxes, salaries or other general and administrative expenses. See “Capitalized Interest” below for additional detail. Costs incurred in making repairs and
maintaining real estate assets are expensed as incurred.
Real estate-related depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as described in the following table:
Land

Not depreciated

Building

20 to 40 years

Building and land improvements

5 to 20 years

Tenant improvements

Lesser of useful life or lease term

Lease commissions

Over lease term

Intangible lease assets

Over lease term

Above-market lease assets

Over lease term

Below-market lease liabilities

Over lease term, including below-market fixed-rate renewal options

Real estate assets that are determined to be held and used will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, and the Company will evaluate the recoverability of such real estate assets based on estimated future
cash flows and the estimated liquidation value of such real
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estate assets, and provide for impairment if such undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to recover the carrying amount of the real estate asset. If
impaired, the real estate asset will be written down to its estimated fair value.
Investment in Unconsolidated Joint Venture Partnerships
The Company owns minority interests in two joint venture partnerships, which are referred to as the BTC Partnerships. The Company analyzes its
investments under GAAP guidance to determine if any joint venture partnership is a variable interest entity (“VIE”) and whether the requisite substantial
participating rights described in the GAAP guidance are held by the partners not affiliated with the Company. If a joint venture partnership is not a VIE and
the partners hold substantial participating rights, the Company accounts for its investment in the joint venture partnership under the equity method. Under
the equity method, the investment is initially recorded at cost and subsequently adjusted to reflect the Company’s proportionate share of equity in the joint
venture partnership’s income (loss) and distributions, which is included in investment in unconsolidated joint venture partnership on its consolidated
balance sheets. The Company additionally recognizes its proportionate share of the ongoing income or loss of the unconsolidated joint venture partnership
in equity in loss of unconsolidated joint venture partnership on the consolidated statements of operations.
The Company evaluates its investments in the unconsolidated joint venture partnerships for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that there may be an other-than-temporary decline in value. When an impairment indicator is identified, the Company calculates the estimated fair
value of the investment using various valuation techniques, including, but not limited to, discounted cash flow models, the Company’s intent and ability to
retain its investment in the entity, the financial condition and long-term prospects of the entity, and the expected term of the investment. If the Company
determined any decline in value is other-than-temporary, the Company would recognize an impairment charge to reduce the carrying value of its
investment to fair value. No impairment losses were recorded related to the unconsolidated joint venture partnerships for the years ended December 31,
2019, 2018, and 2017. See “Note 4” for additional information regarding the BTC Partnerships.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and highly liquid investments with original maturities at the acquisition date of three months or less.
Derivative Instruments
The Company records its derivative instruments in the consolidated balance sheets at fair value. The Company’s derivative instruments are designated as
cash flow hedges and are used to hedge exposure to variability in expected future cash flows, such as future interest payments. For cash flow hedges, the
changes in fair value of the derivative instrument that represent changes in expected future cash flows, which are effectively hedged by the derivative
instrument, are initially reported as other comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of equity until the derivative instrument is settled. Upon
settlement, the effective portion of the hedge is recognized as other comprehensive income and amortized over the term of the designated cash flow or
transaction the derivative instrument was intended to hedge. As such, the effective portion of the hedge impacts net income in the same period as the
hedged item. The change in value of any derivative instrument that is deemed to be ineffective is charged directly to net income when the determination of
hedge ineffectiveness is made. For purposes of determining hedge ineffectiveness, management estimates the timing and potential amount of future interest
payments in order to estimate the cash flows of the designated hedged item or transaction. The Company does not use derivative instruments for trading or
speculative purposes.
Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain long-term financing. These fees and costs are amortized to interest expense over the terms of
the related credit facilities. Unamortized debt issuance costs are written off if debt is retired before its maturity date. Accumulated amortization of debt
issuance costs was approximately $10.2 million and $7.8 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The Company’s interest expense for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 included $2.4 million, $2.4 million and $2.3 million, respectively, of amortization of financing costs.
Capitalized Interest
The Company capitalizes interest as a cost of development. Capitalization of interest for a particular asset begins when activities necessary to get the asset
ready for its intended use are in progress and when interest costs have been incurred. Capitalization of interest ceases when the project is substantially
complete and ready for occupancy. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, approximately $0.9 million, $1.7 million and $2.5 million of
interest was capitalized, respectively.
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Distribution Fees
Distribution fees were paid monthly prior to the completion of the Asset Sale. Distribution fees were accrued upon the issuance of Class T shares. The
Company accrued for: (i) the monthly amount payable as of the balance sheet date, and (ii) the estimated amount of distribution fees to be paid in future
periods based on the Class T shares outstanding as of the balance sheet date. The accrued distribution fees are reflected in additional paid-in capital in
shareholders’ equity. See “Note 10” for additional information regarding when distribution fees become payable.
Noncontrolling Interests
Due to the Company’s control of the Operating Partnership through its sole general partner interest and its limited partner interest, the Company
consolidates the Operating Partnership. The limited partner interests not owned by the Company are presented as noncontrolling interests in the
consolidated financial statements. The noncontrolling interests are reported on the consolidated balance sheets within permanent equity, separate from
shareholders’ equity. As the limited partner interests do not participate in the profits and losses of the Operating Partnership, there is no net income or loss
attributable to the noncontrolling interests on the consolidated statements of operations. Noncontrolling interests also represent the portion of equity in the
acquired subsidiary real estate investment trusts (“Subsidiary REITs”), that the Company does not own. Such noncontrolling interests are equity
instruments presented in the consolidated balance sheets as noncontrolling interests within permanent equity. See “Note 9” for additional information
regarding the Subsidiary REITs.
Revenue Recognition
When a lease is entered into, we first determine if the collectability from the tenant is probable. If the collectability is not probable we recognize revenue
when the payment has been received. If the collectability is determined to be probable, we record rental revenue on a straight-line basis over the full lease
term. Certain properties have leases that offer the tenant a period of time where no rent is due or where rent payments change during the term of the lease.
Accordingly, the Company records receivables from tenants for rent that the Company expects to collect over the remaining lease term rather than
currently, which are recorded as a straight-line rent receivable. The Company evaluates collectability from its tenants on an ongoing basis. If the assessment
of collectability changes during the lease term, any difference between the revenue that would have been recognized under the straight-line method and the
lease payments that have been collected will be recognized as a current period adjustment to rental revenues. When the Company acquires a property, the
term of each existing lease is considered to commence as of the acquisition date for purposes of this calculation. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
Company’s allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately $26,000 and $0.4 million, respectively.
In connection with property acquisitions, the Company may acquire leases with rental rates above or below estimated market rental rates. Above-market
lease assets are amortized as a reduction to rental revenue over the remaining lease term, and below-market lease liabilities are amortized as an increase to
rental revenue over the remaining lease term, plus any applicable fixed-rate renewal option periods.
The Company expenses any unamortized intangible lease asset or records an adjustment to rental revenue for any unamortized above-market lease asset or
below-market lease liability by reassessing the estimated remaining useful life of such intangible lease asset or liability when it becomes probable a
customer will terminate a lease before the stated lease expiration date.
Upon the disposition of an asset, the Company will evaluate the transaction to determine if control of the asset, as well as other specified criteria, has been
transferred to the buyer to determine proper timing of recognizing gains or losses.
Organization and Offering Expenses
Organization and offering expenses were accrued by the Company only to the extent that the Company was successful in raising gross offering proceeds.
Organization costs were expensed in the period they become reimbursable and offering expenses associated with the Company’s public offerings were
recorded as a reduction of gross offering proceeds in additional paid-in capital. See “Note 10” for additional information regarding when organization and
offering expenses became reimbursable.
Income Taxes
The Company currently operates as a REIT under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, for U.S. federal income tax purposes, and elected to be
treated as a REIT beginning with its taxable year ended December 31, 2013. As a REIT, the Company generally is not subject to U.S. federal income taxes
on net income it distributes to its shareholders. The Company intends to make timely distributions sufficient to satisfy the annual distribution requirements.
If the Company fails to qualify as a REIT in any taxable year, the Company will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on its taxable income at regular
corporate tax rates. Even if the Company qualifies for taxation as a REIT, the Company may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and
property and U.S. federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.
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Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share
The Company computes net income (loss) per common share, net income (loss) per common share from continuing operations and net income (loss) per
common share from discontinuing operations by dividing net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders, income (loss) from continuing operations
and income (loss) from discontinuing operations, respectively, by the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding during the period for each
class. Although we only have one class of common shares following the completion of the Asset Sale, we had two classes of shares of common stock prior
thereto. For the periods during which we had two share classes, there were no class specific expenses and each class of shares participated equally in the
profits and losses of the Company. There were no dilutive shares for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value measurements are determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability. Fair value
measurements are categorized into one of three levels of the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of significant input used. In instances where the
determination of the fair value measurement is based on inputs from different levels of the fair value hierarchy, the level in the fair value hierarchy within
which the entire fair value measurement falls is based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The
Company’s assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgment, and considers factors
specific to the asset or liability. Considerable judgment and a high degree of subjectivity are involved in developing these estimates. These estimates may
differ from the actual amounts that the Company could realize upon settlement.
The fair value hierarchy is as follows:
Level 1—Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Other observable inputs, either directly or indirectly, other than quoted prices included in Level 1, including:
•

Quoted prices for similar assets/liabilities in active markets;

•

Quoted prices for identical or similar assets/liabilities in non-active markets (e.g., few transactions, limited information, non-current prices,
high variability over time);

•
•

Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset/liability (e.g., interest rates, yield curves, volatilities, default rates); and
Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by other observable market data.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that cannot be corroborated by observable market data.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2016-02, “Leases (Subtopic
842)” (“ASU 2016-02”), which provides guidance for greater transparency in financial reporting by organizations that lease assets such as real estate,
airplanes and manufacturing equipment by requiring such organizations to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and disclosing
key information about leasing arrangements. The Company adopted the standard when it became effective for the Company, as of the reporting period
beginning January 1, 2019, and the Company elected the practical expedients available for implementation under the standard. Under the practical
expedients election, the Company was not required to reassess: (i) whether an expired or existing contract meets the definition of a lease; (ii) the lease
classification at the adoption date for expired or existing leases; and (iii) whether costs previously capitalized as initial direct costs would continue to be
amortized. The practical expedient also allowed the Company to not separate tenant reimbursement revenue from rental revenue if certain criteria were
met. The Company assessed the criteria and concluded that the timing and pattern of transfer for rental revenue and the related tenant reimbursement
revenue are the same and the lease component, if accounted for separately, would be classified as an operating lease. As such, the Company accounts for
and presented rental revenue and tenant reimbursement revenue as a single component in the condensed consolidated statements of
operations. Additionally, guidance and targeted improvements to ASU 2016-02 were made through the issuance of supplemental ASUs. In January 2018,
the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-01, “Leases (Subtopic 842): Land Easement Practical Expedient for Transition to Topic 842” (“ASU 2018-01”), which
updates ASU 2016-02 to include land easements under the updated guidance, including the option to elect the practical expedient discussed above. In
addition, in December 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-20, “Narrow—Scope Improvements for Lessors” (“ASU 2018-20”), which updates ASU
2016-02 by providing the option to elect a practical expedient for lessors to exclude sales and other similar taxes from the transaction price of the contract,
requires lessors to exclude from revenue and expense lessor costs paid directly to a third party by lessees, and clarifies lessors’ accounting for variable
payments related to both lease and nonlease components. The Company adopted these ASUs using the modified retrospective transition approach when
they became effective for the Company, as of the reporting period beginning January 1, 2019, and the Company elected the practical expedients available
for implementation under the standards. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 and its supplemental standards did not have a material effect on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.
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In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU No. 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging: Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities” (“ASU
2017-12”). The purpose of this updated guidance is to better align a company’s financial reporting for hedging activities with the economic objectives of
those activities. The transition guidance provides companies with the option of early adopting the new standard using a modified retrospective transition
method in any interim period after issuance of the update, or alternatively requires adoption for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018. The
Company adopted ASU 2017-12 as of the reporting period beginning on January 1, 2019. The adoption of this standard did not have a material effect on
the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In July 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-07, “Codification Updates to SEC Sections” (“ASU 2019-07”), which updates various codification topics by
clarifying or improving the disclosure requirements to align with the SEC’s regulations. The Company adopted this standard immediately upon its issuance.
The adoption did not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
3. ASSETS HELD FOR SALE AND DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
Assets Held For Sale
The Company classifies a property as held for sale when certain criteria are met, in accordance with GAAP. Assets classified as held for sale are expected
to be sold to a third party. At such time the property meets the held for sale criteria, the respective assets and liabilities are presented separately in the
consolidated balance sheets and depreciation is no longer recognized. Assets held for sale are reported at the lower of their carrying amount or their
estimated fair value less the costs to sell the assets.
As of December 31, 2019, all of our wholly-owned properties, which consisted of 236 industrial buildings, that are part of the Asset Sale met the criteria to
be classified as held for sale. The following table summarizes the amounts held for sale as of December 31, 2019 and 2018. We subsequently completed the
Asset Sale in January 2020. See “Note 14” for additional information regarding the completion of the Asset Sale.
As of
(in thousands)

December 31, 2019

Land

$

Building and improvements
Intangible lease assets
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation and amortization

784,469

December 31, 2018

$

789,840

1,976,044

1,956,788

192,957

208,234

24,308

16,071

(381,271)

(310,135)

Net investment in real estate properties

2,596,507

2,660,798

Straight-line and tenant receivables, net

32,350

28,838

Other assets

13,272

Assets held for sale

$

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

$

Mortgage notes, net

$

16,655

$

716,470

Other liabilities
$

Liabilities related to assets held for sale

8,392

2,642,129

2,698,028
20,478
717,940

38,448

39,053

771,573

777,471

Discontinued Operations
The Company classifies the results of operations and the respective aggregate net gain (loss) as discontinued operations when the disposal of a property or a
group of properties represents a strategic shift that has or will have a major effect on the Company’s operations and financial results. Discontinued
operations are reflected on the consolidated statements of operations when such property or group of properties have been disposed of or meet the criteria
to be classified as held for sale.
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Discontinued operations for the periods presented below include the results of operations for the properties classified as held for sale (as described above)
as of December 31, 2019. The following table summarizes the amounts included in discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of operations:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Rental revenues

$

2018

250,715

$

2017

241,299

$

223,358

Rental expenses

(66,476)

(63,670)

(58,053)

Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

(96,402)

(111,868)

(111,619)

Asset management fees, related party

(23,194)

(23,247)

(21,963)

Interest expense

(52,133)

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

$

12,510

(50,401)
$

(41,750)

(7,887)

$

(10,027)

The following table summarizes the significant cash flows related to discontinued operations in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

$

Straight-line rent and amortization of above- and below-market leases

$

Capital expenditures and development activities

2018

96,402

$

(6,279)

$

2017

111,868

$

(9,922)

(47,745)

111,619

$

(12,118)

(43,916)

(43,236)

4. INVESTMENT IN UNCONSOLIDATED JOINT VENTURE PARTNERSHIPS
The Company has entered into joint venture partnerships with third-party investors for purposes of investing in industrial properties located in certain major
U.S. distribution markets. The Company reports its investments in the Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP (the “BTC I Partnership”) and the BuildTo-Core Industrial Partnership II LP (the “BTC II Partnership” and, together with the BTC I Partnership, the “BTC Partnerships”) under the equity method
on its consolidated balance sheets due to the fact that the Company maintains significant influence in each partnership. The following table summarizes the
Company’s investment in the unconsolidated joint venture partnerships:
As of
December 31, 2019
Ownership
Percentage

Number of
Buildings (1)

Ownership
Percentage

Number of
Buildings (1)

BTC I Partnership

20.0%

39

20.0%

36

BTC II Partnership

8.0%

21

8.0%

13

($ in thousands)

Total joint venture partnerships
(1)

Investment in Unconsolidated
Joint Venture Partnerships as of

December 31, 2018

60

49

Represents acquired or completed buildings.
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December 31,
2019

$

102,965

$

132,160

December 31,
2018

$

97,128

$

113,869

29,195

16,741
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5. DEBT
As of December 31, 2019, the Company’s consolidated indebtedness was comprised of borrowings under its line of credit, term loans and mortgage notes.
Borrowings under the non-recourse mortgage notes are secured by mortgages or deeds of trust and related assignments and security interests in
collateralized and certain cross-collateralized properties, which are generally owned by single purpose entities. All of the Company’s debt was repaid in
connection with the closing of the Asset Sale in January 2020. A summary of the Company’s debt is as follows:
Weighted-Average
Effective Interest Rate as of
($ in thousands)

December 31,
2019

December 31,
2018

Balance as of
Maturity Date

December 31, 2019

$

2.91%

3.38%

January 2020

Term loan (2)

2.50

2.65

January 2021

350,000

350,000

Term loan (3)

3.16

4.05

May 2022

150,000

150,000

Total principal amount / weighted-average

2.79%

3.19%

878,000

824,000

Less unamortized debt issuance costs

$

Total debt, net (excluding debt related to assets held for sale)

$

Fixed-rate mortgage notes related to assets held for sale, net of
unamortized debt issuance costs (4)

3.36%

3.36%

Total debt, net / weighted-average (including debt related to
assets held for sale) (5)

3.04%

3.27%

Gross book value of properties encumbered by debt

(1)

(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

July 2020 - December
2025

378,000

December 31, 2018

Line of credit (1)

(1,431)
876,569

$

$
$

716,470

324,000

(3,116)
820,884

717,940

$

1,593,039

$

1,538,824

$

1,154,412

$

1,147,963

The effective interest rate is calculated based on either: (i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) multiplied by a statutory reserve rate plus a
margin ranging from 1.40% to 2.30%; or (ii) an alternative base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.40% to 1.30%, each depending on the Company’s
consolidated leverage ratio. The weighted-average effective interest rate is the all-in interest rate, including the effects of interest rate swap
agreements relating to $150.0 million in borrowings under this line of credit.
The effective interest rate is calculated based on either: (i) LIBOR multiplied by a statutory reserve rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.35% to 2.20%;
or (ii) an alternative base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.35% to 1.20%, each depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The
weighted-average effective interest rate is the all-in interest rate, including the effects of interest rate swap agreements.
The effective interest rate is calculated based on either: (i) LIBOR multiplied by a statutory reserve rate, plus a margin ranging from 1.30% to 2.15%;
or (ii) an alternative base rate plus a margin ranging from 0.30% to 1.15%, each depending on the Company’s consolidated leverage ratio. The
weighted-average effective interest rate is the all-in interest rate.
Interest rates range from 2.94% to 3.65%, which includes the effects of an interest rate swap agreement relating to a variable-rate mortgage note with
an outstanding amount of $93.7 million and $95.6 million as of December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
The weighted-average remaining term of the Company’s consolidated debt was approximately 2.5 years as of December 31, 2019, excluding any
extension options on the line of credit.

Debt Covenants
The Company’s line of credit, term loans and mortgage note agreements contain various property-level covenants, including customary affirmative and
negative covenants. In addition, the line of credit and term loan agreements contain certain corporate level financial covenants, including leverage ratio,
fixed charge coverage ratio, and tangible net worth thresholds. The Company was in compliance with its debt covenants as of December 31, 2019 and all of
the Company’s debt was repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale in January 2020.
63

Table of Contents

Derivative Instruments
To manage interest rate risk for certain of its variable-rate debt, the Company uses interest rate swaps as part of its risk management strategy. These
derivatives are designed to mitigate the risk of future interest rate increases by providing a fixed interest rate for a limited, pre-determined period of time.
Interest rate swaps designated as cash flow hedges involve the receipt of variable-rate amounts from a counterparty in exchange for the Company making
fixed-rate payments over the life of the interest rate swap agreements without exchange of the underlying notional amount. As of December 31, 2019, the
Company had 11 outstanding interest rate swap agreements, which were associated with $593.7 million of debt, that were designated as cash flow hedges
of interest rate risk. Certain of the Company’s variable-rate borrowings are not hedged, and therefore, to an extent, the Company has on-going exposure to
interest rate movements.
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges, the gain or loss is recorded as a component of accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) (“AOCI”) on the consolidated balance sheets and is reclassified into earnings as interest expense for the same period that the
hedged transaction affects earnings, which is when the interest expense is recognized on the related debt. The ineffective portion of the change in fair value
of the derivatives is recognized directly in earnings. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, there was no hedge ineffectiveness. The
Company expects no hedge ineffectiveness in the next 12 months.
All of the Company’s debt was repaid in connection with the closing of the Asset Sale in January 2020, and as a result, the derivative instruments were
settled in January 2020 as well. Assuming the debt remained outstanding during the next 12 months, the Company estimates that approximately $2.6
million would have been reclassified as a decrease to interest expense related to active effective hedges of existing floating-rate debt. The BTC
Partnerships, which are not consolidated by the Company under GAAP, continue to have debt outstanding.
The following table summarizes the location and fair value of the cash flow hedges on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets:
($ in thousands)

Number of
Contracts

Notional
Amount

Balance Sheet
Location

Fair
Value

As of December 31, 2019
Interest rate swaps

11

$

593,749

Other assets

$

2,514

11

$

595,626

Other assets

$

16,438

As of December 31, 2018
Interest rate swaps

The following table presents the effect of the Company’s cash flow hedges on the Company’s consolidated financial statements:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Derivative Instruments Designated as Cash Flow Hedges
(Loss) gain recognized in AOCI

$

(6,645)

$

5,165

Gain reclassified from AOCI into interest expense

(7,279)

(5,599)

Total interest expense presented in the consolidated statements of operations in which the
effects of the cash flow hedges are recorded (1)

52,133

50,401

(1)

$

3,452
(671)
41,750

Interest expense is included in discontinued operations on the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and
2017.

6. FAIR VALUE
The Company estimates the fair value of its financial instruments using available market information and valuation methodologies it believes to be
appropriate for these purposes. Considerable judgment and a high degree of subjectivity are involved in developing these estimates and, accordingly, they
are not necessarily indicative of amounts that the Company would realize upon disposition of its financial instruments.
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the Company’s financial instruments measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
(in thousands)

Level 1

Level 2

Level 3

Total Fair Value

As of December 31, 2019
Assets
Derivative instruments

$

—

$

2,514

$

—

$

2,514

Total assets measured at fair value

$

—

$

2,514

$

—

$

2,514

Derivative instruments

$

—

$

16,438

$

—

$

16,438

Total assets measured at fair value

$

—

$

16,438

$

—

$

16,438

As of December 31, 2018
Assets

The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instrument:
Derivative Instruments. The derivative instruments are interest rate swaps. The interest rate swaps are standard cash flow hedges whose fair value is
estimated using market-standard valuation models. Such models involve using market-based observable inputs, including interest rate curves. The
Company incorporates credit valuation adjustments to appropriately reflect both its nonperformance risk and the respective counterparty’s nonperformance
risk in the fair value measurements, which we have concluded are not material to the valuation. Due to the interest rate swaps being unique and not actively
traded, the fair value is classified as Level 2. See “Note 5” above for further discussion of the Company’s derivative instruments.
Nonrecurring Fair Value of Financial Measurements
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the fair values of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, tenant receivables, due from/to affiliates, accounts payable
and accrued liabilities, and distributions payable approximate their carrying values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The table below
includes fair values for certain of the Company’s financial instruments for which it is practicable to estimate fair value. The carrying values and fair values
of these financial instruments were as follows:
As of December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Carrying Value

As of December 31, 2018

Fair Value

Carrying Value

Fair Value

Liabilities
Line of credit

$

378,000

$

378,000

$

324,000

$

324,000

Term loans

500,000

500,000

500,000

500,000

Mortgage notes

719,335

726,049

721,526

698,603

7. INCOME TAXES
The Company has concluded that there was no impact related to uncertain tax positions from the results of operations of the Company for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017. The U.S. is the major tax jurisdiction for the Company and the earliest tax year subject to examination by the taxing
authority is 2015.
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Distributions
Distributions to shareholders are characterized for U.S. federal income tax purposes as: (i) ordinary income; (ii) non-taxable return of capital; or (iii) longterm capital gain. Distributions that exceed the Company’s current and accumulated tax earnings and profits constitute a return of capital and reduce the
shareholders’ basis in the common shares. To the extent that a distribution exceeds both current and accumulated earnings and profits and the shareholders’
basis in the common shares, the distributions will generally be treated as a gain from the sale or exchange of such shareholders’ common shares. For
taxable years beginning before January 1, 2026, all distributions (other than distributions designated as capital gain distributions and distributions traceable
to distributions from a taxable REIT subsidiary) are eligible for a 20% deduction from gross income. At the beginning of each year, the Company notifies
its shareholders of the taxability of the distributions paid during the preceding year. The following table summarizes the information reported to investors
regarding the taxability of distributions on common stock, as a percentage of total distributions, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(unaudited)

2019

2018

2017

Ordinary income

36.34%

33.53%

33.05%

Non-taxable return of capital

59.83

60.55

52.10

3.83

5.92

14.85

100.00%

100.00%

100.00%

Long-term capital gain
Total distribution
8. SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Public Offering

On July 24, 2013, the Company commenced an initial public offering of up to $2.0 billion in common shares at $10.00 per share, including up to $500.0
million in shares offered under the Company’s distribution reinvestment plan. On June 30, 2017, the Company terminated the primary portion of the public
offering. Beginning with the third quarter of 2019, the Company suspended the offering of shares pursuant to its distribution reinvestment plan in
connection with the Company’s original announcement of the Merger Agreement described in “Note 1.” The Company registered $311.9 million in
common shares to be sold pursuant to its distribution reinvestment plan and immediately prior to suspending the distribution reinvestment plan, offered the
shares at a price equal to the net asset value (“NAV”) per share most recently disclosed by the Company, which was $12.33 as of November 30, 2018.
Following the closing of the Asset Sale, the Company terminated the distribution reinvestment plan.
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Common Stock
The following table summarizes the changes in the shares outstanding for each class of common stock for the periods presented below:
Class A
Shares

(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2016

Class T
Shares

Total
Shares

99,374

58,032

157,406

Primary shares

3,696

10,468

14,164

DRIP

2,910

1,794

4,704

Issuance of common stock:

Stock grants

151

Redemptions

(1,537)

Forfeitures

(5)

Balance as of December 31, 2017

—
(369)
—

151
(1,906)
(5)

104,589

69,925

174,514

2,601

1,736

4,337

Issuance of common stock:
DRIP
Stock grants

180

Redemptions

(1,678)

Forfeitures

(18)

Balance as of December 31, 2018

—
(381)
—

180
(2,059)
(18)

105,674

71,280

176,954

1,719

1,133

2,852

Issuance of common stock:
DRIP
Stock grants

158

Redemptions

(1,588)

Forfeitures

(6)
105,957

Balance as of December 31, 2019
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—
72,043

158
(1,958)
(6)
178,000
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Distributions
The following table summarizes the Company’s distribution activity (including distributions reinvested in the Company’s common shares) for the quarters
ended below:
Amount
(in thousands, except per share data)

Declared per Common
Share (1)

Paid in Cash

Reinvested in Shares

Distribution Fees (2)

Gross Distributions (3)

$

$

$

2019
December 31

$

0.14250

$

23,268

—

2,071

25,339

September 30

0.14250

23,266

—

2,070

25,336

June 30

0.14250

11,641

11,601

2,052

25,294

March 31

0.14250

11,490

11,699

2,033

25,222

Total

$

0.57000

$

69,665

$

23,300

$

8,226

$

101,191

$

0.14250

$

11,433

$

11,863

$

1,900

$

25,196

2018
December 31
September 30

0.14250

11,350

11,897

1,880

25,127

June 30

0.14250

11,262

11,980

1,864

25,106

March 31

0.14250

11,092

12,086

1,845

25,023

Total

$

0.57000

$

45,137

$

47,826

$

7,489

$

100,452

$

0.14250

$

10,923

$

12,222

$

1,781

$

24,926

2017
December 31
September 30

0.14250

10,820

12,242

1,764

24,826

June 30

0.14250

10,349

11,868

1,630

23,847

March 31

0.14250

9,902

11,447

1,495

22,844

$

Total
(1)
(2)
(3)

0.57000

$

41,994

$

47,779

$

6,670

$

96,443

Amounts reflect the quarterly distribution rate authorized by the Company’s board of trustees per Class A share and per Class T share of common
stock. The quarterly distribution on Class T shares of common stock is reduced by the distribution fees that are payable monthly with respect to such
Class T shares (as calculated on a daily basis).
Distribution fees are paid monthly to Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (the “Dealer Manager”) with respect to Class T shares issued in the primary
portion of the public offering only. Refer to “Note 10” for further detail regarding distribution fees.
Gross distributions are total distributions before the deduction of distribution fees relating to Class T shares.

Redemptions
In connection with the Company’s original announcement of the Merger Agreement described in “Note 1,” the Company suspended its share redemption
program, effective as of the third quarter of 2019. Prior to the suspension and subject to certain restrictions and limitations, the Company’s common shares
were redeemed for cash at a price that reflected up to a 7.5% discount from the purchase price paid for the shares being redeemed. Prior to the limited
reinstatement of the share redemption program, as described below, in order to be eligible for redemption, shares must have been held for a minimum of
one year, subject to certain exceptions. The Company was not obligated to redeem shares under the share redemption program. The discount from the
purchase price paid for the redeemed shares varied based upon the length of time that the shares had been held, as follows:
Share Purchase Anniversary

Redemption Price as a Percentage of Purchase Price

Less than one year

No redemption allowed

One year

92.5%

Two years

95.0%

Three years

97.5%

Four years and longer

100.0%
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The following table summarizes the Company’s redemption activity for the periods presented below:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)

2019

Number of eligible shares redeemed

2018

1,155

2017

2,862

1,906

Aggregate dollar amount of shares redeemed

$

11,440

$

28,097

$

18,345

Average redemption price per share

$

9.90

$

9.82

$

9.62

Following the closing of the Asset Sale, the Company reinstated the share redemption program solely with respect to redemptions requested in connection
with the death of a shareholder. The aggregate dollar amount of redemptions that can be made under the program is capped at $1.0 million.
9. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Special Units
In September 2012, the Operating Partnership issued 100 partnership units (“Special Units”) to the parent of the Advisor for consideration of $1,000. The
holder of the Special Units does not participate in the profits and losses of the Operating Partnership. Amounts distributable to the holder of the Special
Units will depend on operations and the amount of net sales proceeds received from asset dispositions or upon other events. In general, after holders of OP
Units, in aggregate, have received cumulative distributions equal to their capital contributions plus a 6.5% cumulative, non-compounded annual pre-tax
return on their net contributions, the holder of the Special Units and the holder of OP units will receive 15% and 85%, respectively, of the net sales
proceeds received by the Operating Partnership upon the disposition of the Operating Partnership’s assets.
In addition, the Special Units may be redeemed by the Operating Partnership, upon the earliest to occur of the following events: a “Liquidity Event” (as
defined below); or the occurrence of certain events that result in the termination or non-renewal of the Advisory Agreement, as defined in “Note 10,”
between the Advisor, the Company, and the Operating Partnership.
A Liquidity Event is defined as (i) a listing of the Company’s common shares on a national securities exchange (or the receipt by the Company’s
shareholders of securities that are listed on a national securities exchange in exchange for the Company’s common shares); (ii) a sale, merger or other
transaction in which the Company’s shareholders either receive, or have the option to receive, cash, securities redeemable for cash, and/or securities of a
publicly traded company; or (iii) the sale of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets where the Company’s shareholders either receive, or have the
option to receive, cash or other consideration.
The Company has determined that the Special Units are: (i) not redeemable at a fixed or determinable amount on a fixed or determinable date, at the option
of the holder, or (ii) redeemable only upon events that are solely within the Company’s control. As a result, the Company classifies the Special Units as
noncontrolling interests within permanent equity.
See “Note 14” for information regarding the Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership (the “Third
A&R Partnership Agreement”), which was entered into following the completion of the Asset Sale.
Subsidiary REITs
During the year ended December 31, 2016, the Company acquired controlling interests in four Subsidiary REITs that each own one building for a total
aggregate purchase price of approximately $106.3 million. The Company indirectly owned and controlled the respective managing member of each of the
Subsidiary REITs. Noncontrolling interests represent the portion of equity in the Subsidiary REITs that the Company does not own. Such noncontrolling
interests are equity instruments presented in the consolidated balance sheet as noncontrolling interests within permanent equity. The noncontrolling
interests consisted of redeemable preferred shares with a 12.5% annual preferred dividend. Collectively, the Subsidiary REITs had 500 preferred shares
issued and outstanding at a par value of $1,000 per share, for an aggregate amount of $0.5 million. The preferred shares were non-voting and had no rights
to income or loss. On November 20, 2017, the preferred shares were redeemed by the respective Subsidiary REITs for $1,000 per share, plus accumulated
and unpaid dividends and a redemption premium, for an aggregate amount of approximately $0.6 million. The Subsidiary REITs were subsequently
dissolved.
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10. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company relies on the Advisor, a related party, to manage the Company’s day-to-day operating and acquisition activities and to implement the
Company’s investment strategy pursuant to the terms of the amended and restated advisory agreement, dated June 12, 2019 and amended October 7, 2019,
by and among the Company, the Operating Partnership, and the Advisor, (the “Advisory Agreement”). The current term of the Advisory Agreement ends
June 12, 2020, subject to renewals by the Company’s board for an unlimited number of successive one-year periods. The Dealer Manager provided dealer
manager services in connection with the Company’s public offering. The Sponsor, which owns the Advisor, is presently directly or indirectly majority
owned by the estate of John A. Blumberg, James R. Mulvihill and Evan H. Zucker and/or their respective affiliates, and the Sponsor and the Advisor are
jointly controlled by the estate of Mr. Blumberg and Messrs. Mulvihill and Zucker and/or their respective affiliates. The Dealer Manager is presently
directly or indirectly majority owned, controlled and/or managed by the estate of Mr. Blumberg, Messrs Mulvihill and/or Mr. Zucker and/or their
affiliates. Mr. Zucker is the Chairman of our board. The Advisor and the Dealer Manager received compensation from the Company in the form of fees and
expense reimbursements for certain services relating to the Company’s public offering and for the investment and management of the Company’s assets.
The following summarizes these fees and expense reimbursements as of December 31, 2019:
Sales Commissions. Sales commissions were payable to the Dealer Manager, all of which were reallowed to participating unaffiliated broker dealers, and
were equal to up to 7.0% and 2.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of Class A shares and Class T shares, respectively, in the primary offering.
Dealer Manager Fees. Dealer manager fees were payable to the Dealer Manager, a portion of which were reallowed to unaffiliated participating broker
dealers, and were equal to up to 2.5% and 2.0% of the gross proceeds from the sale of Class A shares and Class T shares, respectively, in the primary
offering.
Distribution Fees. Distribution fees were payable to the Dealer Manager with respect to Class T shares issued in the primary portion of the public offering
only. All or a portion of the distribution fees were typically reallowed or advanced by the Dealer Manager to unaffiliated participating broker dealers or
broker dealers servicing accounts of investors who owned Class T shares, referred to as servicing broker dealers. The distribution fees accrued daily, were
payable monthly in arrears and were paid on a continuous basis from year to year. The distribution fees were calculated on outstanding Class T shares
issued in the primary portion of the public offering only, in an amount equal to 1.0% per annum of the estimated per share value of Class T shares. The
Company made final payments of distribution fees following the Asset Sale and no further distribution fees are due and payable.
Acquisition Fees. Acquisition fees are payable to the Advisor in connection with the acquisition of real property, and will vary depending on whether the
Advisor provides development services or development oversight services, each as described below, in connection with the acquisition (including, but not
limited to, forward commitment acquisitions) or stabilization (including, but not limited to, development and value-add transactions) of such real property,
or both. The Company refers to such properties for which the Advisor provides development services or development oversight services as development
real properties. For each real property acquired for which the Advisor does not provide development services or development oversight services, the
acquisition fee is an amount equal to 2.0% of the total purchase price of the properties acquired (or the Company’s proportional interest therein), including
in all instances real property held in joint venture partnerships or co-ownership arrangements. In connection with providing services related to the
development, construction, improvement or stabilization, including tenant improvements of development real properties, which the Company refers to
collectively as development services, or overseeing the provision of these services by third parties on the Company’s behalf, which the Company refers to
as development oversight services, the acquisition fee, which the Company refers to as the development acquisition fee, will equal up to 4.0% of total
project cost, including debt, whether borrowed or assumed (or the Company’s proportional interest therein with respect to real properties held in joint
venture partnerships or co-ownership arrangements). If the Advisor engages a third party to provide development services directly to the Company, the
third party will be compensated directly by the Company and the Advisor will receive the development acquisition fee if it provides the development
oversight services. With respect to an acquisition of an interest in a real estate-related entity, the acquisition fee will equal: (i) 2.0% of the Company’s
proportionate share of the purchase price of the property owned by any real estate-related entity in which the Company acquires a majority economic
interest or that the Company consolidates for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP; and (ii) 2.0% of the purchase price in connection with
the acquisition of any interest in any other real estate-related entity. In addition, the Advisor is entitled to receive an acquisition fee of 1.0% of the purchase
price, including any third-party expenses related to such investment, in connection with the acquisition or origination of any type of debt investment or
other investment.
Asset Management Fees. Asset management fees consist of: (i) a monthly fee of one-twelfth of 0.80% of the aggregate cost (including debt, whether
borrowed or assumed, and before non-cash reserves, depreciation and amortization expenses and acquisition fees paid to the Advisor) of each real property
asset within the Company’s portfolio (or the Company’s proportional
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interest therein with respect to real property held in joint venture partnerships, co-ownership arrangements or real estate-related entities in which the
Company owns a majority economic interest or that the Company consolidates for financial reporting purposes in accordance with GAAP), provided, that
the monthly asset management fee with respect to each real property asset located outside the U.S. that the Company owns, directly or indirectly, will be
one-twelfth of 1.20% of the aggregate cost (including debt, whether borrowed or assumed, and before non-cash reserves, depreciation and amortization
expenses and acquisition fees paid to the Advisor) of such real property asset; (ii) a monthly fee of one-twelfth of 0.80% of the aggregate cost or
investment (before non-cash reserves, depreciation and amortization expenses and acquisition fees paid to the Advisor, as applicable) of any interest in any
other real estate-related entity or any type of debt investment or other investment; and (iii) with respect to a disposition, a fee equal to 2.5% of the total
consideration paid in connection with the disposition, calculated in accordance with the terms of the Advisory Agreement. In October 2019, the asset
management fee owed with respect to the disposition of wholly-owned properties was reduced from 2.5% to 0.62%. The term “disposition” shall include:
(i) a sale of one or more assets; (ii) a sale of one or more assets effectuated either directly or indirectly through the sale of any entity owning such assets,
including, without limitation, the Company or the Operating Partnership; (iii) a sale, merger, or other transaction in which the shareholders either receive,
or have the option to receive, cash, securities redeemable for cash, and/or securities of a publicly traded company; or (iv) a listing of the Company’s
common shares on a national securities exchange or the receipt by the Company’s shareholders of securities that are listed on a national securities exchange
in exchange for the Company’s common shares.
Organization and Offering Expenses. The Company reimbursed the Advisor or its affiliates for cumulative organization expenses and for cumulative
expenses of its public offerings up to 2.0% of the aggregate gross offering proceeds from the sale of shares in its public offerings. The Advisor or an
affiliate of the Advisor was responsible for the payment of the Company’s cumulative organization expenses and offering expenses to the extent that such
cumulative expenses exceeded the 2.0% organization and offering expense reimbursement for the Company’s public offerings, without recourse against or
reimbursement by the Company. Organization and offering expenses were accrued by the Company only to the extent that the Company was successful in
raising gross offering proceeds. Organization costs were expensed in the period they became reimbursable and offering costs were recorded as a reduction
of gross offering proceeds in additional paid-in capital.
Other Expense Reimbursements. In addition to the reimbursement of organization and offering expenses, provided that the Advisor will not be reimbursed
for costs of personnel to the extent that such personnel perform services for which the Advisor receives a separate fee, the Company is obligated, subject to
certain limitations, to reimburse the Advisor for all of the costs it incurs in connection with the services it provides to the Company, including, without
limitation, personnel (and related employment) costs and overhead (including, but not limited to, allocated rent paid to both third parties and an affiliate of
the Advisor, equipment, utilities, insurance, travel and entertainment, and other costs) incurred by the Advisor or its affiliates, including, but not limited to,
total compensation, benefits and other overhead of all employees involved in the performance of such services. The Advisor may utilize its employees to
provide such services and in certain instances those employees may include the Company’s executive officers.
Property Management and Leasing Fees. Property management fees may be paid to the Property Manager in an amount equal to a market-based
percentage of the annual gross revenues of the applicable property. For each property managed by the Property Manager and owned by the Company, the
fee is expected to range from 2.0% to 5.0% of the annual gross revenues. The Company may also pay the Property Manager a separate fee for initially
leasing-up its properties, for leasing vacant space in the Company’s real properties and for renewing or extending current leases on the Company’s real
properties. Such initial leasing fee will be in an amount that is usual and customary for comparable services rendered to similar assets in the geographic
market of the asset (generally expected to range from 2.0% to 8.0% of the projected first year’s annual gross revenues under the lease).
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The table below summarizes the fees and expenses incurred by the Company for services provided by the Advisor and its affiliates, and by the Dealer
Manager related to the services described above, and any related amounts payable:
Receivable (Payable) as of

For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

December 31,
2019

2017

December 31,
2018

Expensed:
Asset management fees (1)

$

Asset management fees related to dispositions (2)
Other expense reimbursements (3)
$

Total

23,938

$

23,964

$

22,470

$

(3)

$

(69)

982

1,435

496

—

—

5,096

5,055

4,301

—

(510)

30,016

$

30,454

$

27,267

$

(3)

$

(579)

$

—

(62)

11

(61)

Capitalized:
Acquisition fees

$

Development acquisition fees (4)
Total

309

845

6,148

2,555

1,281

778

$

2,864

$

2,126

$

6,926

$

11

$

(123)

$

—

$

—

$

4,491

$

—

$

—

Additional Paid-In Capital:
Sales commissions
Dealer manager fees

—

Offering costs

—

3,026

—

—

557

568

4,415

—

(70)

Distribution fees—current (5)

8,226

7,489

5,790

—

(657)

Distribution fees—trailing (5)

—

—

—

Total
(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

$

8,783

$

8,057

$

17,722

(10,188)
$

(10,188)

(18,492)
$

(19,219)

Includes asset management fees other than asset management fees related to dispositions.
Asset management fees that relate to the Company’s proportionate share of the disposition fee associated with the dispositions of joint venture
partnership properties are included in asset management fees on the Company’s consolidated statement of operations. Asset management fees that
relate to the disposition fee associated with dispositions of wholly-owned properties are netted against the respective gain from dispositions and are
included in the related net gain amount on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Other expense reimbursements include certain expenses incurred in connection with the services provided to the Company under the Advisory
Agreement, and are included in general and administrative expenses on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations. These reimbursements
include a portion of compensation expenses of individual employees of the Advisor, including certain of the Company’s named executive officers,
related to activities for which the Advisor does not otherwise receive a separate fee. A portion of compensation received by certain employees of the
Advisor and its affiliates may be in the form of a restricted stock grant awarded by the Company. The Company shows these as reimbursements to the
Advisor to the same extent that the Company recognizes the related share-based compensation on its consolidated statements of operations. The
Company reimbursed the Advisor approximately $4.4 million, $4.0 million and $4.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017,
respectively, related to these compensation expenses. The remaining amount of other expense reimbursements relate to other general overhead and
administrative expenses including, but not limited to, allocated rent paid to both third parties and affiliates of the Advisor, equipment, utilities,
insurance, travel and entertainment.
Development acquisition fees are included in the total development project costs of the respective properties and are capitalized in construction in
progress, which is included in net investment in real estate properties on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. Amounts also include the
Company’s proportionate share of development acquisition fees relating to the joint venture partnerships, which is included in investment in
unconsolidated joint venture partnerships on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets.
The distribution fees accrued daily and were payable monthly in arrears. The monthly amount of distribution fees payable is included in distributions
payable on the consolidated balance sheets. Additionally, the Company accrued for estimated trailing amounts payable based on the shares
outstanding as of the balance sheet date, which are included in distribution fees payable to affiliates on the consolidated balance sheets. All or a
portion of the distribution fees were reallowed or advanced by the Dealer Manager to unaffiliated participating broker dealers or broker dealers
servicing accounts of investors who own Class T shares.
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Joint Venture Partnerships. Each of the BTC I Partnership and the BTC II Partnership (described in “Note 4”) pay fees to a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Advisor that is a special limited partner in the respective joint venture partnership for providing advisory services to the respective joint venture
partnership. These advisory services include acquisition and asset management services and, to the extent applicable, development management and
development oversight services. In addition, the partnership agreements for the joint venture partnerships contain procedures for making distributions to the
parties, including incentive distributions to the special limited partner (which is a subsidiary of the Advisor), which are subject to certain return thresholds
being achieved. The obligations of the subsidiaries of the Advisor to provide advisory services to the respective joint venture partnerships will terminate
upon termination of the Advisory Agreement with the exception that if the Advisory Agreement is terminated other than for “cause,” the respective
subsidiaries of the Advisor will have the option, in their sole discretion, to seek to become the administrative general partner of the respective joint venture
partnership; subject to certain conditions. If the subsidiary of the Advisor is made the administrative general partner, then the subsidiary will continue to
provide the advisory services and receive the same fees as those to which it was entitled prior to becoming the administrative general partner, but the
subsidiary will not control or manage the respective joint venture partnership.
As a result of the payment of the fees to the respective subsidiaries of the Advisor by the respective joint venture partnerships, the fees payable to the
Advisor pursuant to the Advisory Agreement will be reduced by the product of (i) the fees actually paid to the subsidiaries, and (ii) the percentage interest
of the respective joint venture partnership owned by the Company or any entity in which the Company owns an interest. Accordingly, with respect to each
joint venture partnership, the aggregate of all fees paid to the respective subsidiary of the Advisor will not, with respect to the interests in the joint venture
partnership held by the Company or any entity in which the Company owns an interest, exceed the aggregate amounts otherwise payable to the Advisor
pursuant to the Advisory Agreement.
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the joint venture partnerships incurred in aggregate approximately $11.1 million, $7.5 million,
and $5.8 million, respectively, in acquisition and asset management fees which were paid to the Advisor and its wholly-owned subsidiary pursuant to the
respective service agreements. As of December 31, 2019, the Company had amounts due to the joint venture partnerships in aggregate of approximately
$10,150, which were recorded in due to affiliates on the consolidated balance sheets, and as of December 31, 2018, the Company had amounts due from the
joint venture partnerships in aggregate of approximately $0.2 million, which were recorded in due from affiliates on the consolidated balance sheets.
Transactions with Affiliates
In September 2012, the Company sold 20,000 shares of common stock to the Advisor at a price of $10.00 per share. The Company subsequently
contributed $2,000 to IPT-GP Inc. (“IPT-GP”), which was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and was the sole general partner of the Operating
Partnership until March 2013, when IPT-GP was dissolved as described below.
In September 2012, the Operating Partnership issued 19,800 Operating Partnership Units (“OP Units”) to the Company in exchange for $198,000,
representing an approximate 99% limited partner interest. In addition, IPT-GP contributed $2,000 to the Operating Partnership in exchange for 200 OP
Units, representing an approximate 1% general partner interest. In March 2013, IPT-GP was dissolved and its 200 OP Units, representing the sole general
partner interest in the Operating Partnership, were distributed to the Company as the sole shareholder of IPT-GP. As a result, the Company owns 20,000 OP
Units and is the general partner and a limited partner of the Operating Partnership. The rights of the holders of OP Units are limited and do not include the
ability to replace the general partner or to approve the sale, purchase or refinancing of the Operating Partnership’s assets. Additionally, the Operating
Partnership issued 100 Special Units to Industrial Property Advisors Group LLC, the parent of the Advisor, in exchange for $1,000. These units are
classified as noncontrolling interests. See “Note 9” for additional information regarding the issuance of Special Units and “Note 14” for information
regarding the Third A&R Partnership Agreement that was entered into following the completion of the Asset Sale.
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11. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Supplemental cash flow information and disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities is as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest

$

2018

49,492

$

2017

48,160

$

39,354

Distributions payable

23,268

23,953

23,757

Distribution fees payable to affiliates

10,188

18,492

26,071

Distributions reinvested in common stock

35,163

48,185

45,828

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash consists of cash held in escrow in connection with certain financing requirements and tenant improvements. The following table presents a
reconciliation of the beginning of period and end of period cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets to the
totals shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Beginning of period:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

5,698

$
$

Restricted cash

$

5,397

5,763

$

15,757

$

65

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

8,358

5,462

$

8,438

5,698

$

5,397

65

80

End of period:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

—
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

15,757

65
$

5,763

65
$

5,462

12. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The Company and the Operating Partnership are not presently involved in any material litigation nor, to the Company’s knowledge, is any material
litigation threatened against the Company or its investments.
Environmental Matters
A majority of the properties the Company acquires are subject to environmental reviews either by the Company or the previous owners. In addition, the
Company may incur environmental remediation costs associated with certain land parcels it may acquire in connection with the development of land. The
Company has acquired certain properties in urban and industrial areas that may have been leased to or previously owned by commercial and industrial
companies that discharged hazardous material. The Company may purchase various environmental insurance policies to mitigate its exposure to
environmental liabilities. The Company is not aware of any environmental liabilities that it believes would have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial condition, or results of operations as of December 31, 2019.
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13. SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)
Selected quarterly financial data is as follows:
For the Quarter Ended
(in thousands, except per share data)

March 31

June 30

September 30

December 31

2019
Total revenues

$

Total operating expenses

$

—

Total other income

$

(Loss) income from continuing operations

$

(2,052)

(Loss) income from discontinued operations (1)

$

Net (loss) income
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders
Net (loss) income per common share - basic and diluted (2)

$

$

—

$

—

—

(3,506)

$

$

7,287

$

$

3,781

$

(2,129)

$

(414)

$

304

$

1,984

$

10,636

$

(2,466)

$

4,085

$

(145)

$

10,591

$

(2,466)

$

4,085

$

(145)

$

10,591

(0.01)

$

0.02

$

0.00

$

360

177,076

177,591

(2,271)

$

$

Weighted-average shares outstanding

(2,412)

142

$

(2,371)

$

2,326

177,979

(45)

0.06
177,997

2018
Total revenues

$

Total operating expenses

$

(3,214)

$

Total other income

$

1,037

$

(Loss) income from continuing operations

$

(2,177)

$

(2,387)

$

Loss from discontinued operations (1)

$

(2,253)

$

(2,064)

$

(1,898)

Net loss

$

(4,430)

$

(4,451)

$

Net loss attributable to common shareholders

$

(4,430)

$

(4,451)

$

Net loss per common share - basic and diluted (2)

$

(0.03)

$

(0.03)

$

Weighted-average shares outstanding
(1)
(2)

—

175,565

$

—
(2,596)
209

176,183

$

—

$

—

$

(2,521)

$

(2,831)

$

2,850

$

8,116

329

$

5,285

$

(1,672)

(1,569)

$

3,613

(1,569)

$

3,613

(0.01)

$

0.02

176,456

176,912

As described in “Note 14,” all of the Company’s wholly-owned properties were sold as part of the Asset Sale. As of December 2019, these properties
met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. As such, the results related to those properties were reclassified as discontinued operations for all
periods presented.
Quarterly net (loss) income per common share amounts do not total the annual net loss per common share amount due to changes in the number of
weighted-average shares outstanding calculated on a quarterly and annual basis and included in the net (loss) income per share calculation.
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14. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Asset Sale Transaction
On January 8, 2020, the Company completed the previously announced sale of substantially all of the Company’s assets to affiliates of Prologis, L.P., a
Delaware limited partnership (“Parent”), in exchange for total aggregate consideration of approximately $4.0 billion (including approximately $744.9
million, of mortgage notes and related accrued interest and prepayment penalties paid off by the Parent) (the “Merger Consideration”), pursuant to that
certain Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 20, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by and among the Company, Parent
and Rockies Acquisition LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent (“Rockies Acquisition”).
Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, the sale of all of the Company’s property-owning assets, other than the entities that hold the Company’s
limited partnership and general partnership interests in the Company’s two unconsolidated joint venture partnerships—Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership
I LP (the “BTC I Partnership”) and Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership II LP (the “BTC II Partnership” and, together with the BTC I Partnership, the
“BTC Partnerships”)—to Parent was effected through (i) two mergers (each, a “Merger” and collectively the “Mergers”) of newly formed Delaware limited
liability companies that were wholly owned subsidiaries of affiliates of Parent (the “Merger Subs”) with and into newly formed, wholly owned subsidiaries
of IPT Real Estate Holdco LLC, a Delaware limited liability company and indirect subsidiary of the Company (“IPT Holdco”) (and such wholly owned
subsidiaries, the “New Holdcos”), with each applicable New Holdco surviving each Merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of an affiliate of Parent upon the
terms and subject to the conditions set forth in the Merger Agreement, and (ii) the sale (each, an “Asset Transfer” and together with the Mergers, the “Asset
Sale”) by IPT Holdco of nine limited liability companies that were wholly owned subsidiaries of IPT Holdco to affiliates of Parent. As a result of the Asset
Sale, the Company’s remaining assets primarily consist of its interests in the BTC Partnerships.
In connection with the closing of the Asset Sale (the “Closing”), in accordance with the terms of the Merger Agreement, Parent paid IPT Holdco the
Merger Consideration, and IPT Holdco distributed the Merger Consideration to the Operating Partnership. The Operating Partnership used $957.3 million
of the Merger Consideration to repay debt and related accrued interest under the outstanding credit facilities, and $33.4 million of the Merger Consideration
to pay costs and transaction expenses incurred in connection with the Asset Sale. The Operating Partnership then distributed $57.9 million of the Merger
Consideration to the sole holder of special partnership units in the Operating Partnership and the remaining $2.26 billion of the Merger Consideration to the
Company, as the sole holder of Class A partnership units in the Operating Partnership, in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated Limited
Partnership Agreement of the Operating Partnership, as amended. The Company paid $24.75 million of the portion of the Merger Consideration it received
to the Company’s external advisor as an asset management fee in accordance with the advisory agreement between the Company and its external advisor,
distributed $2.23 billion of the Merger Consideration it received pro rata to the Company’s shareholders within five business days of the Closing, with each
holder of common stock entitled to receive a special distribution in an amount equal to $12.54 per share of common stock, without interest and less
applicable withholdings and taxes (the “Special Distribution”). Consistent with distributions historically made by the Company, the cash distribution
actually paid to holders of shares of Class T common stock was net of up to the aggregate amount of the distribution fees that would have been reallowed
by the dealer manager to broker dealers if the Class T shares had remained outstanding, which remaining distribution fees were paid by the Company at a
discounted rate following the Closing. The amount of remaining distribution fees deducted from the Special Distribution payable to each share of Class T
common stock were generally up to $0.17 per share, depending on how long a shareholder had held its shares of Class T common stock. Following
payment of such remaining distribution fees, each share of Class T common stock was converted to a share of Class A common stock on a one-for-one
basis. Shareholders of the Company will continue to hold the same number of common shares in the Company following the Closing as they held prior to
the Closing.
Third Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Operating Partnership
On February 3, 2020, the Company entered into the Third A&R Partnership Agreement, between the Company, in the Company’s capacity as general
partner and limited partner of the Operating Partnership, and the Advisor, in its capacity as special limited partner of the Operating Partnership. The Third
A&R Partnership Agreement amended and restated the Operating Partnership’s limited partnership agreement to provide for the issuance of a preferred
equity capital interest to the Advisor in connection with certain restructuring transactions entered into between the Company and the Sponsor and to revise
the priority of distributions by the Operating Partnership to reflect the terms of such preferred equity capital interest, as described in additional detail below,
as well as to reflect certain changes to the tax law. The Third A&R Partnership Agreement also incorporates previously adopted amendments to the
Operating Partnership’s Second Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement pursuant to (i) that certain Side Agreement Concerning Second
Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of the Operating Partnership, dated as of August 20, 2019, by and between the Company and the
Sponsor, as described in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on August 23, 2019, and (ii) that certain Amendment to Second Amended and
Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of the Operating Partnership, dated as of October 7, 2019, by
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and among the Company, the Operating Partnership and the Sponsor, as described in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2019,
in each case, other than those changes that are no longer applicable as a result of the closing of the Asset Sale.
As previously disclosed in a Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2019, in connection with the Asset Sale, on October 7, 2019,
the Company, the Operating Partnership, the Sponsor, Industrial Property Advisors LLC, the Company’s prior external advisor (the “Prior Advisor”), and
Academy Partners Ltd. Liability Company, an affiliate of the Sponsor (“Academy Partners”), entered into a Master Reorganization and Transaction
Agreement (the “Master Reorganization Agreement”) to restructure the Sponsor’s interests in the Company.
In accordance with the Master Reorganization Agreement, prior to the closing of the Asset Sale, the Sponsor accepted an assignment of all rights to the
trademark and all related rights and goodwill, world-wide, to the mark “Industrial Property Trust” (collectively, the “IPT Intellectual Property”) from the
current holder thereof, an affiliate of the Sponsor, and an assignment from the Prior Advisor of all of its rights under the Advisory Agreement, and the
Sponsor assumed the obligations of the Prior Advisor under the Advisory Agreement.
Following such assignment and assumption and prior to the closing of the Asset Sale, the Sponsor capitalized the Advisor by contributing to it (i) the IPT
Intellectual Property, (ii) the Advisory Agreement, and (iii) the Sponsor’s special partnership units in the Operating Partnership. As a result of such
contributions, the Advisor became the Company’s new external advisor and the new special limited partner in the Operating Partnership.
As contemplated by the Master Reorganization Agreement, on February 3, 2020, the Advisor made an in-kind contribution to the Operating Partnership in
the form of an assignment of the IPT Intellectual Property, which IPT Intellectual Property the Company previously licensed from an affiliate of the
Sponsor under a terminable non-exclusive license. In exchange for such in-kind contribution of the IPT Intellectual Property, pursuant to the Third A&R
Partnership Agreement, the Operating Partnership issued to the Advisor a preferred equity capital interest in the Operating Partnership having a preference
on distributions from the Operating Partnership (the “Preference”). The amount of the Preference was determined by reference to the appraised fair market
value of the IPT Intellectual Property.
The Third A&R Partnership Agreement also amended the Operating Partnership’s limited partnership agreement to provide that distributions by the
Operating Partnership made from proceeds received by the Operating Partnership from dispositions of the interests in the BTC Partnerships and any other
assets the Company owns in the future will be made, after any distribution necessary to maintain its REIT status, (i) first, 100% to pay the Preference, and
(ii) then, 65% to the Company, and 35% to the Advisor.
Maryland REIT Conversion and the Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws
At the Company’s 2019 annual meeting of stockholders held on December 11, 2019, the Company received stockholder approval to convert the Company,
as a legal entity, from a Maryland corporation to a Maryland REIT (the “Conversion”), as contemplated by the Plan of Conversion of Industrial Property
Trust Inc., which was filed as Annex C-2 to the Company’s definitive proxy statement filed with the SEC on October 21, 2019 (the “Definitive Proxy
Statement”). The Plan of Conversion further provides that the Company implement the plan of liquidation for U.S. federal income tax purposes adopted by
the board of directors and then dissolve without further vote by the Company’s shareholders (the “Plan of Liquidation”).
On February 3, 2020, the Company implemented the Conversion by filing Articles of Conversion with the Maryland State Department of Assessments and
Taxation, a copy of which was filed as Annex C-3 to the Company’s Definitive Proxy Statement. Upon the Conversion, the Company changed its name
from Industrial Property Trust Inc. to Industrial Property Trust. Also on February 3, 2020, pursuant to the Plan of Conversion, the declaration of trust was
executed by the Company’s board of trustees and filed with the Maryland State Department of Assessments and Taxation. The declaration of trust is
substantively identical to the Company’s charter prior to the Conversion, other than revisions necessary to reflect its new entity form as a Maryland real
estate investment trust and to delete references to the Company’s Class T common stock and other immaterial drafting changes. The principal substantive
differences between the declaration of trust and the Company’s charter prior to the Conversion are (i) that the declaration of trust permits sales of all or
substantially all of the Company’s assets following adoption of the Plan of Liquidation by the board, which was adopted on January 7, 2020; and (ii) the
declaration of trust does not require separate shareholder approval for dissolution because the Plan of Conversion includes a provision for voluntary
dissolution following disposition of the Company’s assets. In addition, the declaration of trust only provides for common shares of Class A beneficial
interest in the Company (and not shares of Class T beneficial interest in the Company) because each share of the Company’s Class T common stock
converted to one share of the Company’s Class A common stock on January 31, 2020 as a result of the payment of the remaining distribution fees owed to
broker-dealers for each share of the Company’s Class T common stock. The declaration of trust also provides that holders of the Company’s shares of
beneficial interest are only entitled to vote on the election and removal of trustees, amendments to the declaration of trust, mergers,
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consolidations and such other matters as the Board determines to submit for shareholder approval. An additional summary of the changes made by the
declaration of trust can be found in the Definitive Proxy Statement.
Also effective on February 3, 2020, in connection with the Conversion, the Company adopted the Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company
(the “Amended Bylaws”). The Amended Bylaws contain substantially the same terms as the Company’s prior bylaws, except for changes to reflect the
Company’s new form of organization as a Maryland REIT.
As a result of the Conversion, the Company is a successor registrant to Industrial Property Trust Inc. pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) of the Exchange Act, and
the Company is subject to the informational requirements of the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.
ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Under the direction of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we evaluated the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as
such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”)) as of December 31,
2019. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Rules 13a15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based
upon criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013). Based on that evaluation, our management concluded that our internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2019.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There have not been any changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the
Exchange Act) during the three months ended December 31, 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
The information required by this item will be included under the headings “Board of Trustees,” “Executive Officers,” “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance,” and “Corporate Governance” in our definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required
information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION
The information required by this item will be included under the heading “Compensation of Trustees and Executive Officers” in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SHAREHOLDER
MATTERS
The information required by this item will be included under the heading “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in our
definitive proxy statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE
The information required by this item will be included under the heading “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in our definitive proxy
statement for our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The information required by this item will be included under the heading “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” in our definitive proxy statement for
our 2020 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and such required information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a)

1. Financial Statements—The following financial statements are included:
The Company’s consolidated financial statements are included under Item 8 of this report.
Separate financial statements and the notes accompanying the financial statements for Build-to-Core Industrial Partnership I LP, a significant
subsidiary of the Company, are included below.
2. Financial Statement Schedule—The following financial statement schedule is included in Item 15(c):

All other financial statement schedules are not required under the related instructions or because the required information has been disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements and the notes related thereto.
(b)

Exhibits

The following exhibits are filed as part of this annual report on Form 10-K:
EXHIBIT
NUMBER

DESCRIPTION

2.1

Amended and Restated Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of August 20, 2019, among Industrial Property Trust Inc.,
Prologis, L.P. and Rockies Acquisition LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on August 23, 2019.

3.1

Declaration of Trust, dated as of February 3, 2020, by the Trustees of Industrial Property Trust. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 4, 2020.

3.2

Fourth Amended and Restated Bylaws of Industrial Property Trust. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 4, 2020.

4.1

Third Amended and Restated Share Redemption Program, effective as of January 8, 2020. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1
to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on January 28, 2020.

4.2*

Description of Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.

10.1

Management Agreement, dated as of July 16, 2013, by and between Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP and Black Creek
Property Management Company LLC (formerly known as Dividend Capital Property Management LLC). Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the
SEC on July 17, 2013.

10.2

Industrial Property Trust Inc. Equity Incentive Plan, dated as of July 16, 2013. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to PreEffective Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on July 17,
2013.

10.3

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Industrial Property Trust Inc. and each of the following persons as of
July 16, 2013: Evan H. Zucker, Dwight L. Merriman III, Thomas G. McGonagle, Joshua J. Widoff, Marshall M. Burton, Charles
B. Duke and Stanley A. Moore. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Registration
Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on July 17, 2013.

10.4

Selected Dealer Agreement, dated as of January 21, 2014, by and among Industrial Property Trust Inc., Industrial Property Advisors
LLC, Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (formerly known as Dividend Capital Securities LLC), Industrial Property Advisors
Group LLC, and Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on January 23, 2014.

10.5

Amendment to Selected Dealer Agreement, dated as of January 21, 2014, by and among Industrial Property Trust Inc., Industrial
Property Advisors LLC, Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (formerly known as Dividend Capital Securities LLC), Industrial
Property Advisors Group LLC, and Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 3 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on April 16, 2014.
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10.6

Private Placement Equity Incentive Plan, dated February 26, 2015. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on April 17, 2015.

10.7

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement for Private Placement Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to
Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on April
17, 2015.

10.8

Form of Director Stock Grant Agreement for Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 to Post-Effective
Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on April 17, 2015.

10.9

Form of Restricted Stock Grant Agreement for Consultants for Equity Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 to
Post-Effective Amendment No. 7 to the Registration Statement on Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on April
17, 2015.

10.10

Third Amended and Restated Limited Partnership Agreement of Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP, dated as of February
3, 2020, among Industrial Property Trust, as general partner, and the Limited Partners thereto. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 4, 2020.

10.11

Amendment No. 2 to the Selected Dealer Agreement, dated as of August 28, 2015, by and among Industrial Property Trust Inc.,
Industrial Property Advisors LLC, Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (formerly known as Dividend Capital Securities LLC) and
Ameriprise Financial Services. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on
September 2, 2015.

10.12

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Industrial Property Trust Inc. and John S. Hagestad as of September 2,
2015. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Pre-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-11 (File No. 333-184126) filed with the SEC on July 17, 2013.

10.13

Amendment No. 3 to the Selected Dealer Agreement, dated as of April 11, 2016, by and among Industrial Property Trust Inc.,
Industrial Property Advisors LLC, Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (formerly known as Dividend Capital Securities LLC) and
Ameriprise Financial Services. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC
on May 11, 2016.

10.14

Second Amended and Restated Agreement by and among IPT BTC I GP LLC, Industrial Property Advisors Sub I LLC, and
Industrial Property Advisors LLC, dated as of September 15, 2016. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report
on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on September 20, 2016.

10.15

Letter Agreement Regarding Drag-Along Rights, dated as of September 15, 2016, by and among IPT BTC I GP LLC, IPT BTC I
LP LLC and Industrial Property Advisors Sub I LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on September 20, 2016.

10.16

Amendment No. 4 to Selected Dealer Agreement, dated as of October 28, 2016 and effective as of January 1, 2017, by and between
Industrial Property Trust Inc., Industrial Property Advisors LLC, Black Creek Capital Markets, LLC (formerly known as Dividend
Capital Securities LLC), Industrial Property Advisors Group LLC, and Ameriprise Financial Services, Inc. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on November 3, 2016.

10.17

Fourth Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP, dated December 30,
2016, by and among IPT BTC I GP LLC, IPT BTC I LP LLC, Industrial Property Advisors Sub I LLC, bcIMC (WCBAF) Realpool
Global Investment Corporation, bcIMC (College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Public Service) US
Realty Inc., bcIMC (Teachers) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB) US Realty Inc., and bcIMC (Hydro) US Realty Inc. Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.26 to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 9, 2018.

10.18

Agreement of Limited Partnership of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership II LP, dated as of May 19, 2017, by and among IPT BTC
II GP LLC, IPT BTC II LP LLC, Industrial Property Advisors Sub IV LLC, BCG BTC II Investors LLC, bcIMC (WCBAF)
Realpool Global Investment Corporation, bcIMC (College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Public
Service) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Teachers) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Hydro) US Realty Inc., and
QuadReal US Holdings Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
August 9, 2017.

10.19

Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2017, by and among IPT BTC II GP LLC and Industrial Property Advisors Sub III LLC.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2017.
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10.20

First Amendment to Agreement of Limited Partnership of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership II LP, dated January 31, 2018, by
and among IPT BTC II GP LLC, IPT BTC II LP LLC, Industrial Property Advisors Sub IV LLC, BCG BTC II Investors LLC,
bcIMC (WCBAF) Realpool Global Investment Corporation, bcIMC (College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc.,
bcIMC (Public Service) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Teachers) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Hydro) US
Realty Inc., and QuadReal US Holdings Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on February 6, 2018.

10.21

Second Amendment to Agreement of Limited Partnership of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership II LP, dated as of May 10, 2019,
by and among IPT BTC II GP LLC, IPT BTC II LP LLC, Industrial Property Advisors Sub IV LLC, BCG BTC II Investors LLC,
QR Master Holdings USA II LP and QuadReal US Holdings Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on November 12, 2019.

10.22

Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement (2019), dated June 12, 2019, among Industrial Property Trust Inc., Industrial Property
Operating Partnership LP and Industrial Property Advisors LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on August 9, 2019.

10.23

Master Reorganization and Transaction Agreement, dated as of October 7, 2019, by and among Industrial Property Trust
Inc., Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP, Industrial Property Advisors Group LLC, Industrial Property Advisors LLC, and
Academy Partners Ltd. Liability Company. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on October 8, 2019.

10.24

Amendment to Amended and Restated Advisory Agreement (2019), dated as of October 7, 2019, by and among Industrial Property
Trust Inc., Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP and Industrial Property Advisors LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.2 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on October 8, 2019.

21.1*

List of Subsidiaries of Industrial Property Trust

23.1*

Consent of KPMG LLP

23.2*

Consent of KPMG LLP regarding the Consolidated Financial Statements of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP.

23.3

Consent of CBRE Capital Advisors, Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on January 8, 2020.

31.1*

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2*

Certification of Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1**

Certifications of Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002.

99.1*

Consolidated Financial Statements of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for the
years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017.

101

The following materials from Industrial Property Trust’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019, filed
on March 9, 2020, formatted in XBRL (eXtensible Business Reporting Language): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii)
Consolidated Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

*

Filed herewith.

**

Furnished herewith.
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ITEM 16. SUMMARY OF FORM 10-K
See the “Table of Contents” for a summary of information included in this Form 10-K.
83

Table of Contents
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized on March 9, 2020.
INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
By:

/s/ DWIGHT L. MERRIMAN III
Dwight L. Merriman III
Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

By:

/s/ THOMAS G. MCGONAGLE
Thomas G. McGonagle
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Dwight L. Merriman, Thomas
G. McGonagle and Joshua J. Widoff (with full power to act alone), as his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with full powers of substitution and
resubstitution, for him and in his name, place and stead, in any and all capacities, to sign any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and
to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granting unto said
attorneys-in-fact and agents full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite or necessary to be done in and about the
premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all that said attorneys-in-fact and agents, or
their substitute or substitutes, lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant
and in the capacities indicated and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

/s/ EVAN H. ZUCKER

Chairman of the Board and Trustee

March 9, 2020

Trustee

March 9, 2020

Trustee

March 9, 2020

Trustee

March 9, 2020

Trustee

March 9, 2020

Managing Director,
Chief Executive Officer and Trustee
(Principal Executive Officer)

March 9, 2020

Managing Director,
Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

March 9, 2020

Evan H. Zucker

/s/ MARSHALL M. BURTON
Marshall M. Burton

/s/ CHARLES B. DUKE
Charles B. Duke

/s/ JOHN S. HAGESTAD
John S. Hagestad

/s/ STANLEY A. MOORE
Stanley A. Moore

/s/ DWIGHT L. MERRIMAN III
Dwight L. Merriman III

/s/ THOMAS G. MCGONAGLE
Thomas G. McGonagle
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Exhibit 4.2
DESCRIPTION OF INDUSTRIAL PROPERTY TRUST
SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12(g)
OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
The following is a summary of the material terms of shares of beneficial interest of Industrial Property Trust, registered pursuant to Section 12(g)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) as set forth in our declaration of trust and bylaws, as amended and supplemented
from time to time. This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to our declaration of trust and bylaws. References herein to “us,” “we,” “our,” or
the “Trust” refer to Industrial Property Trust. Under our declaration of trust, we have authority to issue a total of 1.7 billion shares of beneficial interest,
consisting of 1.5 billion Class A common shares of beneficial interest, $0.01 par value per share, and 200 million preferred shares of beneficial interest,
$0.01 par value per share. Only our Class A common shares of beneficial interest, which we refer to herein as our “common shares,” are registered
pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Exchange Act. Our board of trustees, with the approval of a majority of the entire board and without any action by our
shareholders, may amend our declaration of trust from time to time to increase or decrease the aggregate number of shares of beneficial interest or the
number of shares of beneficial interest of any class or series that we have authority to issue.
Common Shares
The holders of common shares are entitled to one vote per share on all matters voted on by shareholders, including election of our trustees. Our
declaration of trust does not provide for cumulative voting in the election of trustees. Therefore, the holders of a majority of the outstanding common
shares can elect our entire board of trustees. Subject to any preferential rights of any outstanding class or series of preferred shares, the holders of common
shares are entitled to such distributions as may be authorized from time to time by our board of trustees out of legally available funds and declared by us
and, upon liquidation, are entitled to receive all assets available for distribution to shareholders. All common shares that have been issued are fully paid
and non-assessable common shares. Holders of common shares will not have preemptive rights, which means that holders will not have an automatic
option to purchase any new common shares that we issue, and generally will not have appraisal rights unless our board of trustees determines that appraisal
rights apply, with respect to all or any classes or series of shares, to one or more transactions occurring after the date of such determination in connection
with which holders of such shares would otherwise be entitled to exercise appraisal rights. Shareholders are not liable for our acts or obligations.
We will not issue certificates for common shares. Common shares will be held in “uncertificated” form which will eliminate the physical handling
and safekeeping responsibilities inherent in owning transferable share certificates and eliminate the need to return a duly executed share certificate to effect
a transfer. DST Systems, Inc. acts as our registrar and as the transfer agent for common shares. Transfers can be requested by mailing a transfer and
assignment form, which we will provide at no charge, to:

For regular mail:

For overnight deliveries:

Black Creek Group

Black Creek Group

P.O. Box 219079

c/o DST Systems, Inc.

Kansas City, MO 64121-9079

430 W. 7th Street, Suite 219079
Kansas City, MO 64121-9079

Preferred Shares
The issuance of preferred shares must be approved by a majority of our independent trustees who do not have an interest in the transaction and
who have access, at our expense, to our legal counsel or to independent legal counsel. Our declaration of trust authorizes our board of trustees to classify
and reclassify any unissued common

shares and preferred shares into other classes or series of shares. Prior to issuance of shares of each class or series, our board of trustees is required to set,
subject to restrictions on transfer of our shares set forth in our declaration of trust, the terms, preferences, conversion or other rights, voting powers,
restrictions, limitations as to dividends or other distributions, qualifications and terms and conditions of redemption for each class or series. Thus, our board
of trustees could authorize the issuance of common shares or preferred shares with terms and conditions which could have the effect of delaying, deferring
or preventing a transaction or change in control that might involve a premium price for holders of our common shares or otherwise be in their best interest.
Our board of trustees has no present plans to issue preferred shares, but may do so at any time in the future without shareholder approval.
Meetings, Special Voting Requirements and Access to Records
An annual meeting of our shareholders will be held not less than 30 days after delivery of our annual report. Our board of trustees, including the
independent trustees, will take reasonable steps to insure that this requirement is met. Special meetings of shareholders may be called only upon the request
of a majority of the trustees, a majority of the independent trustees, the chairman of the board, the chief executive officer or the president and must be
called by the secretary to act on any matter that may be properly considered at a meeting of shareholders upon the written request of shareholders entitled to
cast at least 10% of all the votes entitled to be cast on such matter at such meeting. The presence of 50% of the outstanding common shares either in person
or by proxy shall constitute a quorum. Generally, the affirmative vote of a majority of the votes cast on a matter is necessary to take shareholder action,
except that a majority of the votes represented in person or by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum is present is required to elect a trustee and except for
the matters described in the next paragraph, which must be approved by the affirmative vote of shareholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes
entitled to be cast on the matter.
Under our declaration of trust, shareholders are generally entitled to vote at a duly held meeting at which a quorum is present on (i) the
amendment of our declaration of trust; (ii) our merger or consolidation into another entity, or the sale or other disposition of all or substantially all of our
assets, other than a sale or other disposition in the ordinary course of business or following the adoption by the board of trustees of a plan of liquidation of
the Trust; and (iii) such other matters with respect to which the board of trustees has adopted a resolution declaring that a proposed action is advisable and
directing that the matter be submitted to the shareholders for approval or ratification.
The advisory agreement by and among us, Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP (the “Operating Partnership”) and our external advisor
(the “Advisor”), including the selection of the Advisor, is approved annually by our trustees including a majority of the independent trustees. While our
shareholders do not have the ability to vote to replace the Advisor or to select a new advisor, shareholders do have the ability, by the affirmative vote of
shareholders entitled to cast a majority of all the votes entitled to be cast generally in the election of trustees, to remove a trustee from our board of trustees.
An alphabetical list of the names, addresses and telephone numbers of our shareholders, along with the number of common shares held by each of them,
shall be maintained as part of our books and records and shall be available for inspection by any shareholder or the shareholder’s designated agent at our
office. The shareholder list shall be updated at least quarterly to reflect changes in the information contained therein. A copy of the list shall be mailed to
any shareholder who requests the list within 10 days of our receipt of the request. A shareholder may request a copy of the shareholder list in connection
with matters relating to voting rights and the exercise of shareholder rights under federal proxy laws. A shareholder requesting a list will be required to pay
the reasonable costs of postage and duplication. We have the right to request that a requesting shareholder represent to us that the list will not be used to
pursue commercial interests. In addition to the foregoing, shareholders have rights under Rule 14a-7 under the Exchange Act, which provides that, upon the
request of investors and the payment of the expenses of the distribution, we are required to distribute specific materials to shareholders in the context of the
solicitation of proxies for voting on matters presented to shareholders or, at our option, provide requesting shareholders with a copy of the list of
shareholders so that the requesting shareholders may make the distribution of proxies themselves. If a proper request for the shareholder list is not honored,
then the requesting shareholder shall be entitled to recover certain costs incurred in compelling the production of the list as well as actual damages suffered
by reason of the refusal or failure to produce the list. However, a shareholder shall not have the right to, and we may require a requesting shareholder to
represent that it will not, secure the shareholder

list or other information for the purpose of sales or using the list for a commercial purpose or any other purpose not related to the requesting shareholder’s
interest in the affairs of the Trust.
In addition, pursuant to our declaration of trust, any shareholder and any designated representative thereof shall be permitted access to our
corporate records to which such shareholder is entitled under applicable law at all reasonable times, and may inspect and copy any of them for a reasonable
charge. Under Maryland law, shareholders are therefore entitled to inspect and copy only our bylaws, minutes of shareholder proceedings, annual
statements of affairs, voting trust agreements and statements of the amount of securities issued by us during the period specified by the requesting
shareholder, which period may not be longer than 12 months prior to the date of the shareholder’s request. Statements of securities will only include the
number of shares issued during the period and the consideration received per share, in conformity with Maryland law, and will not include any personal
identifying information concerning the holders of the shares. Requests to inspect and/or copy our corporate records must be made in writing to Industrial
Property Trust, 518 Seventeenth Street, 17th Floor, Denver, Colorado 80202. It is the policy of our board of trustees to comply with all proper requests for
access to our corporate records in conformity with our declaration of trust and Maryland law.
Tender Offers
Our declaration of trust provides that any tender offer made by any person, including any “mini-tender” offer, must comply with most of the
provisions of Regulation 14D of the Exchange Act, including the notice and disclosure requirements. Among other things, the offeror must provide us
notice of such tender offer at least 10 business days before initiating the tender offer. Our declaration of trust also prohibits any shareholder from
transferring our shares to a person who makes a tender offer which does not comply with the provisions set forth above unless such shareholder has first
offered such shares to us at the tender offer price offered in the non- compliant tender offer. In addition, the non-complying offeror will be responsible for
all of our expenses in connection with enforcing our declaration of trust provisions concerning that offeror’s noncompliance.
Restriction on Ownership of Shares
In order for us to qualify as a REIT, no more than 50% in value of the outstanding common shares may be owned, directly or indirectly through
the application of certain attribution rules under the Code, by any five or fewer individuals, as defined in the Code to include specified entities, during the
last half of any taxable year. In addition, the outstanding common shares must be owned by 100 or more persons independent of us and each other during at
least 335 days of a 12-month taxable year or during a proportionate part of a shorter taxable year, excluding our first taxable year ended December 31,
2013. In addition, we must meet requirements regarding the nature of our gross income, composition of our assets, amount of distributions and various
other tests in order to qualify as a REIT. One of these requirements is that at least 75% of our gross income for each calendar year must consist of rents
from real property and income from other real property investments (and a similar test requires that at least 95% of our gross income for each calendar year
must consist of rents from real property and income from other real property investments together with certain other passive items such as dividend and
interest). The rents received by the Operating Partnership from any customer will not qualify as rents from real property, which could result in our loss of
REIT status, if we own, actually or constructively within the meaning of certain provisions of the Code, 10% or more of the ownership interests in that
customer. In order to assist us in preserving our status as a REIT, among other purposes, our declaration of trust provides generally that (i) no person may
beneficially or constructively own common shares in excess of 9.8% (in value or number of shares, whichever is more restrictive) of the outstanding
common shares; (ii) no person may beneficially or constructively own shares in excess of 9.8% of the value of the total outstanding shares; (iii) no person
may beneficially or constructively own shares that would result in the Trust being “closely held” within the meaning of Section 856(h) of the Code or
otherwise cause us to fail to qualify as a REIT (including, but not limited to, beneficial or constructive ownership that would result in the Trust owning
(actually or constructively) an interest in a customer that is described in Section 856(d)(2)(B) of the Code if the income derived by the Trust from such
customer would cause us to fail to satisfy any of the gross income requirements of Section 856(c) of the Code); and (iv) no person may transfer or attempt
to transfer shares if such transfer would result in shares being owned beneficially by fewer than 100 persons.

Our declaration of trust provides that if any of the restrictions on transfer or ownership described above are violated, the shares that, if transferred,
would cause the violation will be automatically transferred to a charitable trust for the benefit of one or more charitable beneficiaries effective on the day
before the purported transfer of such shares. We will designate a trustee of the charitable trust that will not be affiliated with us or the purported transferee
or record holder. We will also name a charitable organization as beneficiary of the charitable trust. The trustee will receive all distributions on the shares in
the same trust and will hold such distributions in trust for the benefit of the beneficiary. The trustee also will vote the shares in the same trust. Subject to
Maryland law, the trustee will also have the authority (i) to rescind as void any vote cast by the purported transferee prior to our discovery that the shares
have been transferred to the trust and (ii) to recast the vote in accordance with the desires of the trustee acting for the benefit of the charitable beneficiary.
However, if we have already taken irreversible corporate action, then the trustee will not have the authority to rescind and recast the vote. The purported
transferee will acquire no rights in such shares, unless, in the case of a transfer that would cause a violation of the 9.8% ownership limit, the transfer is
exempted (prospectively or retroactively) by our board of trustees from the ownership limit based upon receipt of information (including certain
representations and undertakings from the purported transferee) that such transfer would not violate the provisions of the Code for our qualification as a
REIT. In addition, our declaration of trust provides that we may redeem shares upon the terms and conditions specified by our board of trustees in its sole
discretion if our board of trustees determines that ownership or a transfer or other event may violate the restrictions described above. Furthermore, upon the
occurrence of certain events, attempted transfers in violation of the restrictions described above may be void ab initio.
The trustee of the charitable trust will sell the shares to a person whose ownership of shares will not violate the ownership limits. The sale shall be
made within 20 days of receiving notice from us that shares have been transferred to the trust. During this 20-day period, we will have the option of
purchasing such shares. Upon any such sale or purchase, the purported transferee or holder shall receive a per share price equal to the lesser of (a) the price
paid by the purported transferee for the shares or, if the purported transferee did not give value for the shares in connection with the event causing the
shares to be held in the charitable trust (e.g., in the case of a gift, devise or other such transaction), the market price of the shares on the day of the event
causing the shares to be held in the charitable trust and (b) in the case of a sale, the price per share received by the charitable trustee (net of any
commissions and other expenses of sale) from the sale or other disposition of the shares held in the charitable trust or in the case of a purchase, the market
price on the date we or our designee accept the offer to purchase. The charitable trustee may reduce the amount payable to the purported transferee by the
amount of dividends and other distributions which have been paid to the purported transferee and are owed by the purported transferee to the charitable
trustee pursuant to our declaration of trust. Any net sales proceeds in excess of the amount payable to the purported transferee shall be immediately paid to
the charitable beneficiary. If, prior to the discovery by us that shares have been transferred to the charitable trustee, such shares are sold by a purported
transferee, then (i) such shares shall be deemed to have been sold on behalf of the charitable trust and (ii) to the extent that the purported transferee received
an amount for such shares that exceeds the amount that such purported transferee was entitled to receive pursuant to our declaration of trust, such excess
shall be paid to the charitable trustee upon demand.
Any person who acquires or attempts or intends to acquire beneficial ownership or constructive ownership of shares that will or may violate the
foregoing restrictions, or any person who would have owned shares that resulted in a transfer to the charitable trust pursuant to our declaration of trust, is
required to immediately give written notice to us of such event, or in the case of such a proposed or attempted transaction, give at least 10 business days
prior written notice, and shall provide to us such other information as we may request in order to determine the effect, if any, of such transfer on our status
as a REIT.
The ownership limits do not apply to a person or persons which our board of trustees has, in its sole discretion, determined to exempt
(prospectively or retroactively) from the ownership limit upon appropriate assurances that our qualification as a REIT is not jeopardized. Any person who
owns more than 5% (or such lower percentage applicable under the Code or Treasury regulations) of the outstanding shares during any taxable year will be
asked to deliver a statement or affidavit setting forth the number of shares beneficially owned and other information related to such ownership.

Distributions
As described below under “—Plan of Liquidation,” we have adopted a plan of liquidation and we anticipate that any future distributions paid to
our shareholders will be liquidating distributions paid from the net proceeds of the sale of our remaining assets. There can be no assurances as to the timing
or amount of any liquidating distributions.
Subject to any preferential rights of any outstanding series of preferred shares, holders of our common shares are entitled to such distributions as
may be authorized from time to time by our board of trustees and declared by us and, upon liquidation, are entitled to receive all assets available for
distribution to shareholders. Distributions in kind are not be permitted, except in certain specified circumstances, including distributions of readily
marketable securities or securities of the Trust and distributions of beneficial interests in a liquidating trust established for the dissolution of the Trust and
the liquidation of our assets. The receipt of marketable securities in lieu of cash distributions may cause shareholders to incur transaction expenses in
liquidating the securities.
Our bylaws provide that our board of trustees may authorize dividends and other distributions, subject to provisions of law and our declaration of
trust. Before payment of any dividends or other distributions, our board of trustees may set aside out of the assets of the Trust available for dividends or
other distributions such sums as our board of trustees may from time to time, in its absolute discretion, think proper as a reserve fund for contingencies, for
equalizing dividends, for repairing or maintaining any property of the Trust or for such other purposes as our board of trustees shall determine, and our
board of trustees may modify or abolish any such reserve.
Each year, in order to maintain our qualification as a REIT, we must distribute dividends, other than capital gain dividends and deemed
distributions of retained capital gain, to our shareholders in an aggregate amount at least equal to the sum of 90% of our “REIT taxable income,” computed
without regard to the dividends paid deduction and our net capital gain or loss, 90% of our after-tax net income, if any, from foreclosure property, minus the
sum of certain items of non-cash income.
We will pay federal income tax on taxable income, including net capital gain, that we do not distribute to shareholders. Furthermore, if we fail to
distribute with respect to each year, at least the sum of 85% of our REIT ordinary income for such year, 95% of our REIT capital gain income for such year,
and any undistributed taxable income from prior periods, we will incur a 4% nondeductible excise tax on the excess of such required distribution over the
amounts we actually distribute. Shareholders shall have no right to any dividend or other distribution unless and until authorized by our board of trustees
and declared by the Trust.
Amounts available for distributions will be affected by our expenses, including any fees paid and distributions made to the Advisor and any of its
affiliates. The amounts available for distributions will also be affected by any redemption payments made pursuant to our share redemption program or any
distributions made to the holders of partnership units in the Operating Partnership (the “OP Units”) or partnership units in the Operating Partnership
constituting a separate series of partnership interests with special distribution rights.
Share Redemption Program
We expect that there will be no regular secondary trading market for our common shares. We have adopted a share redemption program that is
available solely in connection with the death of a shareholder in accordance with the procedures outlined in, and subject to the conditions and limitations
described in our share redemption program. At the time that a request for redemption is submitted, we may, subject to the conditions and limitations of our
share redemption program, redeem the common shares presented for redemption for cash to the extent that we have sufficient funds available to fund such
redemption. There is no fee in connection with a redemption of common shares. The share redemption program will be immediately terminated if a
secondary market for our common shares is otherwise established or if the aggregate amount of redemption proceeds paid under our share redemption
program (as amended and restated effective January 8, 2020) equals $1.0 million (the “Aggregate Redemption

Cap”). Our share redemption program is made available solely at the discretion of our board of trustees and we are not obligated to redeem common shares
under the share redemption program.
We intend to redeem common shares quarterly under the program. All requests for redemption must be made in writing and received by us at least
15 days prior to the end of the applicable quarter (the “Applicable Quarter End”). Redemption requests may be withdrawn in whole or in part by submitting
a request in writing that is received by us at any time up to three business days prior to the Applicable Quarter End.
Shares will be redeemed at a price equal to the estimated net asset value per share most recently announced by the Trust in a public filing with the
Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) as of the Applicable Quarter End. Any redemption request must be submitted to us within 18 months
after the date of death of the shareholder and must meet the other conditions and procedural requirements set forth in our share redemption program. Our
board of trustees reserves the right in its sole discretion at any time and from time to time to (a) reject any request for redemption for any reason or (b)
reduce the amount of common shares allowed to be redeemed under the share redemption program.
Our board of trustees may, in its sole discretion, amend, suspend, or terminate our share redemption program at any time without shareholder
approval. Any amendment, suspension or termination of our share redemption program will not affect the rights of holders of OP Units to cause us to
redeem their OP Units for, at our sole discretion, common shares, cash, or a combination of both pursuant to the Operating Partnership Agreement. If our
board of trustees decides to materially amend, suspend or terminate the share redemption program, we will provide shareholders with prompt written
notice, which we will provide by filing a Current Report on Form 8-K with the SEC. Therefore, shareholders may not have the opportunity to make a
redemption request prior to any potential suspension, amendment or termination of our share redemption program.
In the event that the total amount of shares requested for redemption exceeds the Aggregate Redemption Cap, we plan to redeem the common
shares on a pro rata basis until the Aggregate Redemption Cap is reached and then our share redemption program will automatically terminate. However,
such determinations regarding our share redemption program will not affect any determinations that may be made by our board of trustees regarding
requests by holders of OP Units for redemption of their OP Units pursuant to the Operating Partnership Agreement.
We include a link to the most recent version of our share redemption program in the exhibit index of each of our periodic reports filed with the
SEC. In addition, shareholders can find the latest version of our share redemption program on our website: www.industrialpropertytrust.com or can contact
us at Black Creek Industrial REIT IV Inc., 518 Seventeenth Street, 17th Floor, Denver, Colorado 80202, for the latest version of our share redemption
program, including terms and limitations.
Plan of Liquidation
We adopted a plan of liquidation in January 2020 for tax purposes and have completed the sale of substantially all of our assets. Our remaining
assets consist primarily of our minority interests in two joint venture partnerships. Pursuant to our plan of liquidation, we are required to complete our
liquidation by January 6, 2022, which is within 24 months following the adoption of the plan. If, at the end of the 24-month period, we have not sold all of
our assets and distributed all of the net proceeds to our shareholders, we intend to complete our liquidation by electing to be treated as a partnership for
U.S. federal income tax purposes. There can be no assurances as to the timing of the completion of our liquidation or the timing or amount of any
liquidating distributions to be paid to our shareholders. We do not anticipate that a secondary trading market will develop for our common shares.
Therefore, it will be very difficult for shareholders to sell their common shares promptly or at all while we execute our plan of liquidation, and any such
sales may be made at a loss. As described above, our share redemption program is available at the discretion of our board of trustees and presently is only
available on a limited basis in connection with the death of a shareholder.

Business Combinations
Under the Maryland General Corporation Law, certain business combinations between a Maryland REIT and an interested shareholder or the
interested shareholder’s affiliate are prohibited for five years after the most recent date on which the shareholder becomes an interested shareholder. For
this purpose, the term “business combinations” includes mergers, consolidations, share exchanges, or, in circumstances specified in the statute, asset
transfers and issuances or reclassifications of equity securities. An “interested shareholder” is defined for this purpose as: (i) any person who beneficially
owns, directly or indirectly, 10 percent or more of the voting power of the REIT’s outstanding voting shares; or (ii) an affiliate or associate of the REIT
who, at any time within the two-year period prior to the date in question, was the beneficial owner, directly or indirectly, of 10 percent or more of the
voting power of the then outstanding shares of the REIT. A person is not an interested shareholder under the Maryland General Corporation Law if the
board of trustees approved in advance the transaction by which the person otherwise would become an interested shareholder. However, in approving the
transaction, the board of trustees may provide that its approval is subject to compliance, at or after the time of the approval, with any terms and conditions
determined by the board.
After the five-year prohibition, any such business combination between the REIT and an interested shareholder generally must be recommended
by the board of trustees of the REIT and approved by the affirmative vote of at least: (i) 80% of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of outstanding
voting shares of the REIT and (ii) two-thirds of the votes entitled to be cast by holders of voting shares of the REIT other than voting shares held by the
interested shareholder or its affiliate with whom the business combination is to be effected, or held by an affiliate or associate of the interested shareholder,
voting together as a single voting group.
These super majority vote requirements do not apply if the REIT’s common shareholders receive a minimum price, as defined under the Maryland
General Corporation Law, for their common shares in the form of cash or other consideration in the same form as previously paid by the interested
shareholder for its common shares.
None of these provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law will apply, however, to business combinations that are approved or exempted
by the board of trustees of the REIT prior to the time that the interested shareholder becomes an interested shareholder. Pursuant to the business
combination statute, our board of trustees has exempted any business combination involving us and any person. Consequently, the five-year prohibition and
the super majority vote requirements will not apply to business combinations between us and any person. As a result, any person may be able to enter into
business combinations with us that may not be in the best interest of our shareholders, without compliance with the super majority vote requirements and
other provisions of the statute.
Should our board of trustees opt in to the business combination statute, it may discourage others from trying to acquire control of us and increase
the difficulty of consummating any offer.
Business Combination with the Advisor
Many REITs that are listed on a national securities exchange or included for quotation on an over-the-counter market are considered selfadministered, which means that they employ persons or agents to perform all significant management functions. The costs to perform these management
functions are “internalized,” rather than external, and no third-party fees, such as advisory fees, are paid by the REIT. We may consider becoming a selfadministered REIT once our assets and income are, in our board’s view, of sufficient size such that internalizing some or all of the management functions
performed by the Advisor is in our best interests.
If our board of trustees should make this determination in the future, our board of trustees will form a special committee comprised entirely of
independent trustees to consider a possible business combination with the Advisor. Our board of trustees will, subject to applicable law, delegate all of its
decision making power and authority to the special committee with respect to these matters, including the power and authority to retain its own financial
advisors and legal counsel to, among other things, negotiate with representatives of the Advisor regarding a possible business combination. In any event,
before we can complete any business combination with the Advisor, the following three conditions must be satisfied:

•

the special committee receives an opinion from a qualified investment banking firm concluding that the consideration to be paid to acquire the
Advisor is fair to our shareholders from a financial point of view;

•

our board of trustees determines that such business combination is advisable and in our best interests; and

•

such business combination is approved by our shareholders entitled to vote thereon in accordance with our declaration of trust and bylaws.

Unless and until definitive documentation is executed, we will not be obligated to complete a business combination with the Advisor. Also, our
sponsor has informed us that, in connection with an internalization, it would be willing to limit remuneration for its ownership interest in the Advisor to the
extent necessary to ensure that, after taking into consideration payment of such remuneration, the Advisor determines that our shareholders in the aggregate
would reasonably be expected to receive, or have the option to receive, aggregate distributions from all sources (including any anticipated future liquidity
event) equal to their capital contributions plus a 6.0% cumulative non-compounded annual pre-tax return thereon. The foregoing, however, does not limit
the ability of each of the Advisor and our sponsor to receive any fees, commissions, distributions with respect to the Special Units and any common shares
held by the Advisor or our sponsor, or other amounts to which they might otherwise be entitled. The foregoing is subject to approval of our board and
documentation of a final agreement between us and our sponsor.
Control Share Acquisitions
The Maryland General Corporation Law provides that a holder of Control Shares of a Maryland REIT acquired in a Control Share acquisition
have no voting rights with respect to such shares except to the extent approved by the affirmative vote of shareholders entitled to cast at least two-thirds of
the votes entitled to be cast on the matter. Common shares owned by the acquirer, by officers or by employees who are trustees of the REIT are not entitled
to vote on the matter. “Control Shares” are voting shares of beneficial interest which, if aggregated with all other shares of beneficial interest owned by the
acquirer or with respect to which the acquirer has the right to vote or to direct the voting of, other than solely by virtue of a revocable proxy, would entitle
the acquirer to exercise voting power in electing trustees within one of the following ranges of voting powers:
•

One-tenth or more but less than one-third;

•

One-third or more but less than a majority; or

•

A majority or more of all voting power.

Control Shares do not include shares of beneficial interest the acquiring person is then entitled to vote as a result of having previously obtained
shareholder approval or shares acquired directly from the REIT. Except as otherwise specified in the statute, a “Control Share acquisition” means the
acquisition of issued and outstanding Control Shares. Once a person who has made or proposes to make a Control Share acquisition has undertaken to pay
expenses and has satisfied other required conditions, the person may compel our board of trustees to call a special meeting of shareholders to be held within
50 days of demand to consider the voting rights of the shares. If no request for a meeting is made, the REIT may itself present the question at any
shareholders meeting. If voting rights are not approved for the Control Shares at the meeting or if the acquiring person does not deliver an “Acquiring
Person Statement” for the Control Shares as required by the statute, the REIT may redeem any or all of the Control Shares for their fair value, except for
Control Shares for which voting rights have previously been approved. Fair value is to

be determined for this purpose without regard to the absence of voting rights for the Control Shares, and is to be determined as of the date of any meeting
of shareholders at which the voting rights for Control Shares are considered and not approved or, if no such meeting is held, as of the date of the last
Control Share acquisition by the acquirer.
If voting rights for Control Shares are approved at a shareholders’ meeting and the acquirer becomes entitled to vote a majority of the shares
entitled to vote, all other shareholders may exercise appraisal rights. The fair value of the shares as determined for purposes of these appraisal rights may
not be less than the highest price per share paid in the Control Share acquisition. Some of the limitations and restrictions otherwise applicable to the
exercise of dissenters’ rights do not apply in the context of a Control Share acquisition.
The Control Share acquisition statute does not apply to shares acquired in a merger, consolidation or statutory share exchange if the REIT is a
party to the transaction or to acquisitions approved or exempted by the declaration of trust or bylaws of the REIT. As permitted by the Maryland General
Corporation Law, we have provided in our bylaws that the Control Share provisions of the Maryland General Corporation Law will not apply to any
acquisition by any person of our shares of beneficial interest, but our board of trustees retains the discretion to change this provision in the future.
Subtitle 8
Subtitle 8 of Title 3 of the Maryland General Corporation Law, which we refer to as “Subtitle 8,” permits the board of trustees of a Maryland
REIT with a class of equity securities registered under the Exchange Act and at least three independent trustees to elect to be subject, by provision in its
declaration of trust or bylaws or a resolution of its board of trustees and notwithstanding any contrary provision in its declaration of trust or bylaws, to any
or all of five provisions:
•

A classified board;

•

A two-thirds vote requirement for removing a trustee;

•

A requirement that the number of trustees be fixed only by vote of the trustees;

•

A requirement that a vacancy on the board be filled only by the remaining trustees and, if the board is classified, for the remainder of the full
term of the class of trustees in which the vacancy occurred; and

•

A majority requirement for the calling of a shareholder-requested special meeting of shareholders.

Pursuant to Subtitle 8, we have elected to provide that vacancies on our board of trustees will be filled only by the remaining trustees and for the
remainder of the full term of the trusteeship in which the vacancy occurred. Through provisions in our declaration of trust and bylaws unrelated to Subtitle
8, we vest in our board of trustees the exclusive power to fix the number of trusteeships provided that the number is not less than three. We have not elected
to be subject to the other provisions of Subtitle 8.
Restrictions on Roll-Up Transactions
In connection with a proposed “roll-up transaction,” which, in general terms, is any transaction involving the acquisition, merger, conversion or
consolidation, directly or indirectly, of the Trust and the issuance of securities of an entity that would be created or would survive after the successful
completion of the roll-up transaction, we will obtain an appraisal of all of our assets from an independent expert. In order to qualify as an independent
expert for

this purpose, the person or entity must have no material current or prior business or personal relationship with the Advisor or trustees and must be engaged
to a substantial extent in the business of rendering opinions regarding the value of real property and/or other assets of the type held by us. If the appraisal
will be included in a prospectus used to offer the securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the rollup transaction, the appraisal will be filed with the SEC and the states in which the securities are being registered as an exhibit to the registration statement
for the offering. Our assets will be appraised on a consistent basis, and the appraisal will be based on the evaluation of all relevant information and will
indicate the value of our assets as of a date immediately prior to the announcement of the proposed roll-up transaction. The appraisal will assume an orderly
liquidation of assets over a 12-month period. The terms of the engagement of such independent expert will clearly state that the engagement is for our
benefit and the benefit of our shareholders. We will include a summary of the independent appraisal, indicating all material assumptions underlying the
appraisal, in a report to the shareholders in connection with a proposed roll-up transaction.
In connection with a proposed roll-up transaction, the person sponsoring the roll-up transaction must offer to common shareholders who vote against
the proposal a choice of:
•

accepting the securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction offered
in the proposed roll-up transaction; or

•

one of the following:
•

remaining shareholders and preserving their interests in us on the same terms and conditions as existed previously; or

•

receiving cash in an amount equal to their pro rata share of the appraised value of our net assets.

We are prohibited from participating in any proposed roll-up transaction:
•

which would result in common shareholders having voting rights in the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful
completion of the roll-up transaction that are less than those provided in our declaration of trust, including rights with respect to the election
and removal of trustees, annual and special meetings, amendment of the declaration of trust and our dissolution;

•

which includes provisions that would operate as a material impediment to, or frustration of, the accumulation of shares by any purchaser of
the securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction, except to the
minimum extent necessary to preserve the tax status of such entity, or which would limit the ability of an investor to exercise the voting rights
of its securities of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful completion of the roll-up transaction on the basis of
the number of sharesheld by that investor;

•

in which our common shareholders’ rights to access of records of the entity that would be created or would survive after the successful
completion of the roll-up transaction will be less than those provided in our declaration of trust and described in “—Meetings, Special Voting
Requirements and Access To Records” above; or

•

in which we would bear any of the costs of the roll-up transaction if our common shareholders reject the roll-up transaction.

Advance Notice of Trustee Nominations and New Business
Our bylaws provide that with respect to an annual meeting of shareholders, nominations of individuals for election to our board of trustees and the
proposal of business to be considered by shareholder may be made only (i) pursuant to our notice of the meeting, (ii) by or at the direction of our board of
trustees or (iii) by a shareholder who is a shareholder of record both at the time of giving the advance notice required by the bylaws and at the time of the
meeting, who is entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of each individual so nominated or on any such other matter and who has complied with the
advance notice procedures of the bylaws. With respect to special meetings of shareholders, only the business specified in our notice of the meeting may be
brought before the meeting. Nominations of individuals for election to our board of trustees at a special meeting may be made only (i) by or at the direction
of our board of trustees or (ii) provided that the special meeting has been called in accordance with the bylaws for the purpose of electing trustees, by a
shareholder who is a shareholder of record both at the time of giving the advance notice required by the bylaws and at the time of the meeting, who is
entitled to vote at the meeting in the election of each individual so nominated and who has complied with the advance notice provisions of the bylaws.
Forum for Certain Litigation
Our bylaws provide that the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, Maryland, shall be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on our behalf, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of any duty owed by any trustee or officer or employee of the Trust to us or to
our shareholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the Maryland General Corporation Law or our declaration of trust or
bylaws, or (iv) any action asserting a claim that is governed by the internal affairs doctrine, and any record or beneficial shareholder of the Trust who
commences such an action shall cooperate in a request that the action be assigned to the court’s Business and Technology Case Management Program. This
choice of forum provision will not apply to claims arising under the Securities Act or the Exchange Act.
Reports to Shareholders
Our declaration of trust requires that we prepare an annual report and deliver it to our shareholders within 120 days after the end of each fiscal
year.
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DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
BTC I REIT A LLC

Delaware

BTC I REIT B LLC

Delaware

BTC II Holdco LLC

Delaware

BTC Intermediate Holdco GP LLC

Delaware

BTC Intermediate Holdco LP

Delaware

BTC II CA Line Holdco LLC

Delaware

BTC II Line Holdco LLC

Delaware

BTC II PA Allentown DC Holdco LLC

Delaware

BTC II PA Allentown DC II Holdco LLC

Delaware

BTC II PA Heritage Logistics Center Holdco LLC

Delaware

Build-To-Core C Corp.

Delaware

Build-to-Core Industrial Partnership I LP

Delaware

Build-to-Core Industrial Partnership II LP

Delaware

Industrial Property Operating Partnership LP

Delaware

IPT 1031 Parent LLC

Delaware

IPT 5 Logistics DC LLC

Delaware

IPT 7A DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Acquisitions LLC

Delaware

IPT Agua Mansa Commerce Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Airport Plaza IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Airtex DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Airtex DC LP

Delaware

IPT Allentown DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Allentown DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Arrow Route DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Aurora DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Avenel DC Urban Renewal LLC

Delaware

IPT Brodhead DC LLC

Delaware

IPT BTC I GP LLC

Delaware

IPT BTC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT BTC I LP LLC

Delaware

IPT BTC II LP LLC

Delaware

IPT Cabot BC LLC

Delaware

IPT Central Valley IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Central Valley IC LP

Delaware

IPT Chula Vista IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Chula Vista IC LP

Delaware

IPT Commerce IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Cutten Road DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Cutten Road DC LP

Delaware

IPT Dallas Distribution Land GP LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Dallas Distribution Land LP

Delaware

IPT Dallas Distribution Portfolio GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Dallas Distribution Portfolio LP

Delaware

IPT Douglas Hill Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Douglas Hill Logistics Center II LLC

Delaware

IPT East Pompano IC I LLC

Delaware

IPT East Pompano IC II LLC

Delaware

IPT East Pompano IC III LLC

Delaware

IPT FAA DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT FAA DC LP

Delaware

IPT Farrington DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Farrington DC Lease Management LLC

Delaware

IPT Florence West Urban Renewal LLC

Delaware

IPT Hayward Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Heritage Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT I-215 DC LLC

Delaware

IPT I-215 DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Iron Run DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakewood Logistics Center I LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakewood Logistics Center II LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakewood Logistics Center III LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakewood Logistics Center IV LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakewood Logistics Center V LLC

Delaware

IPT LaPorte DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT LaPorte DC LP

Delaware

IPT Largo IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lodi DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Mercure Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Mid Counties IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Naperville DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Newark Airport Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Northeast IC LLC

Delaware

IPT O’Hare DC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Otay Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP I LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP II LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP III LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP IV LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP V LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP VI LLC

Delaware

IPT Pacific Coast BP VII LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Peachtree DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Perris DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Perris DC II (Land) LLC

Delaware

IPT Perris DC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Piscataway DC Urban Renewal LLC

Delaware

IPT Property Management LLC

Delaware

IPT Real Estate Holdco LLC

Delaware

IPT Richmond DC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Richmond Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Riverbridge Urban Renewal LLC

Delaware

IPT Riviera Beach IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Royal IC LLC

Delaware

IPT San Antonio Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Services LLC

Delaware

IPT Silicon Valley IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Silver Spring DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Silver Spring DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Southmeadow DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Southpark Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Sumner DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Tacoma Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC IV LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC V LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC VI LLC

Delaware

IPT Tualatin DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Tuscany IC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Tuscany IC II LP

Delaware

IPT Valley Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Valley Logistics Center Lease Management LLC

Delaware

IPT Waterman DC LLC

Delaware

IPT West Valley DC III LLC

Delaware

The following is a list of entities that were subsidiaries as of December 31, 2019, but were subsequently sold in an asset sale that was
completed on January 8, 2020:
DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT 7A DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT 8A DC LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT 8A DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT 360 Logistics Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Addison DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Airpark IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Airpark IC LP

Delaware

IPT Airpark IC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Airpark IC II LP

Delaware

IPT Airport Plaza Office Park LLC

Delaware

IPT Airways DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Airwest DC I LLC

Delaware

IPT Airwest DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Alessandro DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Alessandro DC LP

Delaware

IPT Alvarado Commerce Center GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Alvarado Commerce Center LP

Delaware

IPT Auburn 167 IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Auburn DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Auburn DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Auburn IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Aurora DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Barrett Lakes DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Baseline IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Bayport DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Bayport DC LP

Delaware

IPT Belt Line DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Belt Line DC LP

Delaware

IPT Bolingbrook IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Broadway DC LLC

Delaware

IPT CA-1 Loan Holdco GP LLC

Delaware

IPT CA-1 Loan Holdco LP

Delaware

IPT Carlisle DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Carol Stream DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Carteret IC LLC

Delaware

IPT CentrePort DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT CentrePort DC LP

Delaware

IPT Century DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Century DC LP

Delaware

IPT Century Plaza IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Century Plaza IC LP

Delaware

IPT Chandler DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Charlotte DC GP LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Charlotte DC LP

Delaware

IPT Chastain Meadows DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Cheyenne DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Chicago IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Cincinnati IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Clackamas DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Columbia Park DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Commerce IC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Commerce IC II LP

Delaware

IPT Corona IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Corona IC LP

Delaware

IPT Corona IC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Corona IC II LP

Delaware

IPT Corona IC III GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Corona IC III LP

Delaware

IPT Corridor IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Corridor IC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Deer Valley IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Demarest DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Dorsey Run DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Drew Court CC LLC

Delaware

IPT East Bay DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT East Bay DC LP

Delaware

IPT East Union IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Etiwanda IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Etiwanda IC LP

Delaware

IPT Grand River DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Grand River DC LP

Delaware

IPT Greens Crossing DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Greens Crossing DC LP

Delaware

IPT Greenwood DC LLC

Delaware

IPT GSW DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT GSW DC LP

Delaware

IPT Hayward IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Hayward IC LP

Delaware

IPT High Grove DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Horizon DC LLC

Delaware

IPT I-55 DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Iron Run DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Junction IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Kelley Point DC LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Kennesaw IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Kent IP LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakeside Corporate Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Lakeside DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lanham DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lehigh Valley Business Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Lehigh Valley CC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lehigh Valley DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Lehigh Valley DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Livermore DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Livermore DC LP

Delaware

IPT LOC Lender LLC

Delaware

IPT Long Beach IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Long Beach IC LP

Delaware

IPT Marina Vista BC LLC

Delaware

IPT Marley Neck DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Meadows DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Mechanicsburg DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Medley DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Memphis DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Mesa DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Mid Counties DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Mid Counties DC LP

Delaware

IPT Newark DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Normal Junction CC LLC

Delaware

IPT North Kent IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Northwest IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Northwest IC LP

Delaware

IPT Northwest IC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Oakesdale CC LLC

Delaware

IPT Oakesdale CC II LLC

Delaware

IPT O’Hare DC LLC

Delaware

IPT O’Hare DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT O’Hare IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Omega Pkwy DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Palm Beach CC LLC

Delaware

IPT Park 100 DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Park West DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Peoria DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Pinnacle DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Pinnacle DC II LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Pinnacle IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Pompano IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Portland IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Race Road IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Rainier Park DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Rampart IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Rampart IC LP

Delaware

IPT Rampart IC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Redlands DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Redlands DC LP

Delaware

IPT Renton DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Rialto DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Rialto DC LP

Delaware

IPT Richmond DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Richmond DC LP

Delaware

IPT Richmond DC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Richmond DC II LP

Delaware

IPT Riverport DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Salt Lake City DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Salt Lake City DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT San Jose BC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT San Jose BC LP

Delaware

IPT San Jose BC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT San Jose BC II LP

Delaware

IPT South Bay DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT South Bay DC LP

Delaware

IPT South Bay DC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT South Bay DC II LP

Delaware

IPT South San Francisco DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT South San Francisco DC LP

Delaware

IPT Southfield IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Southshore DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Stockton DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Stockton DC LP

Delaware

IPT Stockton DC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Stockton DC II LP

Delaware

IPT Stockton Industrial Center GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Stockton Industrial Center LP

Delaware

IPT Sycamore IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Sycamore IC LP

Delaware

IPT Tacoma CC LLC

Delaware

DOMESTIC JURISDICTION
ENTITY NAME
IPT Tempe BC LLC

Delaware

IPT Totowa CC LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC LP

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC II GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Tracy DC II LP

Delaware

IPT Trade Port DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Trade Port DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Trade Port DC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Trade Zone IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Tualatin IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Turnpike IC LLC

Delaware

IPT Tuscany IC III LLC

Delaware

IPT Upland DC LLC

Delaware

IPT Valencia IC GP LLC

Delaware

IPT Valencia IC LP

Delaware

IPT West Valley DC LLC

Delaware

IPT West Valley DC II LLC

Delaware

IPT Wilson Commerce Center LLC

Delaware

IPT Windham IC LLC

Delaware

IPT World Park DC LLC

Delaware

IPT York DC LLC

Delaware

Summit I Distribution Center, LLC

Delaware

Summit III Distribution Center, LLC

Delaware

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Trustees
Industrial Property Trust:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement No. 333-194656 on Form S-8 of Industrial Property Trust (formerly known as
“Industrial Property Trust Inc.”) and subsidiaries of our report dated March 6, 2020, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Industrial Property
Trust as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, equity, and cash flows for each of the years
in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019 and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”), which report appears in the
December 31, 2019 annual report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust. Our report refers to the sale of the wholly-owned real estate assets of
Industrial Property Trust, which was completed on January 8, 2020.
/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 6, 2020

Exhibit 23.2
Consent of Independent Auditors

The Board of Trustees
Industrial Property Trust:
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statement No. 333-194656 on Form S-8 of Industrial Property Trust (formerly known as
“Industrial Property Trust Inc.”) of our report dated February 21, 2020, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Build-To-Core Industrial
Partnership I LP as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in partners’ capital, and cash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement schedule III (collectively, the “consolidated
financial statements”), which report appears in the December 31, 2019 annual report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
March 6, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Dwight L. Merriman III, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of trustees (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 9, 2020

/s/ DWIGHT L. MERRIMAN III
Dwight L. Merriman III
Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION OF PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
I, Thomas G. McGonagle, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust (the “registrant”);

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f))
for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of trustees (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 9, 2020

/s/ THOMAS G. MCGONAGLE
Thomas G. McGonagle
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
Certification of Principal Executive Officer
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2019, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Dwight L. Merriman III, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
March 9, 2020

/s/ DWIGHT L. MERRIMAN III
Dwight L. Merriman III
Managing Director, Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Industrial Property Trust (the “Company”) for the period ended December 31, 2019, as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Thomas G. McGonagle, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
March 9, 2020

/s/ THOMAS G. MCGONAGLE
Thomas G. McGonagle
Managing Director, Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer and
Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 99.1

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP
AND SUBSIDIARIES
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Independent Auditors’ Report

The Partners
Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP:
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP and its subsidiaries (the “Partnership”),
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the related consolidated statements of operations, changes in
partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and financial statement
schedule III (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”).
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with
auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The
procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and
fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Partnership as of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2019 in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
/s/ KPMG LLP

Denver, Colorado
February 21, 2020
1

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

As of December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

ASSETS
Net investment in real estate properties

$

1,064,499

Cash and cash equivalents

$

23,393

Restricted cash
Straight-line rent and tenant receivables, net
Other assets

14,105

492

902

19,203

12,140

1,208

Total assets

924,926

2,103

$

1,108,795

$

954,176

$

21,234

$

26,937

LIABILITIES AND PARTNERS' CAPITAL
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Tenant prepaids and security deposits

6,974

6,952

580,588

442,005

Due to affiliates

597

403

Other liabilities

72

139

609,465

476,436

499,198

477,608

Debt, net

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 11)
Partners’ capital
Noncontrolling interests
Total partners’ capital
$

Total liabilities and partners' capital

132

132

499,330

477,740

1,108,795

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
2

$

954,176

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Revenues:
Rental revenues

$

Total revenues

62,243

$

47,169

$

30,222

62,243

47,169

30,222

Rental expenses

16,388

12,963

9,452

Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

23,493

19,105

13,319

921

1,151

1,640

Operating expenses:

General and administrative expenses
Asset management fees, related party

3,721

2,665

1,760

44,523

35,884

26,171

Net gain on disposition of real estate assets

17,031

39,637

6,641

Interest expense and other

(11,896)

(5,606)

(2,495)

Total other income

5,135

34,031

4,146

22,855

45,316

8,197

15

15

15

Total operating expenses
Other income (expenses):

Net income
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests
$

Net income attributable to partners

22,840

$

45,301

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
3

$

8,182

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN PARTNERS’ CAPITAL

Partners' Capital
IPT
General
Partner

(in thousands)

Balance as of December 31, 2016

$

IPT
Limited
Partner

$ 280,232
6,546

8,182

15

8,197

Contributions from partners

141

28,079

112,880

141,100

—

141,100

Distributions to partners

(15)

(2,985)

(12,000)

(15,000)

—

(15,000)

—
$

483

$

—

—

94,666

$ 387,658

348,525

$

—
$

482,807

132

Total
Equity

1,628

Balance as of December 31, 2017

$

Noncontrolling
Interests

67,944

Preferred dividends

$

Total
Partners’
Capital

8

Net income

349

QR
Limited
Partner(1)

$

(15)
$

132

348,657

(15)
$

482,939

Net income

45

9,015

36,241

45,301

15

Contributions from partners

40

7,860

31,600

39,500

—

39,500

(90)

(17,910)

(72,000)

(90,000)

—

(90,000)

Distributions to partners
Preferred dividends
Balance as of December 31, 2018

—
$

478

$

—

—

93,631

$ 383,499

—
$

477,608

45,316

(15)
$

132

(15)
$

477,740

Net income

23

4,545

18,272

22,840

15

22,855

Contributions from partners

57

11,293

45,400

56,750

—

56,750

(58)

(11,542)

(46,400)

(58,000)

—

(58,000)

Distributions to partners
Preferred dividends
Balance as of December 31, 2019

(1)

—
$

500

$

—

—

97,927

$ 400,771

See “Note 7” for detailed statements of QR Limited Partners’ capital.
See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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—
$

499,198

(15)
$

132

(15)
$

499,330

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Year Ended
December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Operating activities:
Net income

$

22,855

$

45,316

$

8,197

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Real estate-related depreciation and amortization

23,493

19,105

13,319

Straight-line rent and amortization of above- and below-market leases

(7,364)

(5,558)

(4,165)

1,910

2,267

1,882

(17,031)

(39,637)

(6,641)

3,721

2,978

Amortization of debt issuance costs
Gain on the disposition of real estate assets
Other

—

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Tenant receivables and other assets
Accounts payable, accrued expenses, and other liabilities
Due to/from affiliates, net

50

591

1,883

2,397

194

Net cash provided by operating activities

(458)
3,205

(205)

530

29,711

27,254

15,869

(80,288)

(56,051)

(103,836)

Investing activities:
Real estate acquisitions
Acquisition deposits

—

Proceeds from the disposition of real estate properties

(400)

(500)

62,313

96,440

16,774

(131,926)

(185,479)

(180,893)

(149,901)

(145,490)

(268,455)

69,393

98,746

104,532

—

130,000

90,000

Proceeds from line of credit

93,600

26,000

Repayments of line of credit

—

—

Capital expenditures and development activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from construction loans
Proceeds from mortgage notes

Repayments of construction loans

(31,802)

Financing costs paid

37,200
(55,000)

(83,603)

(858)

(39,600)

(2,226)

(3,263)

Contributions from partners

56,750

39,500

141,100

Distributions paid to partners

(58,000)

(90,000)

(15,000)

Dividends paid to preferred shareholders of Partnership subsidiaries

(15)

Net cash provided by financing activities

(15)

129,068

Net increase in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at beginning of period
$

Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash, at end of period

259,954

8,878

166

7,368

15,007

14,841

7,473

23,885

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

5

(15)

118,402

$

15,007

$

14,841

BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS
On February 12, 2015, IPT BTC I GP LLC (the “IPT General Partner”) and IPT BTC I LP LLC (the “IPT Limited Partner”) admitted each of bcIMC
International Real Estate (2004) Investment Corporation (the “bcIMC Pension Partner”) and bcIMC (WCBAF) Realpool Global Investment Corporation
(the “bcIMC Accident Fund Partner” and, together with the bcIMC Pension Partner, collectively the “QR Limited Partner”) as limited partners in the BuildTo-Core Industrial Partnership I LP (the “Partnership”) and entered into an amended and restated agreement of limited partnership of the Partnership (the
“Partnership Agreement”), setting forth the terms pursuant to which the parties jointly invest in a portfolio of industrial properties located in certain major
U.S. distribution markets, and targeted to be comprised of approximately: (i) 80% development investments, and (ii) 20% core and value-add investments.
The IPT General Partner and the IPT Limited Partner (together, the “IPT Partners”) are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of Industrial Property Trust
(“IPT”).
Upon admission of the QR Limited Partner to the Partnership, the IPT Partners owned a 51.0% interest in the Partnership and the QR Limited Partner
owned the remaining 49.0% interest. At that time, the Partnership owned, through its wholly-owned subsidiaries, seven industrial buildings. The QR
Limited Partner contributed approximately $61.2 million to acquire the 49.0% interest in the Partnership.
On January 28, 2016, the IPT Limited Partner sold and assigned to bcIMC (USA) Realty Div A2 LLC (the “bcIMC USA Limited Partner”) a portion of its
interest in the Partnership equal to a 31.0% interest in the Partnership for a purchase price equal to approximately $58.6 million pursuant to an interest
purchase agreement between the IPT Limited Partner and the bcIMC USA Limited Partner. As a result, the IPT Partners own a 20.0% interest in the
Partnership and the QR Limited Partner, including the bcIMC USA Limited Partner, own the remaining 80.0% interest.
On January 1, 2017, bcIMC Pension Partner contributed its 64.0% ownership interest in the Partnership to the following affiliated investors: bcIMC
(College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Public Service) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Teachers) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB)
US Realty Inc., and bcIMC (Hydro) US Realty Inc. The remaining 16.0% was held by bcIMC Accident Fund Partner.
On April 1, 2019, bcIMC (College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Public Service) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Teachers) US
Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Hydro) US Realty Inc., and bcIMC Accident Fund Partner transferred their right, title, and interest in
the Partnership to QR Master Holdings USA II LP, which is now the sole QR Limited Partner.
As used herein, the “Partnership” refers to Build-To-Core Industrial Partnership I LP and its wholly-owned subsidiaries.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Presentation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). In
the opinion of management, the accompanying consolidated financial statements contain all adjustments and eliminations, consisting only of normal
recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation in conformity with GAAP.
Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Partnership. All material intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates
GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are
reviewed periodically, and the effects of revisions are reflected in the period they are determined to be necessary.
Investment in Real Estate Properties
We first determine whether an acquisition constitutes a business or asset acquisition. Upon acquisition, the purchase price of a property is allocated to land,
building, and intangible lease assets and liabilities based on their relative fair value. The allocation of the purchase price to building is based on
management’s estimate of the property’s “as-if” vacant fair value. The “as-if” vacant fair value is calculated by using all available information such as the
replacement cost of such asset, appraisals, property condition reports, market data and other related information. The allocation of the purchase price to
intangible lease assets represents the value
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associated with the in-place leases, which may include lost rent, leasing commissions, tenant improvements, legal and other related costs. The allocation of
the purchase price to above-market lease assets and below-market lease liabilities results from in-place leases being above or below management’s estimate
of fair market rental rates at the acquisition date and are measured over a period equal to the remaining term of the lease for above-market leases and the
remaining term of the lease, plus the term of any below-market fixed-rate renewal option periods, if applicable, for below-market leases. Intangible lease
assets, above-market lease assets, and below-market lease liabilities are collectively referred to as “intangible lease assets and liabilities.” Transaction costs
associated with the acquisition of a property (including the acquisition fees paid to the IPT General Partner or its designee) are allocated to land, building,
and intangible lease assets on a relative fair value basis based on allocated purchase price and capitalized as incurred.
If any debt is assumed in an acquisition, the difference between the fair value and the face value of debt is recorded as a premium or discount and
amortized to interest expense over the life of the debt assumed. No debt was assumed in connection with the 2019 and 2018 acquisitions. Transaction costs
associated with the acquisition of a property are capitalized as incurred in an asset acquisition and are allocated to land, building, and intangible lease assets
on a relative fair value basis. Properties that are probable to be sold are to be designated as “held for sale” on the balance sheet when certain criteria are
met.
The results of operations for acquired properties are included in the consolidated statements of operations from their respective acquisition dates. Intangible
lease assets are amortized to real estate-related depreciation and amortization over the remaining lease term. Above-market lease assets are amortized as a
reduction in rental revenue over the remaining lease term and below-market lease liabilities are amortized as an increase in rental revenue over the
remaining lease term, plus any applicable fixed-rate renewal option periods. The Partnership expenses any unamortized intangible lease asset or records an
adjustment to rental revenue for any unamortized above-market lease asset or below-market lease liability when a customer terminates a lease before the
stated lease expiration date.
Land, building, building and land improvements, tenant improvements, lease commissions, and intangible lease assets and liabilities, which are collectively
referred to as “real estate assets,” are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Costs associated with the development and
improvement of the Partnership’s real estate assets are capitalized as incurred. These costs include capitalized interest, development acquisition fees and
real estate taxes. The Partnership does not capitalize any other costs, such as salaries or other general and administrative expenses. See “Capitalized
Interest” below for additional detail. Costs incurred in making repairs and maintaining real estate assets are expensed as incurred.
Real estate-related depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives as described in the following table:
Land

Not depreciated

Building

20 to 40 years

Building and land improvements

5 to 20 years

Tenant improvements

Lesser of useful life or lease term

Lease commissions

Over lease term

Intangible lease assets

Over lease term

Above-market lease assets

Over lease term

Below-market lease liabilities

Over lease term, including below-market fixed-rate renewal options

Real estate assets that are determined to be held and used will be reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, and the Partnership will evaluate the recoverability of such real estate assets based on estimated future
cash flows and the estimated liquidation value of such real estate assets, and provide for impairment if such undiscounted cash flows are insufficient to
recover the carrying amount of the real estate asset. If impaired, the real estate asset will be written down to its estimated fair value. For the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Partnership did not record any impairment charges related to real estate assets.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand.
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Debt Issuance Costs
Debt issuance costs include fees and costs incurred to obtain long-term financing. These fees and costs are amortized to interest expense over the terms of
the related loans. Unamortized deferred financing costs are written off if debt is retired before its maturity date. Accumulated amortization of debt issuance
costs was approximately $5.2 million and $3.7 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, which included the impact of the write off of the
remaining balances related to construction loans in the amount of $0.4 million and $1.1 million, respectively, due to the early retirement of certain loans in
2019 and 2018. The Partnership’s interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017 included approximately $1.9 million, $2.3
million and $1.9 million, respectively, of amortization of financing costs.
Capitalized Interest
The Partnership capitalizes interest costs as a cost of development. Capitalization of interest costs for a particular asset begins when activities necessary to
get the property ready for its intended use are in progress and when interest costs have been incurred. Capitalization of interest costs ceases when the
project is substantially complete and ready for occupancy. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, approximately $11.8 million, $13.5
million and $7.9 million, respectively, of interest costs were capitalized.
Revenue Recognition
When a lease is entered into, the Partnership first determines if the collectability of the tenant is probable. If the collectability is not probable, the
Partnership recognizes revenue when the payment has been received. If the collectability is determined to be probable, the Partnership records rental
revenues on a straight-line basis over the full lease term. Certain properties have leases that offer the tenant a period of time where no rent is due or where
rent payments change during the term of the lease. Accordingly, the Partnership records receivables from tenants for rent that the Partnership expects to
collect over the remaining lease term rather than currently, which are recorded as a straight-line rent receivable. The Partnership evaluates collectability of
its tenants on an ongoing basis. If the assessment of collectability changes during the lease term, any difference between the revenue that would have been
recognized under the straight-line method and the lease payments that have been collected will be recognized as a current period adjustment to rental
revenues. When the Partnership acquires a property, the term of each existing lease is considered to commence as of the acquisition date for purposes of
this calculation. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Partnership’s allowance for doubtful accounts was approximately $214,000 and $3,000,
respectively.
In connection with property acquisitions, the Partnership may acquire leases with rental rates above or below estimated market rental rates. Above-market
lease assets are amortized as a reduction to rental revenues over the remaining lease term, and below-market lease liabilities are amortized as an increase to
rental revenues over the remaining lease term, plus any applicable fixed-rate renewal option periods.
The Partnership expenses any unamortized intangible lease asset or records an adjustment to rental revenues for any unamortized above-market lease asset
or below-market lease liability by reassessing the estimated remaining useful life of such intangible lease asset or liability when it becomes probable a
customer will terminate a lease before the stated lease expiration date.
Income Taxes
The Partnership operates and is taxed as a partnership under the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), and is generally not subject to
federal or state income taxes. No provisions for federal, state, and local income taxes were made in the accounts of the Partnership. The Partnership does
not have any uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2019 or 2018.
Substantially all of the Partnership’s income is derived through subsidiaries that qualify as real estate investment trusts (“REITs”). All of these subsidiaries
have elected to be taxed as REITs under the Code for the year ended December 31, 2019. To qualify as a REIT, the REITs must meet a number of
ownership, organizational and operational requirements, including a requirement to currently distribute at least 90% of their taxable income. REITs are
generally not subject to corporate level federal income taxes on net income they distribute to their shareholders. Accordingly, no provision for REIT
income taxes is included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. If the REITs fail to qualify as REITs in any taxable year, then they may be
subject to income taxes at corporate rates. Even as a REIT, the REIT may be subject to certain state and local taxes on its income and sales of property and
subject to federal income and excise taxes on its undistributed income.
The U.S. is the major tax jurisdiction for the Partnership and the earliest tax year subject to examination is 2016.
Allocation of Profits and Losses
All profits and losses for any fiscal year are allocated pro rata among the partners in proportion to their ownership interests.
Concentration of Credit Risk
Financial instruments that potentially subject the Partnership to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of cash and cash equivalents. At times,
balances with any one financial institution may exceed the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) insurance limits. The Partnership believes it
mitigates this risk by investing its cash with high-credit quality financial institutions.
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Concentration of credit risk with respect to accounts receivable could exist if the low number of customers currently comprising the Partnership’s rental
revenues. As of December 31, 2019, there were no customers that individually represented more than 10.0% of consolidated annual base rent.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) ASU No. 2016-02, “Leases
(Subtopic 842)” (“ASU 2016-02”), which provides guidance for greater transparency in financial reporting by organizations that lease assets such as real
estate, airplanes and manufacturing equipment by requiring such organizations to recognize lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet and
disclosing key information about leasing arrangements. The Partnership adopted the standard using the modified retrospective transition approach when it
became effective for the Partnership, as of the reporting period beginning January 1, 2019, and the Partnership elected the practical expedients available for
implementation under the standard. Under the practical expedients election, the Partnership was not required to reassess: (i) whether an expired or existing
contract meets the definition of a lease; (ii) the lease classification at the adoption date for expired or existing leases; and (iii) whether costs previously
capitalized as initial direct costs would continue to be amortized. The practical expedients also allowed the Partnership to not separate tenant
reimbursement revenue from rental revenue if certain criteria were met. The Partnership assessed the criteria and concluded that the timing and pattern of
transfer for rental revenue and the related tenant reimbursement revenue are the same and the lease component, if accounted for separately, would be
classified as an operating lease. As such, the Partnership accounts for and presented rental revenue and tenant reimbursement revenue as a single
component in the consolidated statements of operations. Additionally guidance and targeted improvements to ASU 2016-02 were made through the
issuance of supplemental ASUs. In January 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-01, “Leases (Subtopic 842): Land Easement Practical Expedient for
Transition to Topic 842” (“ASU 2018-01”), which updates ASU 2016-02 to include land easements under the updated guidance, including the option to
elect the practical expedients discussed above. In addition, in December 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-20, “Narrow—Scope Improvements for
Lessors” (“ASU 2018-20”), which updates ASU 2016-02 by providing the option to elect a practical expedient for lessors to exclude sales and other similar
taxes from the transaction price of the contract, requires lessors to exclude from revenue and expense lessor costs paid directly to a third party by lessees,
and clarifies lessors’ accounting for variable payments related to both lease and nonlease components. The Partnership adopted these ASUs using the
modified retrospective transition approach when they became effective for the Partnership, as of the reporting period beginning January 1, 2019, and the
Partnership elected the practical expedients available for implementation under the standards. The adoption of ASU 2016-02 and its supplemental standards
did not have a material effect on the Partnership’s consolidated financial statements.
3. REAL ESTATE ACQUISITIONS
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Partnership acquired 100% of the following properties, all of which were determined to be asset
acquisitions:
($ in thousands)

Acquisition Date

Number of
Buildings

Total
Purchase Price (1)

2019 Acquisitions:
Lodi Distribution Center

7/31/2019

—

Farrington Distribution Center

8/1/2019

—

11/15/2019

1

Valley Logistics Center

$

13,789
9,326
58,373

1

$

81,488

4/5/2018

—

$

15,228

Cutten Road Distribution Center

8/1/2018

1

20,668

Mid Counties Industrial Center

12/11/2018

1

20,734

Total 2019 acquisitions
2018 Acquisitions:
Brodhead Distribution Center

2

Total 2018 acquisitions
(1)

Total purchase price is equal to the total consideration paid.
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$

56,630

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Partnership allocated the purchase price of its acquisitions to land and building and
improvements as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

Land

2019

$

53,182

Building and improvements
Total purchase price (1)
(1)

2018

$

34,278

28,306
$

81,488

22,352
$

56,630

Total purchase price is equal to the total consideration paid.

Intangible and above-market lease assets are amortized over the remaining lease term. Below-market lease liabilities are amortized over the remaining lease
term, plus any below-market, fixed-rate renewal option periods. There were no intangible lease assets or liabilities acquired in connection with any of the
2019 or 2018 acquisitions as of the respective date of each acquisition.
4. REAL ESTATE DISPOSITIONS
During 2019, the Partnership sold to third parties four industrial buildings in the Atlanta and San Diego markets for proceeds of approximately $62.3
million. Total disposition costs and expenses were approximately $0.7 million. During 2018, the Partnership sold to third parties eight industrial buildings
in the San Diego, Pennsylvania, Southern California, Baltimore / DC and Houston markets for proceeds of approximately $96.4 million. The disposition
costs and expenses were approximately $0.2 million. During 2017, the Partnership sold to third parties three industrial buildings in the Seattle / Tacoma
market for proceeds of approximately $16.8 million. The disposition costs and expenses were $0.6 million.
Gains on the disposition of real estate properties are recorded when the recognition criteria have been met, generally at the time control is transferred to the
purchaser. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, net gain on dispositions was $17.0 million, $39.6 million, and $6.6 million,
respectively.
5. INVESTMENT IN REAL ESTATE PROPERTIES
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Partnership’s investment in real estate properties consisted of 39 and 36 industrial buildings, respectively.
As of December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

Land

$

Building and improvements

$

590,475

Intangible and above-market lease assets
Construction in progress (1)
Investment in real estate properties
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

312,086
440,718

30,940

25,753

136,609

182,916

1,121,596

961,473

(57,097)
$

Net investment in real estate properties
(1)

2018

363,572

1,064,499

(36,547)
$

924,926

Includes three buildings under construction and four buildings in the pre-construction phase as of December 31, 2019, and five buildings under
construction and two buildings in the pre-construction phase as of December 31, 2018.
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Intangible Lease Assets and Liabilities
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, intangible lease assets and liabilities included the following:
As of December 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Gross

Intangible lease assets (1)
Above-market lease assets (1)
Below-market lease liabilities (2)
(1)
(2)

$

As of December 31, 2018

Accumulated
Amortization

30,912

$

Net

(10,177) $

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross

20,735

$

25,417

$

Net

(7,460) $

17,957

28

(22)

6

336

(230)

106

(406)

338

(68)

(406)

268

(138)

Included in net investment in real estate properties on the consolidated balance sheets.
Included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

The following table details the estimated net amortization of such intangible lease assets and liabilities, as of December 31, 2019, for the next five years
and thereafter:
Estimated Net Amortization
Intangible
Lease Assets

(in thousands)

2020

$

4,149

Above-Market
Lease Assets

$

Below-Market
Lease Liabilities

4

$

68

2021

3,659

2

—

2022

3,310

—

—

2023

2,830

—

—

2024

2,368

—

—

Thereafter

4,419

—

$

Total

20,735

$

6

—
$

68

Future Minimum Rent
Future minimum base rental payments, which equal the cash basis of monthly contractual rent, owed to the Partnership from its customers under the terms
of non-cancelable operating leases in effect as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, excluding rental revenues from the potential renewal or replacement of
existing leases, were as follows for the next five years and thereafter:
As of December 31,
(in thousands)

Year 1

2019

$

2018

52,193

$

36,079

Year 2

51,423

39,845

Year 3

49,537

38,154

Year 4

42,351

35,778

Year 5

36,109

28,339

Thereafter
Total

77,179
$

308,792
11

88,008
$

266,203

Rental Revenue Adjustments and Depreciation and Amortization Expense
The following table summarizes straight-line rent adjustments, amortization recognized as an increase (decrease) in rental revenues from above- and belowmarket lease assets and liabilities, and real estate-related depreciation and amortization expense:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Increase (Decrease) to Rental Revenues:
Straight-line rent adjustments

$

7,319

$

5,575

$

4,143

Above-market lease amortization

(26)

(105)

(208)

Below-market lease amortization

71

88

230

15,325

9,416

3,780

3,903

Real Estate-Related Depreciation and Amortization:
Depreciation expense

$

Intangible lease asset amortization

19,502

$

3,991

6. DEBT
The Partnership’s indebtedness is currently comprised of borrowings under its secured line of credit, construction loan financings and mortgage notes. The
construction loan financings and mortgage notes are secured by mortgages or deeds of trust and related assignments and security interests in the
collateralized and certain cross-collateralized properties. A summary of the Partnership’s debt is as follows:
Weighted-Average
Effective Interest Rate as of
($ in thousands)

December 31, 2019

Balance as of

December 31,
2018

December 31,
2019

Maturity Date

Line of credit (1)

3.61%

4.65%

Construction loans (2)

4.24

5.15

March 2020-April 2022

January 2021

Fixed-rate mortgage notes (3)

3.72

3.72

December 2024-November 2025

Total principal amount / weighted-average

3.86%

4.35%

$

(2)

(3)

$

191,711
583,811

Total debt, net

$

Gross book value of properties encumbered by debt

$

78,500
147,780

220,000
$

Less unamortized debt issuance costs

(1)

172,100

December 31,
2018

220,000
$

446,280

580,588

$

442,005

1,042,987

$

840,527

(3,223)

(4,275)

The Partnership’s line of credit facility currently has aggregate commitments of $200.0 million. The Partnership has the ability to expand the facility
further up to a maximum aggregate amount of $300.0 million, subject to certain conditions. The line of credit is guaranteed by the Partnership and
each subsidiary owner of a collateralized property. The line of credit matures in January 2021, and may be extended pursuant to two one-year
extension options, subject to the satisfaction of certain financial covenants and other customary conditions and the payment of extension fees. The
primary interest rate is variable and is equal to either: (a) the greater of (i) the prime rate announced by Regions Bank; (ii) the Federal Funds
Effective Rate plus 0.50% per annum; and (iii) the one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus 1% per annum, plus a margin of either
1.10% or 1.25% (depending on the pool debt yield); or (b) one-month LIBOR plus a margin of either 2.10% or 2.25% (depending on the pool debt
yield). The line of credit is available to finance the acquisition, development and redevelopment of industrial real estate, the operation of properties,
working capital requirements, and for general corporate purposes. The unused portion under the line of credit was $27.6 million, of which $26.4
million was available for use.
As of December 31, 2019, the Partnership’s constructions loans had aggregate commitments of up to $257.7 million. The construction loans are
secured by certain underlying properties and are to be used to fund project-specific costs necessary to complete the Partnership’s development
projects. Interest on the loans is accrued and added to the principal during the construction and stabilization periods of the properties. Such interest
will be due and payable at maturity of the respective loans. The unfunded and available portions under the construction loans was $65.9 million.
The assets and credit of each of the Partnership’s properties pledged as collateral for the Partnership’s mortgage notes are not available to satisfy the
Partnership’s other debt and obligations, unless the Partnership first satisfies the mortgage note payable on the respective underlying properties.
12

As of December 31, 2019, the principal payments due on the Partnership’s debt during each of the next five years and thereafter were as follows:
(in thousands)

2020

Line of Credit

Construction Loans(1)

$

—

Mortgage Notes

94,386

2021

172,100

85,502

2022

—

2023

—

2024

—

Thereafter
Total principal payments
(1)

$

—
$

172,100

$

$

94,386

—

257,602

11,823

—

11,823

—

1,781

1,781

—

88,219

88,219

—
$

Total

—

191,711

130,000
$

220,000

130,000
$

583,811

The Partnership expects to meet the conditions necessary to exercise the extension options for the three construction loans maturing in 2020.

Debt Covenants
The Partnership’s line of credit and construction loan financings contain various property level covenants, including customary affirmative and negative
covenants. In addition, the line of credit contains certain Partnership level financial covenants, including leverage ratio, fixed charge coverage ratio, and
tangible net worth thresholds. The Partnership was in compliance with all covenants as of December 31, 2019.
7. PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
As described in “Note 1,” on April 1, 2019, bcIMC (College) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Municipal) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Public Service) US Realty Inc.,
bcIMC (Teachers) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (WCB) US Realty Inc., bcIMC (Hydro) US Realty Inc., and bcIMC Accident Fund Partner transferred their
right, title, and interest in the Partnership to QR Master Holdings USA II LP, which is now the sole QR Limited Partner. The following is a detailed
statement of QR Limited Partners’ capital accounts for the years ended December 31, 2017 and 2018, and for the period from December 31, 2018 to March
31, 2019:
QR Limited Partners’ Capital

(in thousands)

Accident Fund
Partner

Balance as of January 1, 2017

$

Net income

56,046

(Municipal)
US
Realty Inc.

(College) US
Realty Inc.

$

11,279

$

98,422

(Public
Service)
US Realty Inc.

(Teachers) US
Realty Inc.

$

$

57,001

54,240

(WCB) US
Realty Inc.

$

3,020

1,309

264

2,299

1,331

1,267

71

Contributions from partners

22,576

4,543

39,646

22,960

21,848

1,217

Distributions to partners

(2,400)

(4,215)

(2,441)

(2,323)

Balance as of December 31, 2017

$

Net income
Distributions to partners

15,603

$ 136,152

1,459

12,726

$

78,851

$

7,372

75,032

$

(128)
$

7,015

4,180

224

$

6,546

90

112,880

(10)
$

391

280,232

5

309

(12,000)
$

29

387,658
36,241

6,320

1,272

11,098

6,428

6,116

341

25

31,600

(14,400)

(2,898)

(25,287)

(14,645)

(13,936)

(776)

(58)

(72,000)

$

76,700

$

77,066

Net income
Balance as of March 31, 2019

$

7,249

Contributions from partners
Balance as of December 31, 2018

77,531

(483)

Total QR
Limited
Partners’
Capital

(Hydro) US
Realty Inc.

$

15,436
74

643

$

15,510

$ 135,332

366

$ 134,689

13

$

78,006

$

78,378

$

74,227

$

74,581

372

$

4,136

$

4,156

354

$

305

$

306

20

$

383,499

$

385,329

1

1,830

The following is a detailed statement of the QR Limited Partner capital account for the period from April 1, 2019 to December 31, 2019:
QR Master Holdings
USA II LP’s Capital

(in thousands)

Balance as of April 1, 2019

$

385,329

Net income

16,442

Contributions from partners

45,400

Distributions to partners
Balance as of December 31, 2019

$

(46,400)

$

400,771

8. NONCONTROLLING INTERESTS
Preferred Shares
Noncontrolling interests represent the portion of equity in the subsidiary REITs that the Partnership does not own. Such noncontrolling interests are equity
instruments presented in the consolidated balance sheets as noncontrolling interests within permanent equity.
In January 2016, certain of the Partnership’s subsidiary REITs issued to accredited investors Class A Preferred Units with a 12.0% annual preferred
dividend. The total number of preferred shares issued was 1,586 shares at a par value of $500 per share for an aggregate amount of $793,000. These
preferred shares are non-voting shares. The preferred shares are redeemable by the respective subsidiary REITs for $500 per share, plus accumulated and
unpaid dividends, as well as a redemption premium if the preferred shares were redeemed before December 31, 2017. On December 30, 2016, certain of
the Partnership’s subsidiary REITs redeemed a total of 1,342 preferred shares for an aggregate amount of $671,000 and were paid a redemption premium of
$134,000. The Partnership owns and controls the respective managing member of each of the subsidiary REITs.
Special Units
In September 2016, the Partnership issued special units to an affiliate of IPT for consideration of $10,000. The holder of the special units does not
participate in the profits and losses of the Partnership. Amounts distributable to the holder of the special units will depend upon the profits of the general
partner. The special units will be redeemable at the time the carried interest is paid.
The Partnership has determined that the special units are: (i) not redeemable at a fixed or determinable amount on a fixed or determinable date, at the
option of the holder, or (ii) redeemable only upon events that are solely within the Partnership’s control. As a result, the Partnership classifies the special
units as noncontrolling interests within permanent equity.
9. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Pursuant to the limited partnership agreement, the IPT General Partner manages the day-to-day operations of the Partnership, subject to the rights of the QR
Limited Partner and the sell-down transferee (as applicable) to approve certain major decisions. The IPT General Partner indirectly provides, to the
Partnership through the IPT General Partner’s service agreement with the Advisor, acquisition and asset management services and, to the extent applicable,
development management and development oversight services. As compensation for providing these services, the Partnership pays the IPT General Partner,
or its designee, certain fees in accordance with the terms of the Partnership Agreement and the services agreement between the IPT General Partner and the
Advisor. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and 2017, the Partnership incurred approximately $5.1 million, $5.2 million, and $4.8 million,
respectively, in fees due to the IPT General Partner, or its designee, for providing a variety of services, including with respect to acquisition, development,
and asset management activities, of which development related fees represented $1.1 million, $2.4 million, and $3.0 million, respectively. Development
related fees are included in the total development project costs of the respective properties and are capitalized in construction in progress. As of December
31, 2019 and 2018, approximately $0.6 million and $0.4 million, respectively, was payable to the IPT General Partner, or its designee.
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10. SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Supplemental cash flow information and disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities is as follows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Interest paid, net of capitalized interest

$

8,933

$

3,701

$

1,400

Non-cash capital expenditures

$

7,281

$

4,051

$

10,998

Non-cash interest capitalized to construction loans

6,339

6,255

2,773

—

55,049

—

Repayment of line of credit and construction loan upon disposition of real
estate properties
Restricted Cash

The following table presents a reconciliation of the beginning of period and end of period cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the
consolidated balance sheets to the totals shown in the consolidated statements of cash flows:
For the Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2019

2018

2017

Beginning of period:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Restricted cash (1)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

14,105

$

902

14,651

$

190

7,339
134

$

15,007

$

14,841

$

7,473

$

23,393

$

14,105

$

14,651

End of period:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash (2)
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

(1)
(2)

492
$

23,885

902
$

15,007

190
$

14,841

As of December 31, 2018, restricted cash consisted of cash held in escrow for real estate taxes in connection to certain properties that completed
development in 2018. As of December 31, 2017, restricted cash consisted of cash held in escrow for real estate taxes in connection to a 2017
acquisition.
As of December 31, 2019, restricted cash consisted of cash held in escrow for offsite construction in connection to a property under construction in
2019, and cash held in escrow for a cash surety bond for a development that completed construction in 2017.

11. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
As of December 31, 2019, the Partnership was not involved in any material litigation nor, to the Partnership’s knowledge, was any material litigation
threatened against the Partnership or its investments.
Environmental Matters
A majority of the properties the Partnership acquires are subject to environmental reviews either by the Partnership or the previous owners. In addition, the
Partnership may incur environmental remediation costs associated with certain land parcels it may acquire in connection with the development of land. The
Partnership has acquired certain properties in urban and industrial areas that may have been leased to or previously owned by commercial and industrial
companies that discharged hazardous material. The Partnership has purchased and may continue to purchase various environmental insurance policies to
mitigate its exposure to environmental liabilities. The Partnership is not aware of any environmental liabilities that it believes would have a material
adverse effect on its business, financial condition, or results of operations as of December 31, 2019.
Off-Balance Sheet Liabilities
The Partnership has issued performance and surety bonds in connection with certain development projects. Performance and surety bonds are commonly
required by public agencies from real estate developers. Performance and surety bonds are renewable and expire on the completion of the improvements
and infrastructure. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Partnership had approximately $8.9 million and $20.9 million, respectively, outstanding under
such arrangements. Of this amount, approximately $0.2 million was held in escrow as of December 31, 2019, as noted above.
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12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Partnership has evaluated subsequent events from the balance sheet date through February 21, 2020, the date at which the consolidated financial
statements were issued. The Partnership has determined that there are no items to disclose.
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BUILD-TO-CORE INDUSTRIAL PARTNERSHIP I LP
SCHEDULE III—REAL ESTATE AND ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
As of December 31, 2019
Gross Amount Carried as of
December 31, 2019 (3)

Initial Cost to Company

($ in thousands)

Dallas Distribution
Portfolio in Flower
Mound, TX
Dallas Distribution
Portfolio in Grand
Prairie
Peachtree Industrial
Center in Suwanee, GA
Tuscany Industrial
Center II in Austin, TX
Silver Spring
Distribution Center in
Carlisle, PA
Commerce Industrial
Center in Commerce,
CA
Perris Distribution
Center in Perris, CA
FAA Distribution Center
in Irving, TX
Perris Distribution
Center II in Perris, CA
Sumner Distribution
Center in Sumner, WA
Silver Spring
Distribution Center II in
Silver Spring, PA
7A Distribution Center
in Hamilton Township,
NJ
Otay Logistics Center in
San Diego, CA
Piscataway Distribution
Center in Piscataway, NJ
Tacoma Logistics Center
in Tacoma, WA
Silicon Valley Industrial
Center in San Jose, CA
Waterman Distribution
Center in San
Bernardino, CA

No. of
Buildings

Debt

Land

2

(1)

$7,588

1

(1)

4

Buildings and
Improvements
(2)

$

Total
Costs

35,978

$ 43,566

5,399

23,696

—

6,461

5

(1)

1

Cost
Capitalized
or
Adjustments
Subsequent
to
Acquisition

$

Land

7,271

$ 7,588

29,095

5,989

43,625

50,086

8,178

34,381

(1)

5,490

1

—

1

Buildings and
Improvements
(2)

$

Total
Costs

Accumulated
Depreciation

Acquisition /
Completion
Date

Depreciable
Life (Years)

$

(6,821)

11/26/2014

1-40

43,249

$ 50,837

5,399

29,685

35,084

(6,037)

11/26/2014

1-40

1,253

6,461

44,878

51,339

(9,449)

1-30

42,559

3,165

8,178

37,546

45,724

(6,118)

12/24/2014
3/12/2015,
8/3/2015

—

5,490

23,991

5,490

23,991

29,481

(2,687)

7/1/2015 /
4/15/2016

5,489

8,167

13,656

821

5,489

8,988

14,477

(1,125)

—

12,732

—

12,732

49,452

19,625

42,559

62,184

1

(1)

1,467

6,633

8,100

1,218

1,467

7,851

—

—

3,147

—

3,147

717

3,147

1

—

8,664

520

9,184

15,808

2

(1)

11,495

—

11,495

1

(1)

5,915

—

2

—

6,935

3

(1)

2

1-40
1-40
1-40

(4,654)

7/9/2015
9/29/2015 /
6/28/2017

9,318

(779)

11/4/2015

1-40

717

3,864

—

N/A(4)

9,217

15,775

24,992

(367)

32,486

11,716

32,265

43,981

(3,021)

3/28/2016
4/1/2016 /
11/29/2018
6/20/2016 /
2/20/2017,
2/28/2017

5,915

20,369

5,930

20,354

26,284

(1,744)

—

6,935

20,715

6,989

20,661

27,650

(836)

13,410

—

13,410

42,974

13,970

42,414

56,384

(3,896)

(1)

32,455

—

32,455

76,401

33,949

74,907

108,856

(4,282)

1

—

6,426

—

6,426

17,940

6,664

17,702

24,366

(253)

1

(1)

10,401

—

10,401

41,992

16,843

35,550

52,393

(874)
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7/22/2016 /
5/19/2017
9/22/2016 /
10/2/2018
9/15/2016 /
10/13/2017,
11/17/2017
11/30/2016
/ 3/30/2018
12/20/2016
/ 7/31/2018
10/23/2015,
6/30/2016,
7/14/2016,
7/15/2016 /
7/31/2018

1-40

1-40
1-40
1-40
1-40
1-40
1-40
1-40

1-40

Gross Amount Carried as of
December 31, 2019 (3)

Initial Cost to Company

($ in thousands)

Richmond
Logistics Center in
Richmond, CA
LaPorte
Distribution Center
in La Porte, TX
Tracy Distribution
Center III in Tracy,
CA
Hayward Logistics
Center in
Hayward, CA
East Pompano
Industrial Center in
Pompano Beach,
FL
Arrow Route
Distribution Center
in Rancho
Cucamonga, CA
Brodhead
Distribution Center
in Lehigh Valley,
PA
Cutten Road
Distribution Center
in Houston, TX
Mid Counties
Industrial Center in
Santa Fe Springs,
CA
Lodi Distribution
Center in Lodi, NJ
Farrington
Distribution Center
in Monroe
Township, NJ
Valley Logistics
Center in Fontana,
CA
Total
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

No. of
Buildings

Debt
(1)

Land

Buildings and
Improvements
(2)

Total
Costs

Cost
Capitalized
or
Adjustments
Subsequent
to
Acquisition

Land

Buildings and
Improvements
(2)

Total Costs

Accumulated
Depreciation

—

Acquisition
Date

Depreciable
Life (Years)

12/29/2016
/
12/19/2019

N/A(4)

1

—

6,669

—

6,669

24,576

6,669

24,576

31,245

1

—

2,158

9,852

12,010

1,971

2,158

11,823

13,981

(1,120)

2/27/2017

1-40

1

(1)

4,872

—

4,872

32,317

5,549

31,640

37,189

(747)

4/28/2017 /
7/31/2018

1-40

1

(1)

38,930

—

38,930

42,565

38,930

42,565

81,495

—

5/19/2017 /
12/17/2019

N/A(4)

1

(1)

26,336

535

26,871

23,512

26,336

24,047

50,383

(533)

6/29/2017

1-12(5)

1-40

1

(1)

25,472

—

25,472

34,562

28,348

31,686

60,034

(780)

11/20/2017
/
11/15/2018

1

(1)

15,228

—

15,228

30,594

15,228

30,594

45,822

(29)

4/5/2018 /
7/1/2019

N/A(4)

1

—

4,986

15,682

20,668

2,774

4,986

18,456

23,442

(666)

8/1/2018

1-40

1

—

14,064

6,670

20,734

1,422

14,064

8,092

22,156

(279)

12/11/2018

1-20

—

—

13,789

—

13,789

1,988

13,789

1,988

15,777

—

7/31/2019

N/A(4)

—

—

9,326

—

9,326

4,324

9,326

4,324

13,650

—

8/1/2019

N/A(4)

1

—

—

11/15/2019

1-40

39

30,067

28,306

58,373

429

30,067

$343,549

$ 214,045

$557,594

$ 563,596

$363,572

$

28,735

58,802

757,618

$1,121,190

$ (57,097)

These properties include construction loans and mortgage notes that are included in our total outstanding property-level borrowings of approximately $411.7 million as of December 31,
2019. These borrowings are nonrecourse and are secured by mortgages or deeds of trust and related assignments and security interests in the collateralized properties. They have maturity
dates ranging from March 2020 to November 2025 and interest rates ranging from 3.32% to 4.61%. See “Note 6 to the Consolidated Financial Statements” for more detail.
Includes gross intangible lease assets of $30.9 million and gross intangible lease liabilities of $0.4 million.
As of December 31, 2019, the aggregate cost for federal income tax purposes of investments in property was approximately $1.1 billion (unaudited).
These properties have no depreciable assets as of December 31, 2019. Any cost of development for activities necessary to get the asset ready for its intended use are capitalized and will be
placed into service as depreciable assets when the property is substantially complete and reach 50.0% occupancy.
This project is currently under development; depreciation relates to a building adjacent to the development site.
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The following table summarizes investment in real estate properties and accumulated depreciation and amortization activity for the periods presented
below:
For the Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Investment in real estate properties:
Balance at beginning of period

$

Acquisition of properties

961,067

$

842,509

$

552,787

81,488

56,630

108,155

Improvements

126,914

184,492

193,274

Disposition of properties

(48,279)

(122,564)

(11,707)

Balance at end of period

$ 1,121,190

$

961,067

$

842,509

$

$

(29,230)

$

(17,479)

Accumulated depreciation and amortization:
Balance at beginning of period
Additions charged to costs and expenses

(36,547)
(23,519)

Disposition of properties

(19,209)

2,969
$

Balance at end of period

19

(57,097)

(13,527)

11,892
$

(36,547)

1,776
$

(29,230)

